BIOGENIC SILVER NANOPARTICLES SYNTHESIZED USING EUCOMIS AUTUMNALIS BULB AQUEOUS EXTRACT, THEIR CHARACTERIZATION AND IN VITRO ANTIBACTERIAL ACTIVITY

LETOYA SHEILA WILLIAMS



A mini thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree -Magister Scientiae in Nanoscience

Department of Biotechnology, University of the Western Cape.

National Nanoscience Postgraduate Teaching and Training Platform

Supervisor: Prof. Abram Madiehe

Co-supervisor: Dr Nicole Sibuyi

04 January 2023

https://etd.uwc.ac.za/

KEYWORDS

Antimicrobial resistance

Antibiotic-resistant

Antibacterial activity

Bacterial infections

Biogenic nanoparticles

Eucomis autumnalis

ESKAPE pathogens

In vitro

Green synthesis

Nanotechnology

Silver nanoparticles (AgNPs)



WESTERN CAPE

https://etd.uwc.ac.za/

ABSTRACT

Biogenic silver nanoparticles synthesized using *Eucomis autumnalis* bulb aqueous extract, their characterization and *in vitro* antibacterial activity

Letoya Sheila Williams

MSc Thesis, Department of Biotechnology, University of the Western Cape

Antimicrobial resistance (AMR) is a growing global problem that poses a significant threat to public health. AMR arises when microorganisms become resistant to drugs that were initially designed to kill them. The application of antibiotics has proven effective in eliminating or inhibiting the growth of harmful microorganisms. Conversely, the primary cause of AMR is overprescribing and the misuse of antibiotics which is further increased by a reduced novel antibiotics discovery rate. AMR bacteria lead to hard-to-treat infections, causing longer hospital stays and higher healthcare costs, and is associated with a substantial risk of morbidity and mortality. Consequently, the development of infections caused by multi-drug resistant (MDR) microorganisms has resulted in a considerable reduction in the number of effective treatment options available. Thus, novel therapies are urgently required, considering the ineffectiveness of current therapy, moreover, further exacerbated by a reduced discovery rate of novel antibiotics. Alternative strategies are therefore urgently needed to treat AMR bacterial infections.

Nanotechnology has revolutionized the nanomedicine field owing to its potential to eradicate the burden of AMR by providing alternative novel or improved therapeutic strategies for AMR infections, while preventing further microbial resistance. Biodegradable metallic nanoparticles (MNPs), particularly silver, gold, cobalt, and zinc, have significantly transformed medicine by serving as antimicrobial, anticancer, drug delivery, contrast, and bioimaging agents. Silver nanoparticle (AgNPs) have been shown to exhibit antimicrobial properties which aid in the prevention and treatment of infections, are deemed less toxic, cost-effective, energy-efficient, and environmentally friendly, compared to the physical and chemical methods that were commonly used for the synthesis of MNPs. The green synthesis of AgNPs employs sustainable green chemistry principles, makes use of bioactive molecules containing medicinal properties. Previous

VERGIL

of the

iii

literature has demonstrated that *Eucomis autumnalis* can facilitate AgNPs synthesis while both extract and nanoparticles (NPs) exhibit antibacterial, anti-inflammatory, anticancer, antioxidative, and antihistaminic activities. Biogenic AgNPs with antibacterial efficacy may serve as a novel antibacterial agent which provides optimism in developing an alternative strategy to treat and prevent AMR infections. This study reports on the green synthesis and characterization of biogenic AgNPs, using *Eucomis autumnalis* bulb aqueous extract (EABE) and the antibacterial effects of the EABE-AgNPs against AMR pathogens such as *Staphylococcus aureus*, Methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*, *Streptococcus pyogenes*, *Escherichia coli*, *Klebsiella pneumoniae*, *Acinetobacter baumanii* and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*.

For the synthesized AgNPs, several parameters (i.e., pH, temperature, EABE concentration, and silver nitrate (AgNO₃) concentration) were optimized to obtain desirable physicochemical properties. The AgNPs were successfully synthesized and characterized by Ultraviolet-visible (UV-vis) Spectroscopy, Dynamic Light Scattering (DLS), High-Resolution Transmission Electron Microscopy (HR-TEM), and Fourier-Transform Infrared (FTIR) Spectroscopy. EABE-AgNPs antibacterial activity was assessed *in vitro* by agar well diffusion, microdilution assay to determine the minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) and minimum bactericidal concentration (MBC).

EABE-AgNPs exhibit a Surface Plasmon Resonance (SPR) of 404 nm with an OD value of 1.960, a hydrodynamic size of 126.4 \pm 29.4 nm and an average core size of 13.03 \pm 2.04 nm. EABE-AgNPs were spherical in shape with a PDI of 0.396 \pm 0.07, stable in various physiological media, exhibiting a ζ -potential of - 25.2 \pm 8.48 mV. The AgNPs were found to be relatively monodispersed and isotropic in nature. EABE-AgNPs were reduced and capped by phytochemical functional groups identified and confirmed in the EABE. All the bacterial strains studied exhibited dose-dependent inhibitory action against EABE-AgNPs. The EABE-AgNPs were equally bactericidal against all the bacterial strains tested. Furthermore, EABE has the potential to produce biogenic AgNPs with remarkable antibacterial activity. The results presented in this study demonstrated that, EABE-AgNPs may serve as a novel antibacterial agent to help in the prevention and treatment of AMR infections, and potentially aid in the global eradication of AMR pathogens.

DECLARATION

I declare that "**Biogenic silver nanoparticles synthesized using** *Eucomis autumnalis* **bulb aqueous extract, their characterization and** *in vitro* **antibacterial activity**" is my own work, that it has not been submitted for any degree or examination in any other university, and that all the sources I have used or quoted have been indicated and acknowledged by complete references.

Letoya Sheila Williams



https://etd.uwc.ac.za/

v

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Firstly, I would like to thank God, He has provided me the strength and wisdom to get through this chapter. I will always be eternally grateful for His unending love, mercy, and grace. Philippians 4–13: "*I can do all things through Him who gives me strength*."

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to all the people and institutions that have made this project possible.

With a heart filled with immense gratitude and appreciation, I would like to thank my supervisor, Prof. Abram Madiehe. His office conversations have been a source of inspiration for me. I am grateful for the space and the support he has provided. Furthermore, a huge thank you to my co-supervisor Dr Nicole Sibuyi for her guidance, patience, encouragement, and motivation. My sincere gratitude to Prof. Mervin Meyer, I am grateful for the assistance and support that you have provided me with and granting me the opportunity perform my research in your laboratory. A big thank you to my mentor Keletso Modise for her guidance and support.

I would like to say thank you to both University of the Western Cape and the National Nanoscience Postgraduate Teaching and Training Platform for granting me the opportunity and resources to pursue and funding this research project. A special thanks the Biotechnology Department and DSI-Mintek Nanotechnology Innovation Centre (NIC) for their immense contribution towards my academic journey. Furthermore, I would like to say thank you to both Ms Valencia Jamal (Nanoscience Department) and Ms Dorothea Hendricks (Centre for Student Support Services at UWC) for their amazing support, guidance, attentiveness, and patience. To Prof Robert Lindsay and Ms Chyril Manuel thank you for your continuous support.

Finally, to my husband Shaun Cozyn, how amazing and gracious you have been to me. I cannot express my gratitude for all the blessings and sacrifices you made. Thank you for giving me the unconditional support and courage to pursue my goals and stood by my side and walked this journey with me. To our children, Geordon and Robin Cozyn, thank you for all those late nights that you sat up with me. I hope I have made you all proud. I wish to express my sincere gratitude to my parents for their exceptional love and support. Most of all, thank you to my family and friends for the continuous prayers, motivation, and support.

"It always seems impossible until it's done." - Nelson Rolihlahla Mandela -

vi

KEYWORDS	ii
ABSTRACT	iii
DECLARATION	V
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	vi
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	ix
LIST OF FIGURES	xiii
LIST OF TABLES	XV
CHAPTER 1: LITERATURE REVIEW	1
1.1 Introduction	1
1.2 Bacterial infections	3
1.2.1 Antimicrobial resistance (AMR)	5
1.2.2 Prevalence and burden of AMR	7
1.3 Antibacterial resistance against ESKAPE pathogens	9
1.3.1 Mechanisms of antibacterial resistance	11
1.4 Current treatments for AMR infections and their limitations	12
1.5 Complementary and Alternative Medicine (Phytotherapy)	15
1.5.1 Eucomis autumnalis	18
1.5.2 Medicinal uses of <i>Eucomis autumnalis</i>	19
1.6 Nanotechnology	20
1.6.1 Silver nanoparticles (AgNPs) as antibacterial agents	22
1.6.2 Nanoparticle synthesis methods	22
1.6.3 Biological synthesis methods	24
1.7 Phytonanomedicine - Combatting Antibiotic-Resistant Bacteria using AgNPs	27
1.7.1 Biomedical applications of AgNPs	29
1.8 Mechanisms of antibacterial effects of silver nanoparticles (AgNPs)	32
1.9 Aim and objectives	34
1.10 Hypothesis	34
CHAPTER 2: MATERIALS AND METHODS	
2.1 Materials – Reagents, Equipment, and Suppliers	
2.2 Research Methodology	
2.2.1 Preparation of aqueous extract of E. autumnalis	

TABLE OF CONTENTS

2.2.2 Optimization and synthesis of EABE-AgNPs	
2.2.2.1 Effect of pH vs. temperature on EABE-AgNPs synthesis	
2.2.4.1 Bacterial culture	41
2.2.4.2 Determination of antibacterial activity using agar well diffusion meth	od41
2.2.4.3 Microdilution assay for minimum inhibitory concentration and minim concentration (MIC)	num bactericidal
2.2.4.4 Determination of Minimum bactericidal concentration (MBC)	
CHAPTER 3: RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	43
3.1 Visual observation of synthesis of EABE-AgNPs	44
3.2. Characterization of synthesized EABE-AgNPs	
3.2.1. Ultraviolet-visible Spectroscopy of EABE-AgNPs	
3.2.1.1 Effect of pH vs. temperature on EABE-AgNPs	45
3.2.1.2 Effect of EABE concentration on EABE-AgNPs synthesis	
3.2.1.3 Effect of AgNO ₃ concentration on EABE-AgNPs synthesis	
3.2.1.4 Effect of 2 mM AgNO $_3$ and 0.5% EABE concentration on EABE-Ag	NPs synthesis51
3.2.1.5 Effect of reaction time on the synthesis of EABE-AgNPs	
3.2.1.6 Upscaled synthesis of EABE-AgNPs with all optimum synthesis con-	ditions53
3.2.2 Dynamic light scattering analysis of EABE-AgNPs	54
3.2.3 High-resolution transmission microscopy analysis of EABE-AgNPs	56
3.2.4. Fourier-transform infrared spectroscopy (FTIR) of EABE-AgNPs	
3.2.5. Stability analysis of EABE-AgNPs	
3.3. Antibacterial activity of EABE-AgNPs	
3.3.1. Antibacterial activity of EABE-AgNPs using agar well diffusion assay	
3.3.2 Antibacterial activity of EABE-AgNPs using microdilution assay	
CHAPTER 4: CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS	75
4.1 Conclusion	75
4.2 Recommendations and Future work	76
4.3 Study limitations	76
REFERENCES	77

viii

°C Degrees Celsius or degree centigrade % Percentage β Beta maximum absorbance/ absorption maximum λ_{max} μl Microliter ζ potential Zeta potential Abs. Absorbance Silver Ag Silver ion Ag^+ Ag⁰ Silver atom AgNP(s) Silver nanoparticle(s) AgNO₃ Silver nitrate Al Aluminium Antimicrobial resistance AMR AMU Antimicrobial use TERN CAPE 5 American Type Culture Collection ATCC Gold Au AuNP(s) Gold nanoparticle(s) **BSIs Bloodstream infections** CAM Complementary and alternative medicine CDC Centers for Disease Control and Prevention CDI Clostridium difficile infection ix

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

https://etd.uwc.ac.za/

CFU	Colony forming units		
COVID-19	Coronavirus disease 2019		
Cu	Copper		
DDD	Defined Daily Dose		
ddH ₂ O	Deionized distilled water		
dH ₂ O	Distilled water		
DLS	Dynamic Light Scattering		
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid		
EPS	Extracellular polymeric substances		
ESBL	Extended spectrum β-lactamases		
ESKAPE	Enterococcus faecium, Staphylococcus aureus, Klebsiella pneumoniae,		
	Acinetobacter baumannii, Pseudomonas aeruginosa, and Enterobacter		
Fe	Iron		
FTIR	Fourier-transform Infrared spectroscopy		
g	Gram(s) UNIVERSITY of the		
HAI(s)	Hospital-Acquired Infections		
HCl	Hydrochloric acid		
HIV	Human immunodeficiency virus		
HNO3	Nitric acid		
hr(s)	Hour(s)		
HR-TEM	High Resolution-Transmission Electron Microscopy		
ICP-OES	Inductively Coupled Plasma Optical Emission Spectrometry		
IDs	Infectious diseases		
	X		

KBr	Potassium bromide	
L	Liter	
LMICs	Low- and middle-income countries	
LSPR	Localized surface plasma resonance	
Μ	Molar	
MBC	Minimum bactericidal concentration	
MDR	Multi-drug resistant	
mg	Milligram(s)	
mg/ml	milligram(s) per millilitre	
MHA	Mueller Hinton agar	
MHB	Mueller Hinton broth	
MIC	Minimum inhibitory concentration	
min(s)	Minute(s)	
ml	Millilitre(s)	
mm	Millimetre(s) UNIVERSITY of the	
mM	Millimolar WESTERN CAPE	
MNPs	Metal nanoparticles	
NaOH	Sodium hydroxide	
NDoH-RSA	National Department of Health Republic of South Africa	
NHLS	National Health Laboratory Service	
nm	Nanometre	
NP(s)	Nanoparticle(s)	
OD	Optical density	
	XI	

PDI	Polydispersity index	
рН	Potential of hydrogen	
Pt	Platinum	
QS	Quorum sensing	
RFU	Relative Fluorescence Units	
ROS	Reactive oxygen species	
RSA/ SA	Republic of South Africa/ South Africa	
RT	Room temperature	
rpm	Revolutions per minute	
SD	Standard deviation	
SPR	Surface Plasmon Resonance	
Ti	Titanium	
UK	United Kingdom	
U.S./ USA	United States/ United States of America	
UTIs	Urinary tract infections VERSITY of the	
UV-vis	Ultraviolet-visible spectroscopy	
v/v	Volume per volume	
WHO	World Health Organization	

xii

LIST OF FIGURES

https://etd.uwc.ac.za/

Figure 3.5: UV-vis absorption spectra showing the effect of varying EABE concentration on the formation of EABE-AgNPs
Figure 3.6: UV-vis absorption spectra of EABE-AgNPs at various time points (A) and the reaction rate at their SPR (B) using all optimum reaction conditions
Figure 3.7: UV-vis absorption spectra showing the upscaled synthesis of EABE-AgNPs using all optimumconditions (EABE concentration: 0.5 %, AgNO3 concentration: 2 mM, temperature: 90 °C, pH 12, time ofreaction: 90 min, shaking at 750 rpm)
Figure 3.9: HR-TEM analysis of EABE-AgNPs showing their morphology and size: (A) Micrograph and (B) size distribution of EABE-AgNPs
Figure 3.10: FTIR spectra of EABE and EABE-AgNPs
<i>baumannii</i>

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1: List of the different priorities given to ESKAPE pathogens (Adapted from Campos et al., 2020;
Mogasale <i>et al.</i> , 2021; Tacconelli, 2017)10
Table 1.2: Advantages and disadvantages of different non-antibiotic therapies 14
Table 2.1: Materials and reagents used and their suppliers
Table 2.2: Equipment used and their suppliers
Table 2.3.: Bacterial strains used in this study and their suppliers
Table 3.1 : The antibacterial effects of EABE-AgNPs against human pathogenic bacteria 63
Table 3.2: The MIC and MBC of EABE-AgNPs and Ciprofloxacin against seven human pathogenic
bacteria



CHAPTER 1: LITERATURE REVIEW

1.1 Introduction

Antibacterial resistance is a growing concern worldwide, posing a threat to public health. The ability of bacteria to develop resistance to antimicrobial drugs is a complex issue, influenced by various factors (Farfán-García *et al.*, 2023; Jonas *et al.*, 2017; Murray *et al.*, 2022). This exacerbates microbial infections and reduces the likelihood of successful treatment. In recent years, novel resistance mechanisms have posed serious threats to the treatment of many common bacterial diseases, resulting in treatment failures, bacterial sepsis and septic shock, or even death (Bennani *et al.*, 2020; Kharga *et al.*, 2023; O'Neill, 2016). The lack of new antibiotic development has allowed bacteria to evolve and develop resistance faster than new drugs can be introduced. Additionally, antibiotic residues from agriculture and pharmaceutical manufacturing can contaminate water sources and soil, further promoting the survival and spread of resistant bacteria not only in humans and animals, but also in the environment (Kharga *et al.*, 2023; Vij *et al.*, 2018).

Antimicrobial resistance (AMR) is a growing global problem that poses a significant threat to public health (Ferri et al., 2017; Tang et al., 2023). AMR arises when microorganisms become resistant to drugs that were initially designed to kill them (Serwecińska, 2020). The application of antibiotics has proven effective in eliminating or inhibiting the growth of harmful microorganisms (Salam et al., 2023; WHO, 2020). Conversely, the primary cause of AMR is overprescribing and the misuse of antibiotics which is further increased by a reduced novel antibiotics discovery rate (Chaw et al., 2018). AMR bacteria lead to hard-to-treat infections, causing longer hospital stays and higher healthcare costs, and is associated with a high risk of morbidity and mortality (Parmanik et al., 2022). Consequently, the development of infections caused by multi-drug resistant (MDR) microorganisms has resulted in a considerable reduction in the number of current traditional antimicrobial treatment options available and due to side effects, including other limitations associated with it. Therefore, there is an urgent need to develop alternative strategies to treat AMR bacterial infections (Garcia et al., 2021). Nanotechnology has revolutionized the field, enabling alternative therapeutic strategies against AMR infections, including biodegradable metal nanoparticles (MNPs). Green synthesized silver nanoparticles (AgNPs) have been shown to exhibit antimicrobial properties and are deemed less toxic, cost-effective, and eco-friendly compared to the physical and chemical methods that were commonly used for the synthesis of MNPs (Sidhu et al., 2022). The green synthesis of AgNPs employs sustainable green chemistry principles, makes use of bioactive molecules containing medicinal properties. Biogenic AgNPs with antibacterial efficacy may serve as a novel antibacterial agent which provides optimism in developing an alternative strategy to treat and prevent AMR pathogens (Fadaka *et al.*, 2021; Garza-Cervantes *et al.*, 2020; Raj *et al.*, 2021; Salazar-Bryam *et al.*, 2021).

The rapid emergence of drug-resistant microbial strains is posing a significant threat to the effectiveness of current antibiotics in combating microbial infections (Makvandi et al., 2023). Despite the availability of various antimicrobial drugs, the misuse and overprescription, as well as microbial mutation have led to the development of new drug-resistant strains (Fadaka et al., 2021; Smith et al., 2015). As such, the healthcare system faces significant challenges due to the emergence of antibiotic-resistant bacteria, which could possibly lead to another global pandemic (Abdellatif & Mohammed, 2023; Abushaheen et al., 2020). The global increased mortality rates are associated with emergence and spread of MDR bacteria and a major health concern that necessitates the development of alternative therapies (Allahverdiyev et al., 2011; Årdal et al., 2020; Giráldez-Pérez et al., 2022; Mühlen & Dersch, 2016). Naturally derived products have shown potential in combating the most dreadful diseases, and therefore serve as an effective source of bioactive compounds that can be used as antibacterial agents (Majoumouo et al., 2019; Ngouana et al., 2015; Tchuenmogne et al., 2017). These compounds are able to reduce metal ions and cap nanoparticles (NPs) to form biogenic nanoparticles with remarkable anti-bacterial activities (Akhtar, Naeem, et al., 2023; Akhtar, Shahid, et al., 2023; Majoumouo *et al.*, 2019). WESTERN

Biogenic MNPs, such as silver nanoparticles (AgNPs), have been found to exhibit antibacterial and antibiofilm properties against bacterial and fungal pathogens (Abul Qais *et al.*, 2018; Sánchez-López *et al.*, 2020). Several studies report the green synthesis of AgNPs and their antimicrobial activity (Abdelghany *et al.*, 2018; Kharissova *et al.*, 2013; Mittal *et al.*, 2013). Qais *et al.*, was the first to report a study using *Carom copticum* (*C. copticum*) seed extract, demonstrating antibacterial activity against *Bacillus subtilis*, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Salmonella typhi* (Raghunandan *et al.*, 2011; Sharma *et al.*, 2009). The *C. copticum* extract MnFe2O4 NPs has shown remarkable antibacterial action against *Staphylococcus epidermitis* (*S. epidermitis*), *Staphylococcus aureus* (*S. aureus*), *Bacillus subtilis* (*B. subtilis*), Methicillin resistance in *S aureus* (MRSA), *Escherichia coli* (*E. coli*), and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (*P. aeruginosa*). Biogenic NPs have shown their ability to suppress quorum sensing-mediated

virulence factors and biofilms, in addition proved to be effective therapy against intrinsically resistant biofilm infections by MDR quorum pathogens (Ghosh *et al.*, 2015; Meeker *et al.*, 2016). Thus, demonstrating its promising antibacterial activity not only on MDR pathogens but variety of diseases (Esmaeili & Ghobadianpour, 2016; Qais *et al.*, 2020; Rozhin *et al.*, 2021; Sharma *et al.*, 2015; Truchado *et al.*, 2012). In addition, a few papers have demonstrated the efficiency of AgNPs in anti-sensing (Anju & Sarada, 2016; Arunkumar *et al.*, 2013; Singh *et al.*, 2022; Srinivasan *et al.*, 2018). While a particular study also reported an eco-friendly approach for the synthesis of AgNPs from *C. opticum* aqueous seed extract with broad-spectrum anti-quorum and antibiofilm capabilities. The NPs displayed antibiofilm and anti-quorum sensing effects against Gram-negative bacteria (*Chromobacterium violaceum, Serratia marcescens* and *P. aeruginosa*), as well as lowering pathogenicity and inhibiting biofilm formation in these pathogens (Qais *et al.*, 2020).

1.2 Bacterial infections

Infectious diseases (IDs) caused by bacteria are one of the leading causes of chronic infections and mortality, globally (Ikuta *et al.*, 2022; Ye *et al.*, 2023). In 2019, ~7.7 million deaths globally were linked to bacterial infections, both resistant and susceptible to antimicrobials (Ikuta et al., 2022). ID caused by bacteria (Varela *et al.*, 2021) often require antibiotics for treatment, but improper use has led or exacerbated antibiotic resistance (Jernigan *et al.*, 2020). This then weakens the host immunity and potentially leads to severe complications, sepsis, and even death (Rawson *et al.*, 2020).

All the human organs are susceptible to bacterial infections (Doron & Gorbach, 2008), resulting in serious bacteria-induced diseases shown in **Figure 1.1** including bacterial pneumonia (meningitis), diarrhoea, urinary tract infections (UTIs), tuberculosis (TB), wound infections, and sexually transmitted infections (STIs) (Abdellatif & Mohammed, 2023; Hutchings *et al.*, 2019). Bacteria possess the ability to invade the host through various mechanisms, including the production of toxins, tissue invasion, and the formation of biofilms (Penesyan *et al.*, 2019). Bacterial biofilms are formed by adhering to each other or on inert surface in an extracellular polymeric substance (EPS) (Penesyan *et al.*, 2019). The EPS enables bacteria to communicate through quorum sensing (QS), a process that activates the immune system, causing inflammation and potentially sepsis in biofilms resistant to antimicrobial agents (Flemming & Wingender, 2010; T. Wang *et al.*, 2023).



Figure 1.1: Organs which are more susceptible to bacterial infections and the various associated species involved (Adapted from Harvey, 2007).

Antibiotic abuse and overuse in these situations, where more than one antibiotic was used (Morrison & Zembower, 2020) have led to the development and spread of MDR microorganisms (Parmar *et al.*, 2022). Thus, AMR pose a significant challenge to the medical industry (Akintelu *et al.*, 2020; Holmes *et al.*, 2016). In hospital settings, the urinary tract, respiratory tract, bloodstream (sepsis), post-surgical (wound) and pneumonia infections are common (Lanks *et al.*, 2019; Liu & Dickter, 2020; Markwart *et al.*, 2020). Bacterial drug resistance leads to higher treatment dosage, longer hospital stays, and increased mortality rates. In 2017, 48.9 million sepsis cases were reported globally, with 19.7% (11 million) global deaths. More of these cases and deaths (85%) occur in low-to-middle-income countries (LMICs), and 88% of infected patients develop sepsis (Rudd *et al.*, 2020; Tancharoen *et al.*, 2022). In African countries, hospital settings are increasingly contaminated with MDR pathogens, leading to pneumonia and UTIs, highlighting the need for improved healthcare systems to combat these diseases (Agyepong *et al.*, 2018; Asante *et al.*, 2021; Kayode *et al.*, 2020; Odoi *et al.*, 2022; Zachariah *et al.*, 2021).

Currently, available antibiotics for combating IDs are rapidly becoming ineffective because of the development of drug-resistant microbial strains and remains a consistent global challenge (Makvandi *et al.*, 2023). A study found 385 examples of various antibiotic misuse, including

335 prescription errors and 50 unfinished treatments, with the most common error being related to duration of treatment (Garcia-Vello *et al.*, 2020). The Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID19) pandemic has exacerbated the spread of AMR (~ 72%), due to the increased misuse of antibiotics (Karbelkar & Furst, 2020; Rawson *et al.*, 2020), with an increased number of hospitalized patients receiving antibiotics for secondary infections (Rawson *et al.*, 2020). During COVID-19 admission, about 132 respiratory and bloodstream pathogens were identified, with *S. aureus* causing the most infections (Wu *et al.*, 2023).

Although antibacterial agents have been effectively used to treat bacterial infection, the emergence and spread of AMR, has weakened their effectiveness, making prevention and treatment of drug-resistant bacterial infections difficult to treat (Tang *et al.*, 2023). MDR bacteria have now become a global issue of public health. Additionally, public health interventions like antibiotic stewardship programs (ASPs) and surveillance systems played a significant role in controlling the spread of pathogenic bacterial infections (Abushaheen *et al.*, 2020). This will increase awareness and knowledge about MDR, improve public health conditions and hygiene. However, the lack of new and improved drug development by the pharmaceutical industry due to challenging regulations and reduced economic incentives for drug development must also be addressed (Hegemann *et al.*, 2023).

1.2.1 Antimicrobial resistance (AMR)

AMR is a growing global concern and a major threat to human and animal health (Laxminarayan *et al.*, 2020; Salam *et al.*, 2023). AMR occurs when microorganisms, such as bacteria, fungi, parasites, and viruses, develop resistance to drugs used to treat infections (Friday *et al.*, 2020). This natural genetic evolution is affecting the efficiency of antibiotic use in healthcare (Abushaheen *et al.*, 2020; Alam *et al.*, 2019). Moreover, the misuse, along with a reduced drug discovery rate of novel antibiotics increases the prevalence of IDs. The discovery of penicillin by Fleming in 1928 revolutionized bacterial research, significantly impacting both human and animal health by introducing antibiotics for treating IDs (Dyary *et al.*, 2023; Reygaert, 2018; Zaman *et al.*, 2017). Within 12 years, this discovery led into an incredible era of development of drugs capable of eradicating bacterial infections. Additional antibiotics followed, and continued to revolutionize healthcare, serving as the basis of many of the most significant medical developments of the 20th century (Rhee *et al.*, 2019; Zhang & Cheng, 2022). Infections like pneumonia and TB, which are common but usually fatal, might

be easily treated. The hazards of ordinary surgery and childbirth were greatly diminished, and even a tiny incision no longer had the potential to be lethal if it became infected (Abdellatif & Mohammed, 2023; Rhee *et al.*, 2019). Despite the significant development of new antibacterial drugs, bacterial infections continue to be a growing concern even though these drugs have been in use many years since their discovery (Hutchings *et al.*, 2019; Iskandar *et al.*, 2022; Salam *et al.*, 2023).

In the 21st century, antimicrobial resistance has emerged as one of the major public health concerns (Balboa & Hicks, 2022) and has resulted in increased healthcare costs. The effectiveness of many antimicrobials (73%) used in human healthcare has declined, (Van Boeckel et al., 2015), thus reducing treatment options against pathogenic microorganisms (F. N. Idris & M. M. Nadzir, 2023). The emergence and spread of novel resistance mechanisms threatens the treatment of many common infectious diseases resulting in treatment failure, severe impairment, or even death. AMR will substantially compromise the efficacy of cancer treatment, transplantation surgery, and even simple dental operations, unless novel drugs with new mechanisms are developed (Anderson et al., 2019; Salam et al., 2023; Tenover, 2006). Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) indicated that half of the antibiotics prescribed were unnecessary and/or misused (Maddox, 2022), thus contributing to recalcitrant bacterial infections (Chopra et al., 2002). According to current estimates, at least 30% and up to 50% of all antibiotics administered are unnecessary (Salam et al., 2023; Saunders, 2020). The overuse of antibiotics and genetic mutations have altered their tolerance of antibiotics that were once effective, leading to drug inactivation, modification of critical biosynthetic pathways, changes in target sites (cell wall synthesis, folic acid biosynthesis, protein biosynthesis), or drug expulsion from cells (Kavya et al., 2023).

The resistance of bacteria to antibiotics can reduce the risk of preventing and managing immune-compromised health conditions like Human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), cancer, surgical procedures, and diabetes (Bartlett *et al.*, 2013; Hegemann *et al.*, 2023). A continuation of this situation could lead to a "post-antibiotic era" where minor injuries and common infections could become the leading causes of death (Alam *et al.*, 2019). Nevertheless, several studies have shown that these microorganisms can evolve and adapt, which is crucial for their survival and enables them to resist any therapy (Fisher *et al.*, 2018; Lee & Jun, 2019). The problem of AMR has become urgent in recent years, with rates of resistance rising at an ever-increasing rate (Abdellatif & Mohammed, 2023; Alam *et al.*, 2019; Bell *et al.*, 2014; Coppola

et al., 2022). Consequently, some new modified strains appear to reduce the chances of effective treatments in patients. Thus, alternative strategies must be developed to combat rapidly evolving pathogens and existing bacterial infections associated with AMR, which can reduce bacterial coinfections associated with MDR (Khameneh *et al.*, 2016; Loyola-Cruz *et al.*, 2023; Tenover, 2006; Zhou *et al.*, 2015).

1.2.2 Prevalence and burden of AMR

The emergence and spread of bacterial MDR remains a global threat among people of all ages (Fernandez, 2022; Murray *et al.*, 2022; Vos *et al.*, 2020). An estimated 4.95 million deaths associated with bacterial AMR were reported in 2019 (Getahun *et al.*, 2020; Murray *et al.*, 2020; Murray *et al.*, 2022). These rates are projected to increase by 2050, leading to AMR becoming the world's primary cause of death (O'Neill, 2016). The most prevalent locations for bacterial AMR infections, accounting for 78.8% of directly related AMR mortalities are the chest, bloodstream, and abdomen (Murray *et al.*, 2022; Vos *et al.*, 2020). As shown in **Figure 1.2**, 33 bacterial pathogens were responsible for 1.27 million deaths in 11 infectious syndromes in 2019 (Ikuta *et al.*, 2022).



Figure 1.2: Bacterial-induced global mortalities in infectious syndrome (Adapted from Ikuta *et al.*, 2022).

Currently, drug-resistant infections (**Figure 1.3 A**) are responsible for no less than 700,000 deaths each year (O'Neill, 2016; O'Neill, 2014). If preventative and control measures are not implemented, drug-resistant organisms may increase annual mortality, with an estimated \$100

https://etd.uwc.ac.za/

trillion in economic losses by 2050, mostly in LMICs (Bhattarai *et al.*, 2021; Pullon *et al.*, 2016). Drug-resistant infections are predicted to cause 10 million deaths annually (**Figure 1.3 B**), with 90% of these occurring in Asia and Africa alone (Islam *et al.*, 2021; Jain *et al.*, 2021; Safain *et al.*, 2020). Furthermore, this would make it the primary cause of mortality among humans, surpassing heart disease, diabetes, and cancer (Belete *et al.*, 2023; Morrison & Zembower, 2020; Murray *et al.*, 2022).



Figure 1.3: The projected global AMR rates (A) and deaths (including predicted estimate) (B) in different parts of the world by 2050 (Adapted from O'Neill, 2016; O'Neill, 2014).

Annually, a substantial amount of money is spent to address the impact of antibiotic-resistant bacterial infections around the world. In the European Union (EU) alone, a subset of drug-resistant bacteria are responsible annually for some 25,000 deaths, with extra health care costs and lost productivity due to AMR amounting to at least \in 1500 million (WHO, 2015). The EU invested approximately \in 1.5 billion each year to combat AMR infections, which are accountable for roughly 23,000 fatalities solely in Europe (Davies *et al.*, 2013). The United States of America (USA) spent more than \$20 billion to treat 20 million AMR patients each year (Hampton, 2013).

High-income nations are also impacted by the occurrence of AMR despite data suggesting that it is more prominent in LMICs (Ayobami *et al.*, 2022; Rödenbeck *et al.*, 2023). In 2019, the sub-Saharan Africa had the highest incidence with 23.5 million deaths per 100,000 attributed to AMR (Belete *et al.*, 2023; Carlet *et al.*, 2012; Murray *et al.*, 2022). If precautionary and regulation measures are not implemented, the global landscape of disease burden, including

the highest-ranking IDs, may change due to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic (Godman *et al.*, 2021; Sulis *et al.*, 2022).

1.3 Antibacterial resistance against ESKAPE pathogens

In 2017, the WHO issued a list of MDR microorganism posing a threat to human health, emphasizing the urgent need for developing novel antimicrobials and therapeutic modalities (WHO, 2017). These pathogens are known as "ESKAPE," an acronym for the group of bacteria, encompassing both Gram-positive and Gram-negative species. These include *Enterococcus faecium (E. faecium), S. aureus, Klebsiella pneumoniae (K. pneumoniae), Acinetobacter baumannii (A. baumannii), P. aeruginosa, and Enterobacter, are common causes of life-threatening nosocomial infections among critically ill and immunocompromised individuals. These pathogens are characterized by high mortality and morbidity rates (Catalano <i>et al.,* 2023).

Healthcare delivery and medical care are prone to 'nosocomial' or 'healthcare associated infections', which can occur during or after patient admission and even among medical staff and equipment, posing significant health risks (Kariuki *et al.*, 2023; Shankar & Balasubramanium, 2014). The occurrence of infections with MDR, extensively drug-resistant (XDR), difficult-to-treat drug-resistant, carbapenem-resistant, and pan-drug-resistant is still increasing (Ardebili *et al.*, 2023; Catalano *et al.*, 2023; Quraini *et al.*, 2023; WHO, 2022). Globally, 3.5% of active Tuberculosis (TB) and 18% of MDR-TB, with XDR-TB are a growing concern (Getahun, 2023; Salam *et al.*, 2023). The majority of nosocomial infections are caused by the ESKAPE pathogens (Pendleton *et al.*, 2013; H. Wang *et al.*, 2023), further categorized into three groups based on their level of resistance: critical, high, and medium (Idris & Nadzir, 2023). Thus, there is a tremendous interest in developing novel agents, together with a gap in antimicrobial use (AMU), as alternative approaches for treating such infections (Hegemann *et al.*, 2023; Mirghani *et al.*, 2022).

The microorganisms that fall under the critical priority (**Table 1.1**) are Enterobacteriaceae (including *K. pneumoniae*, *E. coli*, *Enterobacter spp.*, *Serratia spp.*, *Proteus spp.*, *Providencia spp.* and *Morganella spp.*), which are resistant to third-generation cephalosporin-resistant as well as carbapenem-resistant (including *A. baumannii* and *P. aeruginosa*) (Campos *et al.*, 2020; Catalano *et al.*, 2023; Pendleton *et al.*, 2013; WHO, 2017). In hospital settings, *A. baumannii*, a bacteria found in medical equipment, poses a significant threat due to its resistance to

disinfectants, high temperature, and pH ranges (Antunes *et al.*, 2014). It can survive on solid surfaces for up to 5 months, causing infections such as ventilator associated pneumonia, bacteraemia, endocarditis, meningitis, osteomyelitis, and skin, soft tissue, and UTIs (Campos *et al.*, 2020; Nowak & Paluchowska, 2016; Peleg *et al.*, 2008). *P. aeruginosa* on the other hand causes a variety of diseases including skin and gastrointestinal infections, pneumonia, bloodstream infections (BTIs), UTIs, and cystic fibrosis lung infections (Azam & Khan, 2019). Hospital-Acquired Infections (HAIs) caused by *P. aeruginosa* accounted for 9% in Europe, and 30% of these infections were resistant to carbapenems (Campos *et al.*, 2020). In addition, Enterobacter *spp.* and *K. pneumoniae* that produce extended spectrum β -lactamase (ESBL) were also classified as severe risk and a critical priority if they are resistant to carbapenems (Garner *et al.*, 2015). *K. pneumoniae* is the cause of 16% of UTIs in India (Niveditha et al., 2012), and is responsible for 61% of biofilm-related infections linked to medical devices, in UTIs; catheters in BSIs, and pneumonia connected to ventilator usage (Singhai *et al.*, 2012).

Priority	Pathogens	Reported antimicrobial resistances
Critical priority	A. baumannii Carbapenem resistance	
	P. aeruginosa	3rd generation cephalosporin resistance
	Enterobacter spp.	
	K. pneumoniae	DELTV
High priority	E. faecium	Vancomycin resistance
	S. aureus	Methicillin resistance in S aureus (MRSA)
	Salmonella species	Fluoroquinolone-resistance
Medium priority	S. pneumoniae	Penicillin resistance
	Shigella species	Fluoroquinolone resistance

Table 1.1: List of the different priorities given to ESKAPE pathogens (Adapted from Campos *et al.*, 2020; Mogasale *et al.*, 2021; Tacconelli, 2017).

The high priority pathogens are the major causes of BTIs in Africa, which caused 58% gastroenteritis infections in both human and animal (Reddy *et al.*, 2019). *S. aureus* was reported in 59–72% of BTIs in surgical sites and burnt wound infections, of which 38% were MRSA (Hasan *et al.*, 2016; Tacconelli, 2017). The spread of MRSA infection is alarming, with deaths surpassing those of Acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS) and Parkinson's disease (Lessa *et al.*, 2012). Recently, MRSA accounted for over 50% of *S. aureus* strains in the USA, causing 50% of all nosocomial *S. aureus* infections (Szabó *et al.*, 2022).

Streptococcus pneumoniae (*S. pneumoniae*) and *Shigella spp*. are medium priority pathogens contracted by direct contact with an infected person or consumption of contaminated water or food (Alhumaid *et al.*, 2023; Getahun, 2023). Most approved AMR drugs are no longer effective against ESKAPE pathogens (Haque *et al.*, 2018; Tagoe & Desbordes, 2012).

1.3.1 Mechanisms of antibacterial resistance

Different molecular and cellular pathways for AMR in MDR pathogens exist. Active export systems within bacterial membranes, blocking antimicrobial cellular, enzymatic destruction of antimicrobial agents, production of thick biofilms, modified targets for antimicrobials, and bacteria with AMR sites of action, constitute to a few of the mechanisms aggravating AMR (Varela *et al.*, 2021). Biofilms function as a physical barrier that prevents the transmission of antibiotics and upregulate certain pathogenic genes that are associated with biofilms and enhance antibiotic resistance (Bowler *et al.*, 2020; Penesyan *et al.*, 2019; Tuson & Weibel, 2013; Venkateswaran *et al.*, 2023). Biofilm protects bacteria from both antimicrobials and host defence systems, they account for 80% of all infections (Şen Karaman *et al.*, 2020; Tenover, 2006).

Understanding the molecular processes underlying AMR formation is crucial for developing innovative therapeutic techniques to prevent AMR linked to bacterial infections (Kok *et al.*, 2022). Antimicrobial agents use different mechanisms against bacteria and are classified as either bactericidal or bacteriostatic. Bacteriostatic agents prevent bacteria's growth by keeping them in the stationary phase, while bactericidal agents kill the bacteria (Pankey & Sabath, 2004). Antibacterial agents includes both natural products produced by microbes to protect themselves and synthetic compounds with a wide range of actions. Antibiotics typically inactivate pathogenic bacteria through various genetic and phenotypic AMR pathways, with specifics varying from drug to drug (Kassinger & Van Hoek, 2021; Vikesland *et al.*, 2019; Walsh & Wencewicz, 2020).

In general, AMR in bacteria may occur via four major mechanisms: (i) target alteration, (ii) drug inactivation, (iii) drug transport and (iv) inactivation of drug agent (Reygaert, 2018). Bacteria can also inactivate antibiotics by producing enzymes that recognize and destroy the structure of antibiotics (Egorov *et al.*, 2018; Lambert, 2005). It has been demonstrated that post-translational processes are another way in which bacteria acquire resistance. Through

post-translational changes, bacteria are known to regulate their metabolism and pathogenicity (Broberg & Orth, 2010).

The fluoroquinolone resistance of ESKAPE pathogens is another example of AMR through modifying enzyme targets. Approximately 65 to 80% of bacterial and chronic infections are caused by biofilms (Jamal *et al.*, 2018; Maillard & Centeleghe, 2023), especially chronic infections (such as cystic fibrosis, endocarditis, and osteomyelitis) (Chiş *et al.*, 2022; Sharma *et al.*, 2019). Additionally, biofilms cause persistent infection and antibiotic treatment failure probably due to specific interactions between the drug, pathogen and host (Mishra *et al.*, 2023; H. Wang *et al.*, 2023).

1.4 Current treatments for AMR infections and their limitations

Currently, antibiotics (e.g., disrupting their biofilm) and vaccines (e.g., immunization) have been traditionally utilized to manage bacterial infections, resulting in substantial improvements in health and longevity (Yang & Yang, 2019). However, vaccine therapy often requires booster shot negatively weakening the immune response, as the innate immune system recognizes ubiquitous molecular patterns in all microorganisms, preventing erroneous attacks on host cells, leading to pores in the membrane (Clem, 2011). While antibiotic therapy often leads to AMR (Chiş *et al.*, 2022; Uruén *et al.*, 2020), antibiotic therapy has been linked to adverse events in up to 20% of patients receiving systemic treatment (Tamma *et al.*, 2017).

Biofilm-forming microorganisms cause a variety of infections, requiring treatment methods to remove and eradicate the biofilm for effective infection management (Mishra *et al.*, 2023). There is a correlation between biofilms and IDs outbreaks which are exclusively induced by biofilm infections (Auinger *et al.*, 2003; Diaz *et al.*, 2011; Høiby *et al.*, 2010; Olson & Hunstad, 2016). The most prevalent biofilm-forming species include *P. aeruginosa*, *S. aureus*, and *S. epidermidis*. Chronic osteomyelitis, periprosthetic joint infections, and implant-associated osteomyelitis of long bones are the three most typical orthopaedic biofilm infections (Rao *et al.*, 2011; Zimmerli & Sendi, 2017).

The conventional/traditional antibiotic approach to treating infections caused by gram-positive or gram-negative bacteria is to find small molecules that inhibit the growth or kill one or the other, the latter are known as broad-spectrum antibiotics (Hauser *et al.*, 2016). The years between 1940 and 1960 are regarded as the "golden age" of antibiotic research, during this time, the following were discovered: (i) natural antibiotics isolated from actinomycetes, e.g.,

¹²

aminoglycosides, tetracyclines, amphenicols, macrolides, glycopeptides, ansamycins, lincosamides, streptogramins and cycloserine; (ii) antibiotics of fungal origin, e.g., penicillins and cephalosporins; and (iii) synthetic antibiotics, such as sulfones, nitrofurans, quinolones, azoles, phenazines, ethambutol and thioamides (Pancu *et al.*, 2021). The great majority of these antibiotics are still used as treatments, although their efficiency has reduced due to rising AMR (Hutchings *et al.*, 2019; Pancu *et al.*, 2021).

Antibiotic therapy, despite being abused for managing bacterial infections and their biofilms, remains a crucial method for effective infection management (Deusenbery *et al.*, 2021; Mishra *et al.*, 2023; Ye *et al.*, 2022). The main agents in bacteria include those that inhibit cell wall synthesis, depolarize the cell membrane, inhibit protein synthesis, nuclei acid synthesis, and metabolic pathways (Bbosa *et al.*, 2014; Reygaert, 2018). Broad-spectrum antibiotics are likely to cause adverse effects such as gastrointestinal effects due to disturbance of gut flora. *Clostridium difficile* (*C. difficile*) infections are more likely to be caused by ampicillin, clindamycin, third-generation cephalosporins, and fluoroquinolones (Mohsen *et al.*, 2020).

The current non-antibiotic therapy is the only non-traditional alternative treatment for bacterial infections and associated biofilms (Guh & Kutty, 2018; Yi *et al.*, 2018). These substances do not function by directly targeting bacterial components required for bacterial growth. Non-traditional approaches explore ways to influence disease beyond inhibiting or killing pathogens or imply an alternative therapy to antibiotics (Theuretzbacher & Piddock, 2019). Non-antibiotic approaches, such as probiotics, phages, and phytomedicines, are being explored for the treatment and prevention of infections. Probiotics like *Lactobacillus spp.* and *Saccharomyces boulardii* are effective in preventing and treating diarrhoea, particularly *C. difficile*-associated diarrhoea. Bacteriophages are being used to control staphylococcal and gastrointestinal infections. Phytomedicines like artesunate, tea tree oil, honey, mastic gum, and cranberry juice are also being used for various infections (Carson & Riley, 2003).

Alternative therapies have emerged in recent years, including antimicrobial peptides, phage therapy, efflux pump inhibitors, antibodies, and immunomodulatory agents, which have produced impressive results in both laboratory and in clinical trials (Konwar *et al.*, 2022). Emerging non-antibiotic therapeutic strategies include chemical modification of antibiotics, antimicrobial peptides, engineered microorganisms, bacteriophage therapy, antimicrobial adjuvants, fecal microbiota transplant, genetically modified probiotics and postbiotics,

phototherapy, cationic polymers, natural active substances, and nanotherapy in combating AMR (Cotter *et al.*, 2013; Garcia-Gutierrez *et al.*, 2019; Gebreyohannes *et al.*, 2019; Kumar *et al.*, 2021; Nordmann *et al.*, 2012). Moreover, combinatorial therapies that combine these new approaches have been efficient enough to get approval for clinical use and have accelerated the discovery of novel combination approaches that enhance the performance of already in-use antibiotics (Konwar *et al.*, 2022). **Table 1.2** summarizes the advantages and disadvantages of non-antibiotic therapies (Yang & Yang, 2019).

Table 1.2: Advantages and disadvantages of different non-antibiotic therapies (Adapted from Yang & Yang, 2019).

Non-antibiotic	Advantages and disadvantages	Main mechanism
therapies		
Fecal microbiota	Despite its high cure rate and rapid curative	Restore the normal microbiome and
transplantation	effect, rCDI has drawbacks such as inflated	metabolites, thereby achieving
(FMT)	cost, complicated operation, not suitable for	homeostasis.
	infants, and mild side effects.	THE REAL PROPERTY OF
Probiotics	Affordable, safe for all ages, no side effects,	Probiotics have numerous
	effortless operation, aids drug effects, dietary	antibacterial properties, which
	supplement while slow curative effect, limited	activate the immune system and aid in
	in rCDL	the restoration of the normal
		microbiome.
Engineered	High precision targets often have inadequate	Direct genetic modification involves
microorganisms	mechanisms of action, inflated costs,	the direct action of microorganisms
-	complicated manufacturing processes, and lack	on targeted pathogens.
	of clinical validation.	
Bacteriophage	The treatment effectively combats MDR, but it	Bacteria lysis
	lacks a clear mechanism of action, safety	Vaftha
	assessment, and clinical validation.	1 of the
Natural active	Affordable, easily accessible, and can be	C. difficile can be inhibited by
substances	obtained from numerous natural plants, but it	effective antibacterial constituents.
	lacks a clear mechanism of action and clinical	Unib
	validation.	
Nanoparticles	The inhibitor is C. difficile, causing minimal	Directly causing cell damage on
and compounds	body damage and showing remarkable	pathogen cells, it effectively destroys
_	therapeutic effects in vitro, but lacks clinical	pathogens without disrupting the
	validation.	normal microbiome.

rCDI: recurrent C. difficile infection; CDI: C. difficile infection.

Novel branded antibiotics (e.g., besifloxacin, ceftobiprole, ceftaroline, dalbavancin, delafloxacin, omadacycline, ozenoxacin, oritavancin, telavancin, and tedizolid) are effective against drug-resistant Gram-positive infectious bacteria (Koulenti *et al.*, 2019). Although non-antibiotic therapies are effective in treating infectious pathogens, but overtime developed resistance. Thus, making it crucial to use alternative antibiotic compared to these therapies (Kumar *et al.*, 2021). Drug-resistant bacteria are rendering antibiotics ineffective,

prompting a shift towards alternative therapies. Advancements in biotechnology, genetic engineering, and synthetic chemistry have opened new avenues in finding therapies that can substitute for antibiotics.

1.5 Complementary and Alternative Medicine (Phytotherapy)

Complementary and alternative medicine (CAM) refers to a broad spectrum of health-care methods that are not part of the country's own tradition or conventional medicine and are not completely incorporated into the prevailing healthcare system (Abdullahi, 2011; Mothibe & Sibanda, 2019; WHO, 2000; Yuan *et al.*, 2016). The terms are used interchangeably with traditional medicine (TM) in some countries. Traditional medicines (TMs), including herbal medicines, are a significant part of traditional healthcare practices and often referred to as natural medicine, non-conventional medicine, and holistic medicine. Medicinal plants are utilized in both traditional and modern health management systems. Traditional systems have relied on plant-based medicines for thousands of years, with recent drugs containing active ingredients from plants. Before the advent of synthetic drugs, humans were entirely dependent on plant-based medicines for primary healthcare (Shi *et al.*, 2010; Yuan *et al.*, 2016).

TMs, one of the oldest forms of healthcare, has been used since ancient times to treat various life-threatening diseases, utilizing medicinal plants to prevent and treat physical and mental health issues across different cultures (Alam *et al.*, 2021; Kurhekar, 2021; Schultz *et al.*, 2020; Shi *et al.*, 2010; Yuan *et al.*, 2016). Currently, plants are now considered valuable resources of natural compounds (secondary metabolites with numerous biological activities) that may be exploited in the development of antidiabetic, anti-inflammatory, anticancer, and antimicrobial drugs (Angiolella *et al.*, 2018; Friday *et al.*, 2020). Approximately 80% of the patient population in Africa alone and globally, use TM – either alone or in conjunction with conventional medicine (Bhatia *et al.*, 2021; Boakye *et al.*, 2015). While in Nigeria, TMs system has shown medicinal plants as potent antimicrobial agents against MDR pathogens, such as *E. coli*, VRE, and *Candida albican (C. albican)* (Friday *et al.*, 2020; Iwu, 2014). In general, natural compounds are obtained from plants and they serve as the favoured basis for new drug development (Lahlou, 2013). It has also been established that secondary compounds typically hold extremely intricate stereo structures, and these bioactive molecules are being established to possess medicinal function (Atanasov *et al.*, 2015; Moiketsi *et al.*, 2023; Mosse *et al.*, 2013).

Phytotherapy or phytomedicine, continue to fulfil therapeutic requirements in both conventional and clinical settings (Bone & Mills, 2012; Busia, 2016; Hooper *et al.*, 2023). Phytotherapy, a traditional Western medicine practice, utilizes plants as health-promoting agents for medicinal purposes, preserving their composition and integrity, allowing for the use of the entire plant or a desired percentage. Plant-based therapies are utilized in various medical traditions such as anthroposophic medicine, naturopathic medicine, traditional Chinese medicine (TCM), Ayurvedic medicine, and allopathic medicine (Falzon & Balabanova, 2017). In Southern Africa, more than 10% of the plant species are utilized in TMs, with over 15 species experiencing commercialization (Ibrahim & Kebede, 2020; Moiketsi *et al.*, 2023). While local populations in Latin America, Asia, and Africa have historically relied on traditional plant-based treatments for safe, cost-effective, and culturally appropriate primary healthcare (Friday *et al.*, 2020).

According to the WHO, in developing countries, approximately 80% of primary health care needs are met by traditional and herbal medicines, mostly plant medicines (Modak *et al.*, 2007; Mordeniz, 2019; Oliveira *et al.*, 2006). TMs derived from medicinal plants are used by about 60% of the world's population (Modak *et al.*, 2007). Over 85% of people in Africa, Asia, and the Middle East use herbal medicine as their first line of defence (Adeleye *et al.*, 2022; Sen *et al.*, 2011; Shareef *et al.*, 2016; Singh *et al.*, 2023). The global demand for herbal drugs are increasing due to their non-toxic, non-susceptible nature, affordability, and potential as a primary healthcare source for the poor (Friday *et al.*, 2020).

The rapid increase in the consumption of herbal products, are widely advertised as safer, more natural, and healthier alternatives to conventional medicines, demonstrating the growing popularity of these herbal remedies worldwide (Mordeniz, 2019). Traditional herbal medicine, relies on phytochemicals found in plant extracts to treat and prevent diseases, potentially leading to the development of novel antimicrobials (Ivanišová *et al.*, 2021; Liberal *et al.*, 2020). African phytomedicines, such as *Cinchona*, which produces quinine, an antiplasmodial, are widely recognized on international markets for malaria treatment, with their annual market value of nearly \$43 billion exceeding African budgets (Mordeniz, 2019).

10.10

Medicinal plants have long been used as medicines to treat microbial infections, among other human diseases; hence, their antibiotic development should now be focused on, as they have

proved to be the best alternatives for novel antibacterial targets and can be effective against MDR bacteria (Moiketsi *et al.*, 2023).

The WHO has identified over 20,000 medicinal plant species, with approximately 374,000 plants and 28,187 medicinal species used by humans (Christenhusz & Byng, 2016; Han *et al.*, 2023). These plants are considered potential sources of new drugs, with over 1340 plants having defined antimicrobial activity and over 30,000 compounds isolated from them (Srinivasan *et al.*, 2001; Yadav & Agarwala, 2011). Over 100 countries have developed regulations for medicinal plants, with 14 - 28% of higher plant species being medicinal and 74% of bioactive plant-derived compounds discovered for ethnomedicinal uses (Miri *et al.*, 2013; Talapko *et al.*, 2018; Yadav & Agarwala, 2011). Numerous studies have demonstrated the efficacy of CAM phytotherapy against antimicrobial resistant bacteria, such as MRSA and ESBL. Plant extracts and phytochemicals, including essential oils from oregano, tea tree, and thyme, have shown potent antimicrobial activity, inhibited bacterial growth and disrupted biofilms (Hossain *et al.*, 2016; Moiketsi *et al.*, 2023). Additionally, plant extracts from garlic, turmeric, and ginger target different bacterial resistance mechanisms, making it challenging for bacteria to develop resistance against them (Moiketsi *et al.*, 2023; Sultan *et al.*, 2014).

The Nigerian TMs systems has shown many medicinal plants as potent antimicrobial agents against MDR pathogens such as *E. coli*, vancomycin-resistant *enterococci* (VRE), and *C. albicans* (Iwu, 2014). India's national economy has been significantly impacted by the collection and processing of medicinal plants, which play a major part in the country's health management. These plants are used in both traditional and modern systems of medicine, with some recent drugs containing active ingredients from plants (Singh *et al.*, 2023). Plant compounds offer a sustainable alternative to synthetic antibiotics, as they are well-tolerated and have fewer side effects (Li et al., 2023). CAM phytotherapy, enhances antimicrobial activity and reduces resistance risk (Cheesman *et al.*, 2017; Teja *et al.*, 2022). The worldwide demand for plant-based antimicrobials is increasing due to their therapeutic potential and ability to mitigate side effects associated with synthetic agents (Teja *et al.*, 2022). These non-toxic and affordable products are becoming the primary source of healthcare for the poor (Bonifacio *et al.*, 2014). The need for intensified research in phytomedicine is crucial to conquer disease-causing organisms and ailments and eliminating the burden of AMR.

The oldest written evidence of medicinal plant was found on Sumerian clay slab from Nagpur used for drug preparation, dating back 5000 years (Castiglioni, 2019; Duffin, 2021; Guthrie, 1958; Kelly, 2009; Kurhekar, 2021; Major, 1954; Sigerist, 1987). It includes 12 recipes for over 250 plants, including alkaloids like poppy, henbane, and mandrake. Chinese book "Pen T'Sao" by Emperor Shen Nung treats 365 drugs (Bottcher, 1965; Kelly, 2009; Kurhekar, 2021; Petrovska, 2012; Wiart, 2007).

As more antibiotics are rendered ineffective by drug-resistant bacteria, focus must be shifted towards alternative therapies for treating infections. Although several alternatives already exist in nature, the challenge is to implement them in clinical use. Advancements within biotechnology, genetic engineering, and synthetic chemistry have opened up new avenues towards the search for therapies that can substitute for antibiotics (Ghosh *et al.*, 2019).

1.5.1 Eucomis autumnalis

E. autumnalis, also known as "pineapple flowers" or uMathunga, is a native flora of South Africa with medicinal value and known for its antibacterial and antifungal properties (Alaribe *et al.*, 2018; Grace *et al.*, 2003; Hutchings, 1996). The bulbs have been and are used in TMs to reduce fever and for UTIs, stomach pains, lower backaches, syphilis, as well as the induction of labour (Alaribe *et al.*, 2018; Masondo *et al.*, 2015; McMaster, 2007; Salachna & Zawadzińska, 2015). *E. autumnalis* belongs to the Asparagaceae family, a deciduous bulb plant with decorative raceme inflorescences. It is composed of star-shaped, greenish-white, and sweet-scented flowers. Produced in mid to late summer, the bulbs are 8-10 cm in diameter and ovoid in shape (**Figure 1.4**). The trilocular capsule fruit contains shiny, black rounded seeds, and its name *E. autumnalis* refers to its flowering and fruiting time (Alaribe *et al.*, 2018; Masondo *et al.*, 2015; Taylor *et al.*, 2002). They are a group of 11 species found in various habitats in Southern Africa (Eastern Cape, Northern Province, Zimbabwe, Botswana, and Malawi), including forests, grasslands, wetland areas (Alaribe *et al.*, 2018; Shuttleworth & Johnson, 2009) and mountain slopes (Alaribe *et al.*, 2018; Salachna & Zawadzińska, 2015).



Figure 1.4: *E. autumnalis* plant (A) and bulb (B). The bulbs were used in green synthesis of EABE-AgNPs (Adapted from Alaribe *et al.*, 2018).

1.5.2 Medicinal uses of *Eucomis autumnalis*

E. autumnalis are significant medicinal and horticultural plants produced for commercial cultivation. The Zulu people in South Africa utilize E. autumnalis for gastrointestinal illnesses, backache, enemas, teething, inflammatory diseases, postoperative recovery, and other ailments (Alaribe *et al.*, 2018). According to literature, its terpenoids are beneficial for treating various wounds, including burns, and its decoction aids in postoperative recovery (Hutchings, 1989, 1996; Van Wyk et al., 1997). E. autumnalis possess anti-inflammatory, antibacterial, anticancer, anti-oxidative, and anti-histaminic properties (Bisi-Johnson et al., 2011; Diederichs, 2012; Joffe, 2012; Koorbanally et al., 2006; Van Wyk et al., 1997). The bulbs contain various phytoconstituents such as homoisoflavanones and triterpenoid glycosides in the waxy layer between storage leaves, and terpenoids in the bulb's tissue, highlighting the importance of these compounds in plant growth (Alaribe et al., 2018; Bisi-Johnson et al., 2011; Masondo et al., 2015; McGaw et al., 2007; Mulholland et al., 2013). E. autumnalis, a traditional therapeutic plant extract, has been shown in vitro to selectively inhibit cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2), making it an effective treatment for wound healing and postsurgery recovery (Masondo et al., 2015; Mulholland et al., 2013; Street, 2012; Taylor et al., 2002). This unique property makes it a valuable addition to traditional healing practices (Alaribe *et al.*, 2018).

The number of WHO member states with state-level laws regarding herbal medicines has increased significantly, from 45 to 109 between 1999 and 2018 (WHO, 2019a, 2019b). This

19

https://etd.uwc.ac.za/

trend is attributed to the increasing number of countries implementing regulations on herbal medicines, and ethnopharmacological analysis being a crucial step in developing new pharmaceuticals, owing to their therapeutic benefits (Ionkova *et al.*, 2022; Mei *et al.*, 2023; Panda *et al.*, 2022). A study demonstrated that the antibacterial activity of the *E. autumnalis* can be enhanced through green nanotechnology, as *E. autumnalis* AgNPs was more effective against clinical isolates (*Listeria monocytogenes*, *Enterococcus faecalis*, *K. pneumoniae* and *A. baumannii*) compared to their extracts (Lediga *et al.*, 2018). This suggests that green nanotechnology could enhance the efficacy of medicinal plants against IDs, particularly AMR pathogens (Moradi *et al.*, 2023a).

1.6 Nanotechnology

Nanotechnology is an interdisciplinary field of science, that involves the conversion of nanoscience theory into practical applications through the manipulation, assembly, control, and manufacturing of matter at the nanometre scale (Abushaheen *et al.*, 2020; Bayda *et al.*, 2019). The nanometre scale is defined as the size range of objects that are one billionth (10⁻⁹) of a meter in size with at least one dimension in the 1 to 100 nm range (Abbas *et al.*, 2022; Pabbati *et al.*, 2021; Yin *et al.*, 2020). Nanomaterials (NMs) are 80,000 times smaller than the diameter of a human hair as shown in **Figure 1.5** (Anbusagar *et al.*, 2018).



Figure 1.5: Schematic representation of materials in the nanoscale range (Adapted from Anbusagar *et al.*, 2018).

The chemical structure, surface composition, and size of NPs contributes to their unique physiochemical properties and distinct applications (Bezza *et al.*, 2020; Khan *et al.*, 2019; Pabbati *et al.*, 2021). These unique features are attributed to quantum confinement which is due to large surface-to-volume ratio (Patil & Burungale, 2020), in which quantum effects of nanomaterials can directly influence optical, thermal, electrical, mechanical, magnetic, and catalytic behaviour, compared to their bulk state counterparts (Ijaz *et al.*, 2020; Oluwasanu *et al.*, 2019). These properties can be utilized to overcome limitations faced by current therapeutic and diagnostic agents. The commercialization of nanomaterials in medicine and pharmaceuticals, including biomedical therapeutics is expanding rapidly and owns excellent potential (Kumar *et al.*, 2023; Tiwari *et al.*, 2023). In recent years, nanobiotechnology has emerged as an important branch of nanotechnology, focusing on the biosynthesis of NPs through innovative methods (Arroyo *et al.*, 2020; Dhanjal *et al.*, 2022).

NPs are categorized as either organic or inorganic based on their composition (Alshammari et al., 2023; Martinelli et al., 2019). Organic NPs are biodegradable and non-toxic. Examples include dendrimers, micelles, ferritin, and liposomes (Ealia & Saravanakumar, 2017; Rao & Geckeler, 2011). Inorganic NPs are synthesized using metal precursors (e.g., gold, silica, and iron oxide) (Ealia & Saravanakumar, 2017; Kumar et al., 2018). Inorganic NPs are further differentiated into noble MNPs such as, metal oxides or pure metals such as silver (Ag), aluminium (Al), gold (Au), copper (Cu), titanium (Ti), iron (Fe) and platinum (Pt) (Dhaka et al., 2023; Rosman et al., 2021). MNPs are widely utilized in biomedical applications due to their biocompatibility, low toxicity, excellent conductivity, and large surface area (Agarwal et al., 2019; Baygar et al., 2019; Chellapandian et al., 2019; Jebasingh & Arasu, 2020; Kang et al., 2020). The application of MNPs such as AgNPs, AuNPs, and CuNPs are different from non-metallic NPs, and have revolutionized medicine due to their antimicrobial, anticancer, drug delivery, contrast, and bioimaging properties (Aboyewa et al., 2021; Balamurugan et al., 2017). AgNPs are the most extensively studied and explored NPs among MNPs (Krishnanand & Sekhar, 2018; Rosman et al., 2021) in several industries, due to their antimicrobial properties (Akhtar, Naeem, et al., 2023; Ealia & Saravanakumar, 2017; Hong, 2019; Joudeh & Linke, 2022; Moreno-Vega et al., 2012; Nam et al., 2016; Rosman et al., 2021; Silva et al., 2019).
1.6.1 Silver nanoparticles (AgNPs) as antibacterial agents

Ag is very malleable and ductile, cost-effective and has the highest thermal and electrical conductivity (Krishnanand & Sekhar, 2018; Rosman et al., 2021). The usage of Ag dates back to ancient times where silver nitrate (lapis infernalis), a common silver salt has been utilized for medicinal purposes (Antonarakis & Emadi, 2010; Żyro et al., 2023), to prevent infections during wound healing because of their excellent antimicrobial properties (Konop et al., 2016; Medici et al., 2019; Ngakala et al., 2021; Żyro et al., 2023). Ag was used as jewellery, silverware, cutlery, preservative, and currency (Barillo & Marx, 2014; Talapko et al., 2018). In ancient times, Egyptians, Romans, Greeks and Phoenicians, utilized Ag as silverwares to store water, food, and wine to avoid spoilage, due to its antimicrobial properties (Barillo & Marx, 2014). The earliest medicinal use of Ag was recorded in 1500 BC, in China (Yamada, 1998). Silver nitrate (AgNO₃), first discovered in Rome in 69 BC, was used to prevent and treat wound infections (Calvery et al., 1941; Gao et al., 2018). Later in the 1800s, silvers antimicrobial properties have been used for over 200 years in treating burn injuries, eye infections (Barillo & Marx, 2014; Tarannum et al., 2019) and ulcers (Barillo & Marx, 2014; Pawlik et al., 2023). Ag wound dressings played a significant role in modern wound healing since the late 20th century (Ahmed et al., 2016; Barillo and Marx, 2014). Contrary to their historic oral administration, silver-based compounds are only effective externally (Żyro et al., 2023). UNIVERSITY of the

AgNPs, a rapidly researched nanomaterial, are in high demand in various industries such as pharmaceuticals, cosmetics, wound care, and food (Gherasim *et al.*, 2020; Zhang *et al.*, 2016). This is solely based on the fact that silver-based compounds and materials have been used for centuries due to their antimicrobial efficiency, versatility, and bio-functionality, leading to the development and clinical implementation of several commercial products (Gherasim *et al.*, 2020).

1.6.2 Nanoparticle synthesis methods

Nanomaterials are synthesized using top-down and bottom-up approaches through various techniques like physical, chemical, hybrid (combination of the top-down and bottom-up approaches) and biological methods highlighted in **Figure 1.6** (Dhand *et al.*, 2015; Rafique *et al.*, 2019; Ramanathan *et al.*, 2021). The top-down approach creates smaller structures from bulk material (Sudarman *et al.*, 2023; Zamare *et al.*, 2016) by using physical methods such as

mechanical machining, lithography, hydrothermal synthesis and thermal evaporation pyrolysis (Baptista *et al.*, 2018; Khan *et al.*, 2018; Sudarman *et al.*, 2023).



Figure 1.6: Various approaches and methods to nanoparticle synthesis (Adapted from Álvarez-Chimal & Arenas-Alatorre, 2023; Dhaka *et al.*, 2023).

The bottom-up approach involves engineering large nanostructures from smaller atoms and molecules (Christian *et al.*, 2008) using chemical reduction (Ahmed *et al.*, 2016) and biological methods (Ramanathan *et al.*, 2021). The bottom-up methods are simple, fast, and cost-effective, compared to the top-down methods. Furthermore, it has unique characteristics and excellent versatility such as the ability to control shape and size of the nanomaterial (Iqbal *et al.*, 2012; Tripathy *et al.*, 2023). Despite the advantages of chemical and physical methods, there are a few disadvantages such as high costs for equipment and operation, high energy consumption (Lin *et al.*, 2021; Sudarman *et al.*, 2023) and production of toxic by-products (Ramanathan *et al.*, 2021). The production of NPs on a large scale is cost-effective, time-consuming, energy-intensive, and potentially harmful to the environment and living organisms due to its high temperatures and energy requirements (Anders, 2011; Bar *et al.*, 2009; Bhagyanathan & Thoppil, 2018; Horwat *et al.*, 2011; Madkour, 2017).

Chemical methods are preferred over physical methods; as chemicals can be used as reducing, capping and stabilizing agents to achieve AgNPs with excellent dispersion, stability and uniform size distribution (Díaz-Núñez *et al.*, 2017). Due to the toxic nature of the chemicals, biological methods are emerging as an environmentally friendly, economical, and reliable alternative to both physical and chemical methods (Moradi *et al.*, 2021; Rasheed *et al.*, 2018; Tariq *et al.*, 2022).

1.6.3 Biological synthesis methods

Green synthesis is a sustainable method for producing NPs, reducing the use of toxic solvents and hazardous chemicals. A developing area with substantial potential in environmental and biomedical fields (Khatiwara *et al.*, 2023). This method utilizes organic substances as stabilizers and capping agents, influencing medical applications of AgNPs (Verma *et al.*, 2022; Seerengaraj Vijayaram *et al.*, 2023). It attempts to develop biocompatible NPs from biological resources such as plants and bacteria, as well as decreasing the utilization of toxic chemicals (Khatiwara *et al.*, 2023). Biological synthesis of NPs can be achieved using a vast array of resources, including plant products, algae, fungi, yeast, bacteria, and viruses (**Figure 1.7**). The synthesis is initiated by mixing noble metal salt precursors (Ag, Au, Cu, Pt, Cd, Pt, Pd, Ru and Rh) with biomaterials as reducing and capping agents for the synthesis of MNPs. The biomaterials contain compounds such as proteins, alkaloids, flavonoids, reducing sugars, and polyphenols; all of which were involved in the reduction and stabilization of metal precursors. The reduction of these precursors to successive NPs can be confirmed by colour change of the colloidal solution (Sriramulu *et al.*, 2020).



Figure 1.7: Biosynthesis of AgNPs utilising various natural biological resources (Adapted from Rónavári *et al.*, 2021).

The synthesis of MNPs using biomaterials (microorganisms and plants), is widely recognized as a green and convenient approach (Singh *et al.*, 2016; Verma *et al.*, 2022). Microorganisms, ranging from prokaryotic simple bacterial cells to complex eukaryotes, utilize reductase enzymes to accumulate and detoxify heavy metals, converting metal salts into narrow-sized NPs with less polydispersity (Das *et al.*, 2017; A. Dhaka *et al.*, 2023; Singh *et al.*, 2016).

Bacterial-mediated synthesis of AgNPs facilitated by *Pseudomonas stutzeri* (*P. stutzeri*), was first demonstrated in a silver mine (Ajaz *et al.*, 2021; Klaus *et al.*, 1999). *Pseudoduganella eburnean* (*P. eburnean*) mediated synthesized AgNPs demonstrated strong antibacterial efficacy against pathogenic microorganisms resistant to several drugs, including *S. aureus* and *P. aeruginosa* (A. Dhaka *et al.*, 2023; Huq, 2020). In addition to bacteria, fungi have received increasing attention for their ability to synthesize NPs due to the ease of scale-up and downstream processing, and economic feasibility (Ottoni *et al.*, 2017). Fungi (e.g., *Penicillium polonicum, Phomopsis liquidambaris* and *Trichoderma harzianum*) with unique metal bioreducing abilities, were used for biosynthesis of AgNPs (Ahmed *et al.*, 2018). *Aspergillus brunneoviolaceus* (*A. brunneoviolaceus*), a marine-derived fungus, was used for synthesis of AgNPs with antibacterial and antioxidant properties. The biosynthesized AgNPs effectively inhibited both Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria and demonstrated potent radical

scavenging activity against 2,2-Diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) (Mistry *et al.*, 2021). However, some fungi, like *Foxysporum*, are potentially pathogenic, posing health risks in subsequent future applications (Xu *et al.*, 2020). Overall, microbial synthesis process is complex and involves numerous steps, such as isolation, culturing (time consuming) and maintenance, which is not feasible on an industrial scale (Dhaka *et al.*, 2023; Ramrakhiani & Ghosh, 2018).

1.6.3.1 Green synthesis methods using plant extracts

Plants are safer, and biocompatible compared to microorganisms (Szczyglewska *et al.*, 2023) and their use in the synthesis of plant-mediated MNPs will be cost-effective, renewable, ecofriendly and time-efficient (Ahmed *et al.*, 2016; Ahmeda *et al.*, 2020). Plant-mediated synthesis is a simple one-pot reaction that is easy to scale (Ahmed *et al.*, 2016; Ahmeda *et al.*, 2016; Ahmeda *et al.*, 2020). Plants have the potential to bioaccumulate heavy metals, enabling the transformation of metal ions into MNPs (Martínez Espinosa *et al.*, 2020). This method has been used to synthesize MNPs from noble metals, metal oxides, and bimetallic alloys such as Cu, Ag, and Au (Ahmad *et al.*, 2019). Alfalfa (*Medicago sativa*) sprouts were the first to synthesize AgNPs, and various plant species have been explored for MNPs production, examples include Au, Ag, Zn, Fe, Cu, and Pt. Plant extracts from aloe vera (*Aloe barbadensis* Miller), oat (*Avena sativa*), alfalfa, tulsi (*Osimum sanctum*), and lemon (*Citrus limon*), possess exemplary potential in reducing metal salt into NPs, such Ag-Au-Cu alloy NPs (Marchiol, 2012; Parveen *et al.*, 2016; Singh *et al.*, 2018).

The mechanism involved in the formation of AgNPs is displayed in **Figure 1.8**. In general, there are three phases in the production of MNPs from plant extracts: (i) activation stage: bioreduction and nucleation of metal ions/salts (Ag^0), (ii) Growth and coalescence phase: separation of small particles into large ones, creating clusters which continue to form until the particles are stable in shape and size, and (iii) termination phase: capping and stabilization of MNPs by plant biomolecules (Dias *et al.*, 2021; Glusker *et al.*, 1999). MNPs are reduced and stabilized by phytochemicals such as proteins, amino acids, polysaccharides, flavonoids, alkaloids, tannin, and polyphenols (Akintelu *et al.*, 2021; Dawoud *et al.*, 2021). These organic components contain a variety of functional groups, such as hydroxyl, carbonyl, and amidogen (Rengasamy *et al.*, 2016; Xu *et al.*, 2020), which can donate electrons to silver ions, resulting in the reduction of Ag^+ to Ag^0 , thereby generating stabilized AgNPs (Alamier *et al.*, 2022; Naseem *et al.*, 2020; Vanlalveni *et al.*, 2021; Vijayan *et al.*, 2018). The plant-derived approach

offers a quicker and easier method for synthesis including the purification of MNPs compared to the microbial mediated approach (Martínez Espinosa *et al.*, 2020; Salem & Fouda, 2021).



Figure 1.8: Steps involved in the formation of biogenic AgNPs (Adapted from Arya et al., 2019).

Synthesis of NPs based on biological precursors are influenced by reaction parameters such as solvent, temperature, pressure, pH, reaction duration, and reactant concentration (Seerengaraj Vijayaram *et al.*, 2023; Zhang *et al.*, 2020). Altering these parameters control the rate of NPs formation, and stability (Kaur *et al.*, 2021; Yadav *et al.*, 2015), resulting in production of MNPs with varying sizes and shapes (Jain *et al.*, 2021). The adjustment and modification of MNPs shape and size enhances their functionality for a broad spectrum of applications (Kaur *et al.*, 2021; Tsai *et al.*, 2022). The shape, size, and surface composition of MNPs can significantly influence their entry into cells and their bio-application (Alsaiari *et al.*, 2023). Previous studies have proven that MNPs synthesized using leaf extracts (*Ageratum houstonianum, Celastrus paniculatus, Hagenia abyssinica,* and *Jatropha curcas*) demonstrated photocatalytic, antifungal, and antibacterial properties (Chandraker *et al.*, 2020; Ghosh *et al.*, 2020; Kesharwani & Gajbhiye, 2023; Mali *et al.*, 2020). Therefore, phytomedicine in combination with green nanotechnology can effectively eradicate AMR burden and improve bacterial infections by overcoming the limitations of conventional antibiotics (Choi *et al.*, 2021).

1.7 Phytonanomedicine - Combatting Antibiotic-Resistant Bacteria using AgNPs

Plant-based MNPs have shown promising outcomes against life-threatening diseases like cancer, diabetes, neurodegenerative diseases, and cardiovascular diseases (Alabi & Badmus,

2023; Nampoothiri *et al.*, 2023; Samrot *et al.*, 2023). Biogenic MNPs are advantageous due to their enhanced bioactivity and biocompatibility (Kadu *et al.*, 2023; Praveen *et al.*, 2023), and have potential to overcome the limitations of traditional drug delivery systems and therapy (Kadu *et al.*, 2023). Plants have long been used in TMs as antibacterial, anti-inflammatory, antipyretic, and analgesic agents; and many contemporary pharmaceuticals are derived from their secondary metabolites (Hamburger & Hostettmann, 1991; Hussein & El-Anssary, 2019; Teoh & Teoh, 2016). Plant-based natural medicines independently, and/or combined with conventional therapies, have the ability to alleviate the consequences of current therapies. These natural therapies are less expensive, widely available, safe, and have less side effects than conventional medicines, making them a viable alternative for disease therapy (Hoseinzadeh *et al.*, 2014; Mirhosseini & Firouzabadi, 2015). The rise in synthetic compound has prompted the exploration and utilization of plant-based antimicrobial options (Fatima *et al.*, 2023). Many studies have shown that plant extracts can be an alternative to chemical synthesis approach which requires toxic chemicals (Das *et al.*, 2017; Dhaka *et al.*, 2023; Lee & Jun, 2019).

Green nanotechnology continues to show considerable promise in this particular field, and many medicinal plants have reportedly been employed to produce MNPs with more favourable biological activity (Ahmed *et al.*, 2016; Katas *et al.*, 2019). The effectiveness of antimicrobial activity of MNPs are significantly influenced by the particle size (Adibkia *et al.*, 2010; Buzea *et al.*, 2007). Independent studies demonstrated that because of their small size, NPs may be rapidly absorbed into cells and organelles. They can readily pass through cellular barriers, including the placenta and the blood-brain barrier (Mody *et al.*, 2009; Trickler *et al.*, 2010). The use of combination therapy with MNPs has the potential to eradicate the emergence of bacterial resistance to multiple antibacterial agents (Hoseinzadeh *et al.*, 2014; Mirhosseini & Firouzabadi, 2015).

Plant-synthesized MNPs, may have the potential to inhibit various resistant microbial species including both gram-negative (*E. coli*, *P. aeruginosa*, and *K. pneumoniae*) and gram-positive (*S. aureus* and *B. subtilis*) bacteria (Al Jahdaly *et al.*, 2021; Y.-G. Yuan *et al.*, 2017). Ag, Au, Pd, and Se NPs synthesized with diverse plant extracts (*Rosmarinus officinalis* leaf, *Moringa oleifera* petals, *Rosa hybrida* petal, Banana peel, *Asparagus racemosus* root, *Ocimum tenuiflorum* leaf) displayed significant antibacterial and antifungal activity against various bacteria and fungi (P. Dikshit *et al.*, 2021; Rabiee *et al.*, 2020). AgNPs are by far the most

widely studied antimicrobial agents. AgNPs synthesized from *Cymbopogan citratus* (lemon grass) leaf extract with sizes ranging from 15 to 65 nm, had a high antibacterial efficacy against *K. pneumoniae* (22 mm), *Shigella somenesis* (*S. somenesis*), *P. aeruginosa, E. coli, Proteus mirabilis* and *Shigella flexaneri* (*S. flexaneri*) (Geetha *et al.*, 2014; Masurkar *et al.*, 2011). *Phyllanthus pinnatus* (*P. pinnatus*) AgNPs demonstrated significant antibacterial activity against *Vibrio cholerae* and *S. flexneri* (Balachandar *et al.*, 2019). There are numerous studies on MNPs synthesized using indigenous South African plants (e.g., *Salvia africana-lutea, Sutherlandia frutescens, Galenia africana*) that exhibited high antibacterial activities compared to their respective plant extracts (Aboyewa *et al.*, 2021; Dube *et al.*, 2020; Elbagory *et al.*, 2016).

These findings suggested that the antibacterial activity of NPs is significantly influenced by their size. Numerous other studies have proven that NPs capacity to penetrate bacteria increases with decreasing NPs size (Bruna *et al.*, 2021; Loo *et al.*, 2018; P. R. More *et al.*, 2023; Yin *et al.*, 2020).

1.7.1 Biomedical applications of AgNPs

Historically, Ag was known as a broad-spectrum antimicrobial agent, which pilot to its use in many medical fields (Kumar & Yadav, 2009; Parak *et al.*, 2003; Sotiriou & Pratsinis, 2011), as catalytic, anti-viral, anti-bacterial, and anti-fungal agents (P. K. Dikshit *et al.*, 2021; Goyal *et al.*, 2019). Although still in use today, Ag have limitations such as high cost, skin discoloration, nervous system disturbance, pneumothorax, and partial healing (Mihai *et al.*, 2019). MNPs pose a significant threat to human health and the environment due to their potential cytotoxic effects. These NPs can accumulate in various organs, including the liver, lungs, spleen, and kidneys (Luceri *et al.*, 2023; Zhang *et al.*, 2014). Ag, in its ionic form, is more toxic than NPs, possibly due to different biokinetics. AgNPs and ions exhibit similar toxicity patterns, with AgNPs primarily mediated by released ions (Hadrup *et al.*, 2020; Hyun *et al.*, 2008; Mathur *et al.*, 2018). The toxic effects depend on time of exposure, dose (Luther *et al.*, 2011), NP size (Liu *et al.*, 2010), shape (Liu *et al.*, 2010), and surface coating present (Ahamed *et al.*, 2008; Luceri *et al.*, 2023; Stoehr *et al.*, 2011).

In recent years, properties of Ag can be made selective by reducing their size to nanoscale. This size allows them to pass through various barriers, enhancing their pharmacological activities (Elsaesser & Howard, 2012) and higher activity compared to pure silver metal (Ali

et al., 2022; Qamer *et al.*, 2021). These properties can overcome drug resistance in pathogenic bacteria (Jiang & Pinchuk, 2015). AgNPs were reported to have bactericidal effect on 650 pathogens, without promoting resistance mechanisms (Talapko *et al.*, 2018; Wang *et al.*, 2017).

The main applications of AgNPs in medicine are in diagnostics and therapy (Mathur *et al.*, 2018). Clinical trials are underway for over 26 nanovaccine candidates, with 60 more in preclinical advance (Vu *et al.*, 2021). NPs are being used in COVID-19 diagnostic testing to enhance medication transfer efficiency and eliminate waiting periods (Chowdhury *et al.*, 2021). This technology may prove beneficial in time-sensitive COVID-19 testing (Kusumoputro *et al.*, 2020; Norouzi *et al.*, 2019; Yasamineh *et al.*, 2022). According to literature, ESKAPE pathogens, including Gram-negative *P. aeruginosa*, are causing a growing need for novel antibiotic alternatives. Nanotechnology has enabled researchers to use AgNPs as antibacterial agents, as demonstrated by Bankalgi *et al.* (2016), which showed strong antibacterial effects against Gram-negative *P. aeruginosa* and *Enterobacter aerogenes* (Bankalgi *et al.*, 2016; Jiang *et al.*, 2018; Klasen, 2000a, 2000b). Ag is utilized in health sector facilities and agriculture for disinfection, while AgNPs are utilized in orthopaedics, dentistry, intelligent food packaging, and textiles as coatings, additives, including textiles (Bakis *et al.*, 2002; Butola, 2018; Deshmukh *et al.*, 2019; E. A. Kukushkina *et al.*, 2021; Tjong, 2006).

Fennel's green-synthesized AgNPs exhibited potent antibacterial properties against MRSA clinical isolates (Fatima *et al.*, 2023). Their smaller size allows for easier penetration through cell membranes, altering bacterial cell processes. AgNPs with diameters ranging from 38 to 72 nm and 17 to 29 nm can be synthesized using *Chrysanthemum indicum* or *Acacia leucophloea* extract, with excellent antibacterial activity (Arokiyaraj *et al.*, 2014; Murugan *et al.*, 2014). Both samples had excellent antibacterial effects. Similarly, *Ganoderma neojaponicum Imazeki* AgNPs showed potential in chemotherapeutics against breast cancer cells (Gurunathan *et al.*, 2014; Qamer *et al.*, 2021).

A study reported, biogenic synthesis using *Origanum majorana* (*O. majorana*) leaf extract (Yassin *et al.*, 2022a). AgNPs with an average particle size of 26.63 nm demonstrated antibacterial efficacy against MDR bacterial strains (Yassin *et al.*, 2022b). Earlier, another study published in 2018 by Shaik *et al.* confirmed the green synthesis of AgNPs, demonstrating antibacterial activity against both Gram-negative (e.g., *E. coli, P. aeruginosa, S. typhi*, and *S. sonnei*) and Gram-positive (e.g., *M. luteus, S. epidermidis*, MRSA and *S. aureus*) bacterial strains and pathogenic fungi (*A. flavus, A. alternate, P. alba*, and *P. variotii*). The bacterial

strains had inhibition zones ranging from 12 to 19 mm in diameter (Shaik *et al.*, 2018; Yassin *et al.*, 2022b). These NPs effectively coated hospital and critical care unit surfaces, limiting the level of MDR nosocomial bacterial infection, demonstrating their potential in antimicrobial applications (Alsaiari *et al.*, 2023).

Biomedical research utilizes green-synthesized NPs for drug delivery, bioimaging, biosensors, and biomolecular recognition. These bioactive materials can be incorporated into everyday products like humidifiers, water purification systems, deodorant, toothpaste, and cosmetics (Alsaiari *et al.*, 2023). Numerous independent studies have reported the application of MNPs, particularly Ag, Au, Co, and Zn, as wound healing, tissue treatment, immunotherapy, regenerative medicine, dentistry, antibacterial, anticancer (e.g., chemotherapy), drug delivery, contrast, and bioimaging agents has revolutionized medicine (Gupta *et al.*, 2023; Pandit *et al.*, 2022; Sibuyi *et al.*, 2021).

The recent advances in the field of green synthesis have inspired scientists and researchers to explore its potential against pathogenic microbes (Nisar *et al.*, 2019). These properties include improved bioavailability, solubility, toxicity safeguard, and increased drug stability, making them a highly researched domain (Zoroddu *et al.*, 2014). Therefore, it is necessary to create innovative, green synthetic antimicrobial agents that are efficient against bacteria that are resistant to antibiotics, inexpensive, non-toxic to normal cells with minimal resistance in AMR. Recent studies have shown AgNPs, synthesized via green processes, have gained popularity in the biomedical field for healing skin wounds due to their versatile activity against pathogenic bacteria and minimal toxicity towards mammalian cells (Haghniaz *et al.*, 2021; Pangli *et al.*, 2021).

Nanosilver-based materials such as dressings, antimicrobial gel formulations, medical catheters, instruments, implants, contact lens coatings; are used in orthopaedics and wound healing to prevent microbial colonization (Nandhini *et al.*, 2023; Pangli *et al.*, 2021). Moreover, surface modification is easily achievable, and modified for targeted drug delivery and high antibacterial efficacy, making them ideal for various applications (Jana & Pal, 2007; Nandhini *et al.*, 2023). Several clinical trials on AgNPs-based products exist for various applications, including dental applications (Ahmed *et al.*, 2022; Simon *et al.*, 2022).

1.8 Mechanisms of antibacterial effects of silver nanoparticles (AgNPs)

The bacteria may develop resistance towards antibiotics following several mechanisms, as discussed in section 1.3.1 (Chiş *et al.*, 2022; Uruén *et al.*, 2020). Gram-positive bacteria exhibit intrinsic resistance through: (i) restrictive drug uptake, (ii) inactivation of drug, (iii) active drug efflux, and (iv) reactive oxygen species (ROS) production. While acquired resistance may involve (v) modification of the drug target of the microbial cell, inactivation of drug molecule, and drug efflux pump (Blair *et al.*, 2014; Rehman, 2023). Gram-negative bacteria may opt for all four main mechanisms, while Gram-positive bacteria mostly adopt restrictive drug uptake due to their lack of the peptidoglycan layers, which causes a barrier to various drug molecules resulting in innate drug resistance (Chancey *et al.*, 2012; Rehman, 2023).

AgNPs have previously been extensively researched as novel antimicrobial agents and exhibited broad-spectrum antibacterial action against multiple Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria (Cavassin *et al.*, 2015; Ekaterina A Kukushkina *et al.*, 2021). Surface charge and size play a significant role in their bactericidal effects. AgNPs with a positive charge are most potent against all bacterial species (Abbaszadegan *et al.*, 2015), with smaller AgNPs in the 1 to 10 nm range showing increased activities (Dakal *et al.*, 2016; Talapko *et al.*, 2020).

The antibacterial mechanisms of action of AgNPs are still not clear although a number of potential interactions between AgNPs and pathogens have been proposed (E. A. Kukushkina *et al.*, 2021). The four main actions of AgNPs are displayed in **Figure 1.9**, (1) AgNPs adhere to a cell surface via interactions with thiolated molecules, damaging its membrane and allowing their uptake (Prabhu & Poulose, 2012), (2) AgNPs penetrate the cell, interacting with various cellular components, altering organelles and cellular function, (3) they generate ROS, inducing cellular damage and genotoxicity, (4) release of Ag⁺ induce the genotoxicity and disrupt cellular signals (Prabhu & Poulose, 2012). Previous studies have implicated Ag⁺ as the primary cause of AgNPs antibacterial activity. Ag⁺ interact with DNA and peptides by binding to amines, phosphates, and thiols (Le Ouay & Stellacci, 2015; Lee & Jun, 2019; Menichetti *et al.*, 2023).





The bacterial envelope is disrupted when Ag^+ attach to the cell wall or cytoplasmic membrane, thus enhancing the permeability of the cell. When free Ag^+ are taken up by cells, they deactivate respiratory enzymes, generating ROS and interrupting adenosine triphosphate (ATP) production (Arya *et al.*, 2023; P. R. More *et al.*, 2023; Pragati Rajendra More *et al.*, 2023). ROS is the principal species that provokes the activity of DNA modification and cell membrane disruption. Interaction of AgNPs with sulfur and phosphorus containing biomolecules alters DNA replication, cell reproduction and inhibition of protein synthesis resulting in bacterial death (Dakal *et al.*, 2016; Pragati Rajendra More *et al.*, 2023). This suggests that AgNPs are likely to have unique targets or ability to override the mechanisms that promote the MDR (Lee, 2019; Prasher *et al.*, 2018; Y. G. Yuan *et al.*, 2017).

AgNPs can inhibit and/or kill a variety of microorganisms following different mechanisms to conventional therapy, and a potential to escape microbial resistance and treat biofilm (Essghaier, Ben Khedher, *et al.*, 2022; Essghaier, Toukabri, *et al.*, 2022; Gomaa, 2017; Ravindran *et al.*, 2018; Yener *et al.*, 2020). AgNPs inhibited *P. aeruginosa* biofilm formation and showed bactericidal effects on existing biofilm further confirming that these NPs may find application in the prevention and treatment of biofilm-related infections, as well as ESKAPE pathogens (Talapko *et al.*, 2020). Plant-synthesized AgNPs can be an alternative approach to combat AMR, offering a cost-effective and environmentally safe option to circumvent limitations of current treatments (Essghaier, Ben Khedher, *et al.*, 2022;

Prabhakar & Doble, 2011). Natural agents have shown potential in synthesizing NPs with antibacterial activity against AMR pathogens and bacterial biofilms (Moradi *et al.*, 2023b). This motivated the choice of plant species (*Eucomis autumnalis*) used in this study.

1.9 Aim and objectives

The aim of this study was to synthesize biogenic AgNPs using aqueous *E. autumnalis* bulb extract and investigate their antibacterial activity.

The objectives of this research were to:

- 1. Prepare an aqueous extract from E. autumnalis bulb
- 2. Optimize the reaction conditions and evaluate the effect of the pH, temperature, extract concentration, AgNO₃ concentration, and reaction time on the synthesis of AgNPs using the aqueous bulb extract
- 3. Synthesize AgNPs using all the optimized conditions for EABE-AgNPs synthesis
- 4. Characterize the biogenic EABE-AgNPs
- 5. Determine the stability of the EABE-AgNPs in various media
- 6. Assess the antibacterial activity of the EABE-AgNPs and EABE against ESKAPE pathogens

1.10 Hypothesis

Eucomis autumnalis possess phytochemicals that can reduce, stabilize, and produce AgNPs with antibacterial properties.

CHAPTER 2: MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Materials – Reagents, Equipment, and Suppliers

Table 2.1: Materials and reagents used and their suppliers.

Materials and reagents used	Supplier	Company location
AlamarBlue [™] cell viability reagent	Thermo Fisher Scientific	Massachusetts, United
		States of America (USA)
Ciprofloxacin	Sigma-Aldrich	Missouri, USA
Conical tubes (15 ml and 50 ml)	SPL Life Sciences	Kyonggi-do, South Korea
Disposable cuvette (DTS0012)	Malvern Instruments	Worcestershire, United
		Kingdom (UK)
Disposable folded capillary cell	Malvern Instruments	Worcestershire, UK
(DTS1070)		
Hydrochloric acid (HCl)	Merck	New Jersey, USA
Millipore 0.45-micron filter paper	Sigma-Aldrich	Missouri, USA
Millipore Ultra-purified distilled	Thermo Fisher Scientific	Massachusetts, USA
water (18.2 M Ω cm at 25 °C)		
Mueller Hinton agar	Sigma-Aldrich	Missouri, USA
Mueller Hinton broth	Sigma-Aldrich	Missouri, USA
Sodium carbonate (Na ₂ CO ₃)	Sigma-Aldrich	Missouri, USA
Nitric acid (HNO ₃)	Kimix	Cape Town, Republic of
WES	TERN C	South Africa (RSA)
Polystyrene 96-well microtiter TM plates	Greiner Bio-One (Lasec)	Cape Town, RSA
Silver nitrate (AgNO ₃)	Sigma-Aldrich	Missouri, USA
Sodium hydroxide (NaOH)	Sigma-Aldrich	Missouri, USA
Sterile cotton swabs	Lasec	Cape Town, RSA
Sterile loops	Lasec	Cape Town, RSA
Whatman No. 1 filter paper	Sigma-Aldrich	Missouri, USA

Table 2.2:	Equipment	used and	their s	uppliers.
1 4010 2121	Equipment	abea ana	unem b	appnens.

Equipment	Supplier	Company location		
Analytical weighing balance	Ohaus Adventurer	New Jersey, USA		
Blender	Panasonic	Osaka, Japan		
Centrifuge 5415D	Eppendorf	Hamburg, Germany		
High-Resolution Transmission Electron	Thermo Fisher Scientific	Massachusetts, USA		
Microscope (FEI Tecnai G2 20 FEG)				
IncoTherm Oven	Labotec	Cape Town, RSA		
Incubator	Thermo Fisher Scientific	Massachusetts, USA		
Fourier-Transform Infrared	Perkin Elmer	Waltham, USA		
Spectrophotometer Perkin Elmer				
Spectrum 400				
Laminar flow hood	Thermo Fisher Scientific	Massachusetts, USA		
pH meter – Crison Basic 20	Lasec	Cape Town, RSA		
POLARstar Omega Plate Reader	BMG Labtech	Ortenberg, Germany		
Sorvall Lynx 6000 Centrifuge	Thermo Fisher Scientific	Massachusetts, USA		
Stuart Heat-Stir CB162 Hot Plate	Lasec	Cape Town, RSA		
Thermomixer Comfort	Eppendorf	Hamburg, Germany		
Varian 710-ES Inductively Coupled	Varian	California, USA		
Plasma Optical Emission Spectrometer				
Zetasizer – Nano-ZS90 System	Malvern Instruments	Worcestershire, UK		

WESTERN CAPE

Table 2.3: Bacterial strains used in this study and their suppliers.

Bacterial strains	Gram reaction	ATCC number
Staphylococcus aureus	Gram-positive	25923
Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus	Gram-positive	33591
Streptococcus pyogenes	Gram-positive	19615
Escherichia coli	Gram negative	35218
Klebsiella pneumoniae	Gram negative	27853
Pseudomonas aeruginosa	Gram negative	13883
Acinetobacter baumannii	Gram negative	19606

2.2 Research Methodology

2.2.1 Preparation of aqueous extract of E. autumnalis

E. autumnalis bulbs were collected by Prof. Abram Madiehe in Kuilsriver, Cape Town, SA. The bulbs were peeled, then cleaned to remove soil and other impurities. The bulbs were cut into small pieces, using a sterile blade. The plant material was dried in an oven for 24 hrs at 70 °C. The dry plant material was homogenized using a blender (Panasonic, Osaka, Japan). Five grams (5g) of the plant powder was added to 100 ml of boiling distilled deionized water (ddH₂O) and stirred for 18 hrs at room temperature (RT). The mixture was centrifuged at 9 000 revolutions per minute (rpm) for 10 mins at RT. The supernatant was vacuum filtered using a Whatman No. 1 filter paper and further micro-filtered using Millipore 0.45 µm filter paper. The *E. autumnalis* aqueous bulb extract (EABE) was stored at -20 °C in aliquots for further use.

2.2.2 Optimization and synthesis of EABE-AgNPs

EABE and 1 mM AgNO₃ were mixed in a volume ratio of 1:10 (v/v) in a final reaction volume of 400 μ l and placed in an Eppendorf thermomixer for the optimization of synthesis conditions. The original pH of EABE was 5.2. The influence of various reaction parameters were investigated namely, pH, temperature, the concentration of EABE, and the concentration of AgNO₃, on the synthesis of EABE-AgNPs. These parameters were altered for each set of reactions, and the optimum conditions for EABE-AgNPs synthesis were determined. The experiments were performed in triplicate.

2.2.2.1 Effect of pH vs. temperature on EABE-AgNPs synthesis

A stock of 1 % EABE was prepared in sterile ddH₂O and adjusted to a range of pH values (pH 8, 9, 10, 11 and 12). First, the biological pH (unpH) of the EABE was determined (pH 5.2), then the pH was adjusted with 0.1 M NaOH. The final concentration of all newly prepared samples was, 0.5% EABE. The EABE samples were centrifuged at 13 200 rpm for 10 min and the pellet was discarded. The supernatants were used in the synthesis of the EABE-AgNPs. Subsequently, 40 μ l of 1% EABE concentration at the various pH values were mixed with 360 μ l of 1 mM AgNO₃ in 2 ml tubes. The samples were placed in an Eppendorf thermomixer comfort, shaking at 750 rpm for 1 hr (exposure time) at 100, 90, 80 and 70, expect at 25 °C, no shaking. After

synthesis at each temperature, the EABE-AgNPs were cooled to RT and centrifuged for 15 min at 14 200 rpm. The supernatants were removed, and the pellets were resuspended in 400 μ l of sterile ddH₂O. The experiments were performed in triplicate.

2.2.2.2 Effect of EABE concentration on EABE-AgNPs synthesis

Various extract concentrations ranging from 0.5 - 3% of the EABE for each sample were used for AgNPs synthesis. Forty microlitres (40 µl) EABE of each concentration, at pH 12, were mixed with 360 µl of 1 mM AgNO₃. The synthesis was conducted as before for 1 hr at 90 °C.

2.2.2.3 Effect of AgNO₃ concentration on EABE-AgNPs synthesis

Up until this point, all AgNPs were synthesized using 1mM AgNO₃. Forty microlitres (40 μ l) of EABE (0.5 %, pH 12) and various concentrations of AgNO₃ (0.5 1, 2 and 3 mM) were prepared in a volume ratio of 1:10 (v/v) in a final reaction volume of 400 μ l. The samples were placed in an Eppendorf thermomixer comfort and subjected to similar synthesis parameters using optimised, shaking at 750 rpm for 1 hr at 90 °C.

2.2.2.4 Effect of EABE vs AgNO₃ volume ratios on EABE-AgNPs synthesis

Up until this point, all AgNPs were synthesized in a volume ratio of 1:10 (v/v), in a final reaction volume of 400 μ l. Synthesis was performed with various volume ratios [1:1; 1:4; 1:7 and 1:10 (v/v)] using optimised pH, temperature, concentrations of precursor and extracts.

2.2.2.5 Effect of reaction time on EABE-AgNPs synthesis

EABE-AgNPs synthesis was carried out using the following optimum conditions: pH 12 extract, 90 °C with 750 rpm shaking, using 0.5% EABE (2mM AgNO₃) and 1:7 (v/v) ratio. The samples were placed in an Eppendorf thermomixer comfort and UV-vis spectra were measured after 0, 1, 2.5, 5, 10, 15, 20, 30, 60, 90, 120, 150, 180, 240, 300, 360, 720 and 1440 min.

2.2.2.6 Upscaling of EABE-AgNPs synthesis using optimal conditions

The EABE-AgNPs synthesis was upscaled to a final volume of 50 ml, briefly: 7.14 ml of 2mM AgNO₃ was heated to 90 °C then 42.86 ml of 0.5% EABE (pH 12) was added, and the reaction was allowed to continue for 90 min at 750 rpm. After synthesis, the EABE-AgNPs samples were washed in ddH_2O and recovered by centrifugation at 14 200 rpm for 15 min. The pellet was

resuspended in sterile ddH₂O to a final volume of 50 ml. This experiment was performed in triplicate.

2.2.3 Characterization of EABE-AgNPs synthesis

2.2.3.1 Ultraviolet-visible spectroscopy (UV-vis)

Ultraviolet-visible spectroscopy (UV-vis) spectroscopy was used to determine the optical properties of the biogenic AgNPs, by observing the Surface Plasmon Resonance (SPR) of the synthesized EABE-AgNPs. The EABE-AgNPs were diluted in a 1:10 (v/v) ratio with sterile ddH₂O in a final volume of 300 μ l in a 96 well plate, the absorbance spectra were measured on a POLAR star Omega microplate reader at a wavelength (λ) range of 300 to 800 nm. The generated data was analysed using Microsoft Excel software.

2.2.3.2 Dynamic Light Scattering analysis (DLS)

EABE-AgNPs were characterized using Malvern Zetasizer Nano-ZS90 System to measure the particle hydrodynamic size, size distribution, polydispersity index (PDI) and zeta potential (ζ -potential) values at RT. To determine the hydrodynamic size and PDI, 1 ml of EABE-AgNPs were diluted 1:10 (v/v) in ddH₂O and transferred into a 10 mm optical density square polystyrene cuvette. Three measurements were read per samples and averaged to obtain the mean hydrodynamic size of the NPs. For ζ -potential measurements, 0.7 ml of the AgNPs was transferred into a disposable folded capillary DTS1070 cell, and then analysed at a voltage of 4 mV at RT at 90° angle. The ζ -potential was determined in triplicate.

2.2.3.3 High-Resolution Transmission Electron Microscopy analysis (HR-TEM)

HR-TEM was used to characterize the morphology and core size of EABE-AgNPs. The analysis was performed at the University of Cape Town (UCT). The sample was diluted with ddH₂O at a 1:10 ratio and one drop of the sample was placed onto a carbon-coated copper grid. Samples were then allowed to dry under a xenon lamp for 10 min before being analysed and viewed using an FEI Tecnai G2 20 field-emission gun HR-TEM microscope operated in bright field mode at an accelerating voltage of 200 kV. The particle size distribution was determined using Image J software (Version 1.54g, National Institute of Health, USA).

2.2.3.4 Fourier-transform infrared spectroscopy (FTIR)

The functional groups found in the EABE-AgNPs were determined using FTIR. The EABE and EABE-AgNPs were dried and taken for FTIR analysis at the Department of Chemical Science, (University of the Western Cape). The EABE-AgNPs were placed at 90 °C for 1 hr, then allowed to cool at RT. The EABE-AgNPs were centrifuged at 14 200 rpm (RT) for 15 min. The AgNPs were air dried. Potassium bromide (KBr) powder was used for background correction. The EABE and EABE-AgNPs powders were individually mixed and ground with KBr in a pestle and mortar. The resultant powdered mixtures were pressed into a pellet and analysed using a Perkin Elmer Spectrum 400 FTIR spectrometer. The spectra were collected in the 4 000 – 400 cm⁻¹ at 2 cm⁻¹ resolution. The measurements were done using attenuated total reflectance (ATR) accessory. The data was analysed using OriginLab 8 Pro 2023b (Northampton, USA) software.

2.2.3.5 Induced coupled plasma optical emission spectrometry (ICP-OES)

Induced coupled plasma optical emission spectrometry (ICP-OES) (Agilent 5900 ICP-OES), was used to quantify the concentration of EABE-AgNPs. The Ag content in EABE-AgNPs was determined by ICP-OES following HCl/nitric acid digestion. EABE-AgNPs (1 ml) were centrifuged at 13 200 rpm for 15 mins at RT. The concentrated pellet was transferred to a clean glass vial, then lysed with 2 ml of aqua regia (3 HCl:1 HNO₃) solution. The sample was digested by incubation at 90 °C for 90 min. After incubation, the samples were then diluted with 2% HCl to a final volume of 10 ml. These samples were then analysed for total silver content by a Varian 710-ES ICP-OES (Varian) at the Chemistry Department (University of the Western Cape). The experiments were performed in triplicate, the values reported were based on a calibration curve using a silver ICP standard (Sigma- Aldrich). The concentration of silver in the sample was calculated using the below formula:

Concentration of silver $(\mu g/ml) = Amount of silver detected \times dilution factor$

2.2.3.6 Stability analysis of EABE-AgNPs

The stability of the EABE-AgNPs were evaluated in various physiological mediums, namely Mueller Hinton broth (MHB), ddH₂O, and dH₂O. Briefly, 1ml of EABE-AgNPs were mixed with ddH₂O, dH₂O and MHB [1:1 (v/v)] respectively, in a final volume of 2 ml. The tubes were incubated at 37 °C, 100 μ l aliquots were added in a 96-well plate at 0, 1, 3, 6, 24 and 48 hours.

40

The stability of the EABE-AgNPs was determined by observing any changes (SPR wavelength) in the UV-vis spectra (POLARstar Omega microplate reader, BMG Labtech, Germany) measurements in a range of 300-900 nm. The experiment was performed in triplicate.

2.2.4 Antibacterial activity of EABE-AgNPs

The antibacterial activity of the synthesized EABE-AgNPs was evaluated by using agar well diffusion method, minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) and minimum bactericidal concentration (MBC) assays. Seven bacterial strains (**Table 2.3**) were used for this study. All the bacterial strains used in this study were purchased from American Type Culture Collection (ATCC) (Virginia, USA) and used as representative bacterial strains for the testing of the antibacterial activity of the EABE-AgNPs.

2.2.4.1 Bacterial culture

Individual bacterial strains were cultured on Mueller Hinton agar (MHA) plates and incubated at 37 °C for 24 hrs. Single colonies from the individual bacterial culture were inoculated in 2 ml of MHB mixed well and incubated for 2 hours at 37 °C in a shaking Thermo Fisher Scientific incubator (Massachusetts, USA) at 200 rpm. Following incubation, the bacterial suspensions were cultured until they read an absorbance unit (a.u) or optical density (OD) of 0.08 - 0.12 at a wavelength of 600 nm and diluted 1:150 in fresh MHB which is equivalent to 0.5 McFarland turbidity standard (~ 1.5×10^8 CFU/ml).

2.2.4.2 Determination of antibacterial activity using agar well diffusion method

The antibacterial activity of the EABE and EABE-AgNPs was studied against various Grampositive and Gram-negative bacterial strains (**Table 2.3**), on MHA plates using the agar welldiffusion assay according to the method of (Dhand *et al.*, 2015). The assay was used to evaluate the inhibition of bacterial growth by the EABE-AgNPs. The bacterial suspensions were adjusted to 0.5 MacFarland, using a sterile cotton swab, the cultures were uniformly spread onto MHA plates. Subsequently, seven wells (6 mm in diameter) were punched into the MHA plates using a sterile P200 yellow tip. The wells were then filled with 50 µl of five different concentrations of EABE-AgNPs. For the negative control, 50 µl of MHB was added to the well. While Ciprofloxacin (standard antibiotic) was used as a positive control, 50 µl of 15 µg/ml Ciprofloxacin was used for all strains, except for *E. coli* where 10 µg/ml Ciprofloxacin was used. The MHA plates were allowed to dry for 1 hr before being inverted, then incubated at 37 °C for

24 hours. The zone of inhibition (ZOI) was measured using a Vernier caliper. Antimicrobial effects of EABE and EABE-AgNPs were indicated by the formation of a clear zone around the wells. The experiment was performed in triplicate.

2.2.4.3 Microdilution assay for minimum inhibitory concentration and minimum bactericidal concentration (MIC)

The MIC, defined as the lowest concentration of treatments required to inhibit the visible growth, was evaluated by microdilution assay using the resazurin microtiter assay (Serker *et al.*, 2020). The bacterial suspensions of the strains were adjusted to a 0.5 MacFarland turbidity standard and diluted in a 1:150 (v/v) ratio with MHB as described in **2.2.4.1**. Fifty microliters (50 µl) of the bacterial suspensions were added to a Greiner 96-well plate containing 50 µl of treatments (EABE, EABE-AgNPs and Ciprofloxacin, serially diluted in MHB) into 64.5, 32.3, 16.1, 8.0, 4.0 2.0, 1.0 and 0.5 µg/ml for EABE-AgNPs; 5 – 0.03% for EABE; and 15 – 0.01 µg/ml Ciprofloxacin. All treatments were done in triplicate. For the negative control, 50 µl of MHB was added to the well. The plates were incubated at 37 °C for 24 hrs. Subsequently, 10 µl of AlamarBlueTM dye (resazurin) was added in each well, covered in foil and incubated for 4 hours. The MIC was measured by spectrophotometry at 570 nm and a fluorescence excitation/emission wavelength of 530-560/590 nm. The experiment was performed in triplicate. The OD was measured before the AlamarBlueTM dye, data not shown.

2.2.4.4 Determination of Minimum bactericidal concentration (MBC)

The MBC was determined by sub-culturing a loopful of bacterial culture/treatment mixture from the wells that showed no microbial growth of microorganisms in the microdilution assay onto MHA plates. The plates were incubated at 37 °C for 24 hrs. The MBC was recorded as the lowest concentration at which no growth was observed on the MHA plates. The experiment was performed in triplicate.

CHAPTER 3: RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Eucomis autumnalis has a long history in TMs, and their ability to bio-accumulate and reduce Ag^+ has generated interest in their usage as an alternate technique for manufacturing AgNPs (Maroyi, 2017). Green nanotechnology is a rapidly growing research field that aligns with the sustainable development goals (SDG), that focuses on sustainable green (biosynthesis) methods (Matlin *et al.*, 2015; Seerengaraj Vijayaram *et al.*, 2023). The major advantages of plant-mediated synthesis of MNPs includes accessibility, abundance, safety and a broad variety of metabolites; thus, making them a sustainable and economical source of bioreducing agents (Gorlenko *et al.*, 2020). In recent years, plant-synthesized (biogenic) AgNPs have gained attention due to their antibacterial properties. Moreover, plants are a safer and more efficient method for AgNPs synthesis, as phytochemicals serve as both reducing and stabilizing agents (Soltani *et al.*, 2023; Soni *et al.*, 2021; Subramanian *et al.*, 2015). It has been established that secondary metabolites (phenolic and flavonoid compounds) found in plant stabilize and prevents aggregation of MNPs (Narayanan & Sakthivel, 2011; Roy & Das, 2015).

Over the past few decades, researchers have studied AgNPs potential in many biological applications. In wound healing, specifically on prostheses and catheters, were shown to prevent bacterial colonization and reduce infection in burn wounds. Other potential applications include anticancer, antimicrobial, and antidiabetic treatments (Raskin, 1996; Salabat & Mirhoseini, 2018, 2022). They are increasingly used in these treatments due to their ability to penetrate diseased cells (Asimuddin et al., 2020) based on their size, shape, chemical composition, morphology, surface charge, and stability. Understanding and modifying reaction parameters directly affect nanomaterial behaviour in downstream applications, making it essential for effective therapeutic applications (Kim et al., 2007; Shukla & Iravani, 2018). Stable and monodispersed (uniform size and shape) biogenic AgNPs can be produced by controlling different factors such as pH, temperature, reaction time, concentration of plant extract and concentration of metal precursor (Benelmekki, 2015; Li et al., 2014; S. Vijayaram et al., 2023). Thus, modifying and optimizing the parameters of biogenic EABE-AgNPs can potentially enhance its antibacterial efficacy, thus reducing the development of AMR (Kim et al., 2007; Shukla & Iravani, 2018). This chapter reports on green synthesis, characterization, and antibacterial effects of EABE-AgNPs against seven pathogenic bacteria associated with AMR: S. aureus, MRSA, S. pyogenes, E. coli, K. pneumoniae, P. aeruginosa and A. baumannii.

3.1 Visual observation of synthesis of EABE-AgNPs

Green synthesis of AgNPs was mediated by EABE as the reducing agent and AgNO₃ as the Ag⁺ precursor. As shown in **Figure 3.1**, the bioreduction reaction was visually observed after the EABE and AgNO₃ reaction mixture changed from translucent yellow to a brownish colour, indicating the successful formation of biogenic EABE-AgNPs. The colour change can be attributed to the SPR and bioreduction of pure metal Ag⁺ by phytochemicals present in the EABE (Panigrahi, 2013). Previous studies reported colours ranging from yellow and brown as a characteristic colour that confirms the formation of AgNPs (Aisida *et al.*, 2019; Patel *et al.*, 2023). The colour change is commonly visualized as a preliminary screening technique by researchers (Tesfaye *et al.*, 2023). AgNPs exhibit a specific colour change in solution due to SPR in the visible region of the electromagnetic spectrum, as measured using UV-visible spectrometry, attributed to the SPR in the visible region (Amendola *et al.*, 2010). A significant method of characterizing AgNPs is the distinctive absorption band, which varies in wavelength from 400 to 500 nm and is produced by the collective oscillation of free electrons in AgNPs during exposure of the electromagnetic radiation.



Figure 3.1: Schematic diagram of EABE-mediated synthesis of AgNPs.

3.2. Characterization of synthesized EABE-AgNPs

3.2.1. Ultraviolet-visible Spectroscopy of EABE-AgNPs

The application and physicochemical properties of EABE-AgNPs are influenced by various reaction conditions like pH, temperature, extract, and concentration of the precursor (Dhanjal *et al.*, 2022; Srikar *et al.*, 2016). Synthesis of AgNPs during optimization of these parameters were visually detected. The UV-Vis absorbance spectra readings were confirmed in the wavelength

range of 300 to 800 nm. The SPR effect, a phenomenon involving the refraction of light, has been a key component in assessing the formation of AgNPs, which exhibit a distinct absorption band in the visible region of the electromagnetic spectrum (Liaqat *et al.*, 2022). The UV-Vis spectra or SPR band provide a qualitative understanding of the concentration and shapes of AgNPs (Ndikau *et al.*, 2017; Riaz *et al.*, 2021). When particle size increases, a red shift to a longer wavelength is observed, while smaller sizes will have a blue shift (El-Sherbiny *et al.*, 2016; Shukla & Iravani, 2018). The size and shape of the NPs are crucial for downstream applications (Khan *et al.*, 2019). The SPR band of EABE-AgNPs was monitored in all optimization steps to confirm the successful synthesis.

3.2.1.1 Effect of pH vs. temperature on EABE-AgNPs

The effect of varying pH of EABE and synthesis temperatures on the formation of EABE-AgNPs are displayed in **Figure 3.2**. Each experiment was performed for 1 hr at 750 rpm, at the respective temperatures. The SPR peak in the UV-vis absorption spectra indicated successful formation of EABE-AgNPs, and the influence that pH and temperature had on the shape, size, and concentration of EABE-AgNPs. According to literature, the SPR band of AgNPs can be observed in the range of 380-500 nm (Ashraf *et al.*, 2016; Sastry *et al.*, 1997), AgNPs with a colour range from yellow to dark brown usually have a spectra at 400-550 nm. These findings also align with previous studies on plant synthesized AgNPs which resulted in pale yellow to brown colours (Aromal & Philip, 2012; Moond, Singh, Sangwan, Devi, Beniwal, *et al.*, 2023).

WESTERN CAPE



Figure 3.2: UV-vis absorption spectra for various reactions showing the effect of varying pH and temperatures on the formation of EABE-AgNPs (A: 25, B: 70, C: 80, D: 90, E: 100 °C and F: EABE-AgNPs at optimal pH 12 and various temperatures).

46

Synthesis of EABE-AgNPs was pH and temperature dependent, at RT (25 °C) broad spectra was seen only at higher extract pH 10 to 12 as depicted in **Figure 3.2 A**. The EABE was not able to reduce Ag⁺ to AgNPs at 25 °C for pH 8 and 9. The reaction mixtures in these conditions showed no colour change and were further confirmed by a flat spectrum. The SPR peaks (λ_{max}) at 25 °C were either flat or broad with a λ_{max} , below 0.2 with no significant colour change in the reaction mixture. The synthesis at this temperature was not favourable for the optimal synthesis of EABE-AgNPs, due to the low OD observed. Thus, indicating the synthesis was unsuccessful at low temperatures.

The reduction of the Ag⁺ to Ag⁰ occurred at 70 °C, with a sharp narrow SPR peak observed for pH 12 as shown in **Figure 3.2 B**. The EABE-AgNPs synthesized at pH 8, 9, and 11, had broader peaks with SPR (λ_{max}) at 414, 415, 414 and 408 nm corresponding to OD values of 0.446, 0.047, 0.088 and 0.140, respectively. This indicated at lower pH values, acidic conditions are not favourable for the synthesis of AgNPs. According to literature the size of NPs are significantly influenced by pH, with acidic media resulting in larger particle sizes (Gontijo *et al.*, 2020; Khalil *et al.*, 2014). These results indicated that pH 12 had a narrow λ_{max} at 398 nm with an OD of 0.541 which was significantly higher than the lower pH values. This indicated that monodispersed and more EABE-AgNPs were synthesized at pH 12 compared to lower pH values. The blue-shift in the SPR suggested smaller and more uniform sized EABE-AgNPs were formed at pH 12 (Jayapriya *et al.*, 2019). Higher temperatures were demonstrated to increase the rate at which AgNPs are formed (Liaqat *et al.*, 2022).

It is worth mentioning that reaction pH alters the electrical charges of biomolecules, impacting their capacity for capping and stabilizing, and the growth of NPs (Liaqat *et al.*, 2022). The pH of the medium influences the protonation of amino acids, which contributes to the stability and production of NPs (Gericke & Pinches, 2006; Liaqat *et al.*, 2022). Literature suggests that biological components facilitate the conversion of Ag⁺ to neutral silver atoms and aid in stabilizing the growth of AgNPs (Chutrakulwong et al., 2020).

A similar trend was observed for EABE-AgNPs synthesized at 80, 90 and 100 °C (**Figure 3.2 C**), indicating successful synthesis of EABE-AgNPs at pH 10, 11 and 12. The SPR bands at 80 °C for pH 10 and 11 were 414 and 406 nm with OD values of 0.121 and 0.156, respectively. This pH range had broader peaks indicating that polydisperse AgNPs formed at 80 °C for pH 10

and 11 (Busi *et al.*, 2014; Mat Yusuf *et al.*, 2020). While EABE-AgNPs synthesized at pH 12 had a λ_{max} at 396 nm and OD value of 0.509.

At 90 °C (**Figure 3.2 D**), EABE-AgNPs were synthesized at all pH values except pH 8 and 9. At pH 10 and 11, EABE-AgNPs had a λ_{max} at 412 and 408 nm with OD values of 0.217 and 0.269, respectively. Notably, at pH 12 an intense narrow and sharp peak was observed at 398 nm and OD value of 0.653. The OD at this temperature was significantly higher than the lower temperatures, this indicated that the EABE-AgNPs became smaller as temperatures increased. At 100 °C (**Figure 3.2 E**), the SPR bands for EABE-AgNPs at pH 10 and 11 were 412 and 402 nm with OD values of 0.236 and 0.278, respectively. At pH 12 EABE-AgNPs had a λ_{max} at 398 nm and OD value of 0.585. Thus, pH 12 was selected as an optimal pH for synthesis of EABE-AgNPs at all temperatures (**Figures 3.2 A - E**).

From the summary in **Figure 3.2 F**, it was evident that EABE-AgNPs had increased yield and formed monodisperse NPs with increased temperature (Benelmekki, 2015; Li *et al.*, 2014; S. Vijayaram *et al.*, 2023). The results indicated that pH 12 at all temperatures excluding 25 °C had an effect on EABE-AgNPs synthesis, indicating that temperature influenced the reaction mixture. In comparison to 90 °C, the AgNPs formation rate decreased (100 °C) with increasing temperatures indicating that higher temperatures enhance the reduction process of Ag⁺ to Ag⁰ and particle aggregation, leading to a decrease in the number and size of AgNPs, as a result of fast nucleation of silver from the reduction of Ag⁺. The highest OD 0.653 value was observed at 90 °C which indicated that smaller monodisperse (uniform size and shape) and potentially uniform AgNPs formed. Moreover, increased temperatures enhance molecule kinetic energy, facilitating the rapid reduction of Ag⁺ and reducing the potential for particle size growth (Verma & Mehata, 2016). This study showed that with increase in temperature, a higher yield and uniform size distribution of AgNPs were obtained, as Ag⁺ are consumed faster, thereby reducing the size (Shukla & Iravani, 2018). This indicated that higher temperatures were favourable for synthesis of higher yields.

The physicochemical properties of EABE-AgNPs and AgNPs in general, can be influenced by various reaction conditions affecting their size, shape, reaction rate, and activity (Dube *et al.*, 2020; Manosalva *et al.*, 2019; Singh *et al.*, 2013). Temperature of the reaction influences the rate at which AgNPs grow (Shukla & Iravani, 2018) and their sizes. It was also evident that at low pH

values larger NPs formed, depicted by a significant red-shift in the absorption spectra and broad SPR bands. This demonstrated that lower pH, EABE were not favourable for the synthesis of AgNPs, which suggests that successful synthesis of EABE-AgNPs were favoured by more basic conditions (Alqadi *et al.*, 2014; Dong *et al.*, 2009) and higher temperatures. Qin *et al.* found that as the pH of a solution increase, the size of AgNPs became smaller and spherical in shape (Qin *et al.*, 2010). In another study, Dong *et al.*, 2009 demonstrated the shape of AgNPs was significantly influenced by the pH, with high pH resulting in a mixture of spherical and rod-like particles, while low pH resulted in triangular and polygonal particles (Alqadi *et al.*, 2014; Dong *et al.*, 2009). Gericke and colleagues demonstrated that pH also influences the protonation of amino acids, affecting the conformation of peptides or proteins, resulting in variations in shape and size during NPs synthesis (Gericke & Pinches, 2006; Shukla & Iravani, 2018). Similarly, the composition of EABE-AgNPs were significantly influenced by pH and temperature (Gericke & Pinches, 2006; Hulkoti & Taranath, 2014; Shukla & Iravani, 2018). Studies reveal that higher temperatures increase the rate of reaction, leading to the formation of smaller nanoparticles due to the increased kinetic energy of molecules (Dwivedi & Gopal, 2010; Philip, 2009).

3.2.1.2 Effect of EABE concentration on EABE-AgNPs synthesis

Figure 3.3 displays the effect of varying EABE concentrations on the formation of EABE-AgNPs. AgNPs were successfully synthesized with all tested EABE concentrations. The EABE-AgNPs synthesized with 0.5, 1, 2 and 3 % of EABE had SPR peaks at 404, 398, 400 and 396 nm with OD values of 0.929, 0.651, 0.463 and 0.418, respectively. Notably, 0.5 % EABE concentrations had the highest and sharpest SPR peak, compared to the higher EABE concentrations. Moreover, the UV-vis spectra for the EABE concentrations of 1, 2 and 3 % were lower and broader than the one for 0.5% EABE-AgNPs, and absorption tails towards longer wavelengths were present which indicated aggregation of the AgNPs at higher concentrations.



Figure 3.3: UV-vis absorption spectra showing the effect of varying EABE concentration on the formation of EABE-AgNPs at 90 °C for 90 minutes using 1 mM AgNO₃. The experiment was performed in triplicate (n=3) and the graphs are presented as average results.

The spectra also suggested that higher EABE concentrations produced less and polydisperse AgNPs, confirmed by longer tails that formed at 450 - 600 nm. This was a clear indication of aggregation, which occurs when NPs cluster together to produce bigger particles (Polte *et al.*, 2010). The broader spectra observed (longer wavelengths) at higher extract concentrations is familiar in green nanotechnology and was reported for AgNPs synthesized from *Amomum Subulatum* fruit extract (Dhir *et al.*, 2023). This suggests that there could be more extracts and a low amount of AgNO₃. The presence of different phytochemicals in plants have been shown to reduce and stabilize NPs and protect them against sedimentation, agglomeration, and loss of surface characteristics (Anil Kumar *et al.*, 2007; Mohanpuria *et al.*, 2008; Mukherjee *et al.*, 2001). However, optimization is required to determine sufficient extract and metal ions concentrations that can produce stable NPs at a given reaction. For this study, 0.5% EABE produced stable with higher yield of EABE-AgNPs and was selected as the optimum concentration for further synthesis reactions.

3.2.1.3 Effect of AgNO₃ concentration on EABE-AgNPs synthesis

The effect of the precursor concentration (AgNO₃) was evaluated using optimal EABE concentration (0.5%) and temperature (90 °C). Prior to this, all the optimal conditions were evaluated with 1 mM AgNO₃. **Figure 3.4** shows that AgNO₃ from 0.5 - 3 mM can synthesize EABE-AgNPs with varying optical properties and yields. The SPR of the AgNPs showed that with increasing AgNO₃ concentration, there was an increase in the OD values corresponding to the

concentration of the EABE-AgNPs. The smaller SPR peak simply means a lower absorbance and therefore a lower concentration of the EABE-AgNPs at lower AgNO₃ concentration (Mondal *et al.*, 2020). The SPR for AgNPs synthesized with 0.5, 1, 2 and 3 mM AgNO₃ were 399, 404, 404 and 400 nm, respectively. The OD values for 0.5 and 1 mM AgNO₃ were below 1, while the OD values for 2 and 3 mM AgNO₃ were 1.866 and 1.933, respectively. Although 3 mM AgNO₃ had the highest OD, a tail formed at longer wavelengths, indicating the presence of larger NPs or clusters, due to aggregation, thereby creating instability of the AgNPs. In previous studies, larger NPs were generated by the secondary reduction process of Ag⁺ adsorbed on built-in nuclei surfaces at higher concentrations (Moond, Singh, Sangwan, Devi, Rani, *et al.*, 2023). Absorption spectra of MNPs, including AgNPs are influenced by particle size and dielectric medium, with plasmon absorption shifting towards longer wavelengths as particle size increases (Mulvaney, 1996; Zuber *et al.*, 2016). Previous studies also demonstrated bioreduction of Ag⁺ using *Coleus aromaticus* leaf extract at 1 mM or less, while at higher concentrations aggregated NPs formed (Vanaja *et al.*, 2013). In this study, 2 mM AgNO₃ was chosen as the optimum AgNO₃ concentration.



Figure 3.4: UV-vis absorption spectra showing the effect of varying $AgNO_3$ concentration on the formation of EABE-AgNPs. The experiment was performed in triplicate (n=3) and the graphs are presented as average results.

3.2.1.4 Effect of 2 mM AgNO₃ and 0.5% EABE concentration on EABE-AgNPs synthesis

At 2 mM AgNO₃, EABE-AgNPs with a narrow spectrum and no sign of aggregation formed, indicating that this concentration is optimum for synthesis of uniform and spherical NPs. Previous studies reported that AgNO₃ at 1 and 2 mM are the optimal concentrations are able to produce

AgNPs with physicochemical properties that are suitable for biological applications (Gurunathan *et al.*, 2009). Higher concentrations up to 5mM produce lower yields and aggregated AgNPs. Thus, 2 mM AgNO₃ was selected as the optimum concentration for further EABE-AgNPs synthesis. **Figure 3.5** shows that the concentration (OD) of EABE-AgNPs synthesized with 0.5 - 3% EABE at 2 mM AgNO₃, reduce as the EABE concentrations increases. AgNPs synthesized at 0.5 % EABE had a λ max of 400 nm and an OD value of 1.847 indicating the highest yield compared to increased EABE concentrations. The NPs aggregated at higher concentrations, indicated by the absorption tail that formed at longer wavelengths. This indicated that the NPs were polydisperse and larger in size. The width of the peak suggested that the AgNPs were monodisperse at 0.5% (Kirubaharan *et al.*, 2012).



Figure 3.5: UV-vis absorption spectra showing the effect of varying EABE concentration on the formation of EABE-AgNPs. The experiment was performed in triplicate (n=3) and the graphs are presented as average results.

3.2.1.5 Effect of reaction time on the synthesis of EABE-AgNPs

The rate of reaction was investigated using optimal conditions, **Figure 3.6** show that the synthesis was observed to reach saturation at approximately 10 minutes. Though from this point there was a further increase in EABE-AgNPs synthesis, the 30 min time interval showed (**Figure 3.6 A**) a shift in SPR from 404 nm to 406 nm, which may be attributed to the nucleation process and instability of the NPs. After 90 min, the synthesis reached complete saturation (**Figure 3.6**

B), similar to 10 min. In this study, complete synthesis was achieved within 10 min. However, the optimum time chosen was 90 min to allow enough time to add capping agents and enhance stability.



Figure 3.6: UV-vis absorption spectra of EABE-AgNPs at various time points (A) and the reaction rate at their SPR (B) using all optimum reaction conditions.

3.2.1.6 Upscaled synthesis of EABE-AgNPs with all optimum synthesis conditions

EABE-AgNPs were upscaled using optimum conditions for downstream applications; 0.5 % EABE concentration, 2 mM AgNO₃, 90 °C temperature, pH 12, 90 min of reaction time, shaking at 750 rpm in a final reaction volume of 50 ml. The UV-vis absorption spectra of EABE-AgNPs in **Figure 3.7** displays the SPR at 404 nm with an OD value of 1.960. The AgNPs were subjected to further characterization to assess their size, shape, polydispersity index (PDI), ζ -potential and functional groups contained in the AgNPs.



Figure 3.7: UV-vis absorption spectra showing the upscaled synthesis of EABE-AgNPs using all optimum conditions (EABE concentration: 0.5 %, AgNO₃ concentration: 2 mM, temperature: $90 \degree$ C, pH 12, time of reaction: 90 min, shaking at 750 rpm). The experiment was performed in triplicate (n=3) and the graphs are presented as average results.

3.2.2 Dynamic light scattering analysis of EABE-AgNPs

The hydrodynamic size and PDI of EABE-AgNPs were evaluated by using DLS. DLS measures the hydrodynamic size, and the surface charge (Linkov *et al.*, 2013). As shown in **Figure 3.8** A, EABE-AgNPs had a hydrodynamic size of 126.4 ± 29.4 nm, which measure both core size and the surface composition (Souza *et al.*, 2016).

The PDI values were measured to predict the uniformity of EABE-AgNPs in solution (broadness of the size distribution), values ranging from 0 to 1, indicated highly homogenous to highly polydisperse molecules (Abdella *et al.*, 2023). A PDI above 0.5 indicates that the NPs are polydisperse, while PDI values exceeding 0.7 indicate a broad particle size distribution (Danaei *et al.*, 2018). The PDI for EABE-AgNPs was 0.396 ± 0.07 , indicating monodispersed NPs, even though plant-mediated synthesized NPs are expected to be polydisperse due to the presence of multiple phytochemicals. These findings agree with previous studies indicating that stable, uniform and monodisperse NPs can be produced using plant extracts. Similar to another study that demonstrated the PDI of AgNPs produced from *Tecomella undulata (T. undulataI)* leaf extract of 0.378, which indicated their uniformity (Dhaka *et al.*, 2023).



Figure 3.8: Hydrodynamic size distribution of the biogenic EABE-AgNPs (A) and ζ-potential (B).

In **Figure 3.8 B**, the EABE-AgNPs had a ζ -potential of -25.2 ± 8.48 mV which indicated that they were highly stable and anionic in nature. Biosynthesized AgNPs, unlike chemical-synthesized NPs, relies on phytochemicals (as reducing and capping agent) for stabilization in a one-step reaction. The capping agents are implicated in their bioactivities as anticancer (Cho *et al.*, 2013; Sankar *et al.*, 2014), antioxidant activity, antidiabetic, antidiarrheal, hepatoprotective activity and antimicrobial agents (Mohanta & Behera, 2014). A ζ -potential range from ± 30 mV have high electrical charge on their surface and due to their strong repellent force among them, agglomeration can be prevented (Manikandan & Sathiyabama, 2015). EABE-AgNPs, due to their high stability, exhibit physiochemical properties that make then suitable for *in vitro* studies. Therefore, EABE-AgNPs could potentially be useful for biomedical applications.

3.2.3 High-resolution transmission microscopy analysis of EABE-AgNPs

HR-TEM was used to analyze the shape, size, morphology (dispersion) and the distribution (uniformity) of EABE-AgNPs. In Figure 3.9 A, the particles were spherical in shape and are monodispersed. In Figure 3.9 B, the particles had an average core size of 13.03 ± 2.04 nm in diameter. The discrepancy between DLS and TEM analysis exists because DLS measures the hydrodynamic diameter and the core size, while TEM only accounts for the core size (Eaton et al., 2017). DLS provides information about particle solution dynamics, while HR-TEM measurements calculate the size of the metal without solvent layers (Baraka et al., 2017; Elakraa et al., 2022). Ultrasmall AgNPs (size range 1.59 – 3.91 nm) synthesized by Ji and colleagues (2020) obtained with a thermosensitive copolymer had antibacterial activity against E. coli and S. aureus, as well as the highest polymer content. Thereby highlighting the significance of physiochemical characteristics of AgNPs (Ji et al., 2020). Furthermore, it has been observed that isotropic forms of AgNPs have been found to effectively combat bacterial strains, with visible zones of inhibition (ZOI) indicating the impact of the size and morphology of the AgNPs on bacterial activity (Kumar et al., 2014). In isotropic forms, MIC values also decrease as the particle size decreases. While anisotropic particles, MIC values change steadily due to their different shapes, indicating that the shape and size of the NPs affects the antibacterial activity (Sathishkumar et al., 2010; Sondi & Salopek-Sondi, 2004). Similar observations were made with biogenic AgNPs, where size, shape, and surface composition associated with their enhanced antimicrobial efficacy (Bhuyan et al., 2015; Khatami et al., 2015; Mostafa et al., 2015).



Figure 3.9: HR-TEM analysis of EABE-AgNPs showing their morphology and size: (A) Micrograph and (B) size distribution of EABE-AgNPs.

56

3.2.4. Fourier-transform infrared spectroscopy (FTIR) of EABE-AgNPs

FTIR spectroscopy was used to identify the surface structural composition (biomolecules) of the EABE and EABE-AgNPs. The structural composition may provide information on organic functional groups (hydroxyl groups, carbonyl groups, and other stabilizing molecules) that are present on the surface of EABE-AgNPs. Literature suggests that functional groups of aromatic amines, amide groups, and secondary alcohols may serve as reducing agents (Anandalakshmi *et al.*, 2016; Elavazhagan & Arunachalam, 2011; Jassim *et al.*, 2016; Jayaseelan *et al.*, 2013; Narayanan & Sakthivel, 2010). Several functional groups in the synthesis of EABE-AgNPs were identified as shown (**Figure 3.10**) by the differences between the spectra for EABE and EABE-AgNPs. The infrared radiation (IR) spectrum can distinguish biomolecules such as alkanes, alkenes, and alkynes and predict the type of samples being analyzed (Harris *et al.*, 2023; Liu, 2021).



Figure 3.10: FTIR spectra of EABE and EABE-AgNPs.
The FTIR analysis identified some of the functional groups of organic compounds in EABE responsible for reducing Ag^+ ions and capping the EABE-AgNPs. The FTIR spectra of the EABE and EABE-AgNPs demonstrated absorption peaks at 3461.30 cm⁻¹, corresponding to the O-H stretching vibrations in alcohols and phenolic compounds (Annamalai & Nallamuthu, 2016); 3364.25 cm⁻¹ are related to the C-H stretching vibrations of methyl groups (Devi *et al.*, 2016); 2959.74 cm⁻¹ assigned to the H-C=O stretching vibrations in aldehydes; 2925.67 cm⁻¹, corresponding to the C-N stretching vibrations of nitriles (Keshari *et al.*, 2020); 2104.48 cm⁻¹, is related to the C=O stretching vibrations in proteins (Velgosova & Veselovský, 2019); 2115.2 cm¹, assigned to the C-C stretching vibrations in the aromatic compounds (Velgosova & Veselovský, 2019); 1644.31, 1327.35 and 1092.25 cm⁻¹, corresponding to the C-C stretching vibrations in alcohols, carboxylic acids, ethers, and esters (Naseer *et al.*, 2020); 1637.10, 1415.09 and 1026.97 cm⁻¹, corresponding to C-O stretching vibrations in 3° alcohols and phenols (Selvaraj *et al.*, 2019); and the shift from 599.26 (EABE) to 659.10 cm⁻¹ (EABE-AgNPs) corresponds to the C-H bonding vibrations of the aromatic compounds (Muthukumar *et al.*, 2020). These functional groups are common to AgNPs synthesized using plant extracts.

Plants contain phytochemicals with different active groups such as hydroxyl, carboxyl, and amine, which serve as reducing and capping agents (Badru *et al.*, 2023; Castro *et al.*, 2013; Shankar *et al.*, 2016) which were identified in MNPs. *Astragalus tribuloides* root extract AgNPs had peaks corresponding to the O-H stretching vibrations in alcohols and phenolic compounds (Annamalai & Nallamuthu, 2016). The FTIR results of *Ananas comosus L*. (pineapple) AgNPs confirmed the presence of O-H stretching of a phenolic compound, N-H stretching of a 1° amine, C-H stretching of amides, N-H stretch stretching of 1° amine and alkyne (Mohanta & Behera, 2014; Subhankari & Nayak, 2013). The presence of O-H, C-H, H-C=O, C=O, C-C, C-C, C-O, and C-H bonds in EABE-AgNPs spectra suggests that the EABE secondary metabolites (phenolic and flavonoid chemicals) were involved in reduction and capping of the NPs.

The FTIR spectra of EABE-AgNPs were discovered to have similar peaks to those found in EABE, while some were shifted. The absorption peaks in the EABE spectra at 2104.48 and 1327.35 cm⁻¹ shifted to 2115.27 and 1092.25 cm⁻¹. The peaks at 900 and 600 cm⁻¹ shifted to 659.10 and 599.26 cm⁻¹ corresponded to polysaccharides, vitamins, nucleic acids (i.e., phenylalanine, tyrosine, tryptophan, and various nucleotides), proteins, and amino acids (Shukla & Iravani, 2018; Sukprasert *et al.*, 2020; Venkatpurwar & Pokharkar, 2011; Yang *et al.*, 2015).

Peaks at 3461.30, 2959.74, 2104.48, 1644.31,1327.35, 1092.25 and 659.10 cm⁻¹ shifted to 364.25, 2925.67, 2115.27, 1637.10, 1415.09, 1026.97 and 599.26 in the EABE-AgNPs. These shifts demonstrated that the functional groups associated with these bands were responsible for the bioreduction of Ag⁺ and the stability of EABE-AgNPs (Devi *et al.*, 2016; Sharifi-Rad *et al.*, 2020). Flavonoids and phenolic acids such as eucomic acid, are major bioactive compounds in the EABE (Ami *et al.*, 2013; Lediga *et al.*, 2018), suggesting their involvement in the reduction, capping and stability of EABE-AgNPs.

3.2.5. Stability analysis of EABE-AgNPs

Stability of EABE-AgNPs in dH₂O, ddH₂O and MHB were evaluated over a 24-hour period. As indicated in **Figure 3.11**, there were no changes in the UV-vis spectra of the EABE-AgNPs in solution. The EABE-AgNPs stability was evaluated at 37 °C since most *in vitro* and *in vivo* applications are performed at this temperature. The interactions between the media components and biomolecules on the surface of EABE-AgNPs did not affect their stability and might not influence their bioactivity. The stability of chemically synthesized AgNPs was reduced overtime after incubation with various media suggesting that biogenic AgNPs will be best suited for downstream applications.



59



Figure 3.11: UV-vis absorption spectra showing the stability of the biogenic EABE-AgNPs in various media during incubation at 37 °C for 24 hrs (A: dH₂O, B: ddH₂O, C: MHB).

3.3. Antibacterial activity of EABE-AgNPs

3.3.1. Antibacterial activity of EABE-AgNPs using agar well diffusion assay

The antibacterial activity of EABE-AgNPs and EABE were tested *in vitro* against seven pathogenic bacterial strains; *S. aureus*, *S. pyogenes*, MRSA, *E. coli*, *K. pneumoniae*, *P. aeruginosa* and *A. baumannii* using agar well diffusion method. Ciprofloxacin and MHB were chosen as the positive control and negative control, respectively. The minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) and minimum bactericidal concentration (MBC) values for Ciprofloxacin were also determined in this study, it is notable that the concentration of Ciprofloxacin used was 15 μ g/ml for all the microorganisms tested, except for *E. coli* where 10 μ g/ml Ciprofloxacin was used. The circular area, known as the zone of inhibition (ZOI) around the antibacterial treatment in which bacteria colonies do not grow, can be used to measure the susceptibility of the bacteria towards the antibacterial treatment. The ZOI surrounding each well for the various concentrations of EABE-AgNPs and EABE was measured to determine the antibacterial effect of the EABE-AgNPs and EABE on the microorganisms of interest.

EABE-AgNPs demonstrated broad spectrum antibacterial activity against both Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria (**Figure 3.12** and **Table 3.1**). Notably, EABE-AgNPs was able to efficiently inhibit the growth of both gram-positive and gram-negative bacteria in a dose-

dependent manner. The EABE did not exhibit any antibacterial activity against all the bacteria as there was no ZOI on the agar plates, except for the positive control (data not shown).





Figure 3.12: Antibacterial activity of EABE-AgNPs. The zone of inhibition (ZOI) of synthesized EABE-AgNPs (mm) on (A) *S. aureus*, (B) MRSA, (C) *S. pyogenes*, (D) *E. coli*, (E) *K. pneumoniae*, (F) *P. aeruginosa* and (G) *A. baumannii*. Note: Concentrations of EABE-AgNPs - 1: 4.04 µg/ml, 2: 8.07 µg/ml, 3: 16.15 µg/ml, 4: 32.30 µg/ml and 5: 64.59µg/ml EABE-AgNPs; +: Ciprofloxacin; -: MHB).

Treatments (µg/ml)	Zone of inhibition ± SDM (mm)							
	S. aureus	MRSA	S. pyogenes	E. coli	K. pneumoniae	P. aeruginosa	A. baumannii	
4.0	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	
8.0	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	
16.1	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	7.66 ± 0.47	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	7.16 ± 0.23	7.33 ± 0.29	
32.3	7.16 ± 0.23	0 ± 0	8.66 ± 0.47	0 ± 0	7.66 ± 0.47	10.83 ± 0.23	8.67 ± 0.58	
64.5	8.5 ± 0.47	7.5 ± 0.40	10.66 ± 0.47	7 ± 0	9.16 ± 0.23	11.5 ± 0.40	10.17 ± 0.29	
Ciprofloxacin	20.66 ± 0.23	26.66 ± 0.47	26.66 ± 0.47	36 ± 0.81	29.16 ± 0.23	34 ± 0.81	37.33 ± 0.47	
MHB	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	

Table 3.1: The antibacterial effects of biogenic EABE-AgNPs against seven human pathogenic bacteria tested at different doses ranging from $4.0 - 64.5 \,\mu\text{g/ml}$ (n=3).

The Gram-negative bacteria were more susceptible to the EABE-AgNPs than MRSA and *S. aureus* (**Table 3.1**). The lowest concentration of EABE-AgNPs that was able to inhibit growth of these microorganisms (*S. pyogenes, P. aeruginosa, A. baumannii*) was 16.1 µg/ml whilst the lowest concentration of EABE-AgNPs that inhibited growth of the others was 32.3 µg/ml except MRSA at 64.5 µg/ml. Antibacterial activity of plant mediated NPs has been reported on various strains (Saravanan *et al.*, 2013). *V. amygdalina* AgNPs showed significant inhibitory activity against *S. pyogenes* and *S. aureus*, with 17, 15, 13 mm and 17, 14, 12.5 mm ZOIs at 75, 50, 25 µg/ml, respectively (Gonfa *et al.*; Tesfaye *et al.*, 2023). According to Krychowiak *et al.*, combining plant compounds with AgNPs can be an alternative to antibiotics. This combination was able to kill 99.9% of bacteria in burnt victims, including drug resistant organisms such as MRSA (Krychowiak *et al.*, 2014; Wypij *et al.*, 2021). MRSA accounts for ≤80% of all nosocomial infections causing postsurgical wound infections (Fomda *et al.*, 2014; Krishnamurthy *et al.*, 2014). In 2015, 17.2 billion cases of upper respiratory tract infection caused by *S. pyogenes* occurred, resulting in approximately 3000 deaths (Sahoo *et al.*, 2020; Vos *et al.*, 2017; Vos *et al.*, 2016; Vos *et al.*, 2015).

All strains tested in this study were susceptible to the antibacterial action of EABE-AgNPs, although Ciprofloxacin ($15 - 0.1 \mu g/ml$, positive control) had stronger activity. This confirmed that the EABE-AgNPs were responsible for the antibacterial activity observed in these pathogens, rather than the phytochemicals by themselves. These phytochemicals have medicinal properties and controls physiochemical properties of NPs and their activities. The results obtained in this study are in agreement with a previous study in which Lediga *et al.* (2018) also showed that AgNPs functionalized with *Sclerocarya birrea* and *E. autumnalis* extracts also showed microbial

activities against Gram-negative and Gram-positive microorganisms with negligible or low cytotoxicity (Lediga *et al.*, 2018). AgNPs from aqueous sumac extract treated bacterial canker disease in stone fruit plants caused by *Pseudomonas syringae* (*P. syringae*). The study found that varying NP concentrations significantly reduced the severity of the disease, with the highest decrease observed at 100 µg/ml NPs concentration (Castillo-Henríquez *et al.*, 2020; Castillo *et al.*, 2020; Shahryari *et al.*, 2020).

A study involving isolates from hospitalized patients revealed that the biosynthesized AgNPs nanocomposite, were susceptible to MDR strains (*P. aeruginosa* and A. *baumannii*), including other Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria tested (Silva Santos *et al.*, 2016). AgNPs synthesized from *Caesalpinia pulcherrim* extract have shown antimicrobial, antibiofilm, and antioxidant properties against various bacterial strains. These NPs have been found to inhibit pyocyanin and extracellular polysaccharide production, as well as biofilm formation by *P. aeruginosa* (Dhaka *et al.*, 2023; Moteriya & Chanda, 2018). AgNPs from *Salvadora persica* (*S. persica*) root extract demonstrated antibacterial effect in Gram-negative and Gram-positive bacteria (Shaik *et al.*, 2016; Shukla & Iravani, 2018).

3.3.2 Antibacterial activity of EABE-AgNPs using microdilution assay

The MIC and MBC of EABE-AgNPs and Ciprofloxacin were tested against the seven bacterial strains by the microdilution assay in a wide range of concentrations to identify values capable of inhibiting bacterial growth. The MIC is the lowest concentration that effectively prevents visible growth, while the MBC kills at least 99.9% of the original inoculum (EUCAST, 1998; Phillips *et al.*, 1998; Tahan *et al.*, 2023; Taylor *et al.*, 1983; Testing, 1998).

The lowest concentration that inhibited visual growth of the bacteria (MIC) were visually assessed and recorded after 24 hours of treatment. EABE-AgNPs had broad-spectrum antibacterial activity against all tested microorganisms, as shown in **Table 3.3**. The inhibitory and bactericidal concentrations of the EABE-AgNPs against the microorganisms are depicted in **Figures 3.13** to **3.15**. The presence of viable bacteria in a culture was quantified using AlamarBlueTM dye, a stable, non-toxic, water-soluble dye. In the presence of viable bacteria, the non-fluorescent AlamarBlueTM dye was reduced to resorufin, a highly fluorescent pink compound, which was used as a colorimetric indicator. Thus, enabling continuous monitoring of cellular activity permeable to cell membrane of the bacteria (Elshikh *et al.*, 2016; Kreft & Kreft, 2009; Page *et al.*, 1993). The fluorescent signal is proportional to the number of viable cells (Riss *et al.*, 2016).

Table 3.2: The MIC and MBC of EABE-AgNPs and Ciprofloxacin against seven human pathogenic bacteria.

Microorganisms	MIC (J	ug/ml)	MBC (µg/	/ml)
	EABE-AgNPs	Ciprofloxacin	EABE-AgNPs	Ciprofloxacin
S. aureus	64.5	0.9	64.5	0.9
MRSA	64.5	0.4	64.5	0.4
S. pyogenes	16.1	0.2	16.1	0.4
E. coli	8.0	< 0.1	32.3	< 0.1
K. pneumonia	64.5	< 0.1	64.5	< 0.1
P. aeruginosa	32.3	0.2	64.5	0.4
A. baumannii	64.5	<0.1	64.5	< 0.1



UNIVERSITY of the WESTERN CAPE



66



Figure 3.13: The inhibitory effects of EABE-AgNPs on bacterial growth using AlamarBlueTM assay. A colour change from blue to pink is observed in the presence of viable bacteria A) *S. aureus*, B) MRSA, C) *S. pyogenes*, D) *E. coli*, E) *K. pneumoniae* F) *P. aeruginosa* and G) *A. baumannii*.

https://etd.uwc.ac.za/



200000

EABE-AgNPs

Ciprofloxacin

MRSA

EABE-AgNPs

Ciprofloxacin

S. aureus

200000



Figure 3.14: Inhibitory effect of EABE-AgNPs and ciprofloxacin on seven bacterial strains. The fluorescence of AlamarBlue[™] was measured as a bacterial viability indicator and is directly proportional to the number of viable cells present (RFU: Relative Fluorescence Units).

The MIC varied between 16.1 and 64.5 μ g/ml for Gram-positive bacteria and from 8.0 and 64.5 μ g/ml for Gram-negative bacteria, respectively. This suggested that Gram-negative bacteria were more susceptible to inhibitory and bactericidal actions of EABE-AgNPs. Although the complete detailed mechanisms are still under debate, it has been proposed that the possible bactericidal activity of AgNPs is due to the release of Ag⁺ from the NPs. Antibacterial activity is more evident in Gram-negative bacteria due to their thicker, denser cell wall and thick layer of peptidoglycan. Gram-negative bacteria exhibit resistance to antibiotics due to their unique envelope structures. According to literature, antimicrobial compounds, such as fluoroquinolones, can penetrate these bacteria through three pathways: hydrophilic, hydrophobic, and self-promoted pathways, although the exact mechanisms of these pathways remains unclear (Chapman & Georgopapadakou, 1988; Marshall & Piddock, 1994). Drug resistance is influenced by the differences in envelope structures among different bacteria, which makes it easier to penetrate cells (Berlanga *et al.*, 2004; Hancock, 1997). Thus, AgNPs have an advantage (Abalkhil *et al.*, 2017) and interact with the bacterial

membranes (Dakal *et al.*, 2016). The antibacterial activity of smaller AgNPs (<30 nm) showed optimal activity against *K. pneumonia* and *S. aureus*, suggesting that AgNPs may inactivate respiratory chain dehydrogenases killing the pathogens (Kim & Lee, 2012).

EABE-AgNPs exhibited the highest antibacterial activity against *E. coli*, with both MIC and MBC values of 0.8 and 32.3 µg/ml, respectively. According to a study by Fenq *et al.*, *S. aureus* is less permeable to silver ions when compared with *E. coli* (Feng *et al.*, 2000). These pathogens cause a major threat in non-social, increasing AMR. *E. coli* strains are the primary cause of complex UTIs. In particular, the uropathogenic strains accounts for approximately 50% of hospital acquired and 95% of community-acquired infections (Guiton *et al.*, 2010). A recent study in Egypt found that 62% of *E. coli* strains from outpatients with community-acquired UTIs, were MDR (Farahat *et al.*, 2021). Uropathogenic *E. coli* strains are projected to adversely impact 150 million people globally annually (Flores-Mireles *et al.*, 2015). Furthermore, with a substantial increase in healthcare expenditures, reaching more than \$6 billion dollars per annum (Akoachere *et al.*, 2012; Yassin *et al.*, 2022b).

Overall, the antibacterial effects of EABE-AgNPs did not differ amongst all the strains. The lowest antibacterial activity recorded for EABE-AgNPs, except on *E. coli* and *S. pyogenes*. The lowest MBC recorded for EABE-AgNPs was against *S. pyogenes* and *E. coli* at 8.0 and 32.3 µg/ml. While the MBC for *S. aureus*, MRSA, *K. pneumonia*, *P. aeruginosa* and *A. baumannii*, was 64.5 µg/ml. These results are similar to a study conducted by Ghaedi *et al.*, (2015) who also showed that AgNPs synthesized from *Rosmarinus officinalis* leaf extract had a lower MIC against *P. aeruginosa* (193.31 µg/ml than *E. coli* (386.62 µg/ml), *S. aureus* (773.24 µg/ml) and *B. subtilis* (1546.4 µg/ml) (Li *et al.*, 2017; Wypij *et al.*, 2021).

The antibacterial effects of the EABE-AgNPs and Ciprofloxacin followed similar trends. The highest antibacterial activity recorded for Ciprofloxacin was against *S. pyogenes*, MRSA *and P. aeruginosa* with the same MIC value of 0.2 μ g/ml and same MBC value of 0.4 μ g/ml, except for MRSA that had an MIC value of 0.4 μ g/ml. The broad-spectrum antibacterial effects of the EABE-AgNPs and Ciprofloxacin suggests that their inhibitory effects may follow similar mechanisms. The small size of EABE-AgNPs allowed easy penetration into microbial cells, disrupting cellular structure, and producing ROS (Hosseini Bafghi *et al.*, 2021; Khorsandi *et al.*, 2021; Naskar &

Kim, 2019). These substances can alter signal transduction pathways, bind to drugs, while delivering them into the bacterial cell. EABE-AgNPs may be an effective antibacterial agent against human infections. However, the problem with MDR bacteria emerging due to the overprescribing and/ or misuse finds biogenically produced NPs appealing owing to their potential efficacy with minimum adverse effects (Qidwai *et al.*, 2018).





72



Figure 3.15: The bactericidal effects of EABE-AgNPs on seven different bacterial strains (A: *S. aureus*, B: MRSA, C: *S. pyogenes*, D: *E. coli*, E: *K. pneumoniae*, F: *P. aeruginosa* and G: *A. baumannii*). Row number 1 – 8.

In 2019, lower respiratory infections and diarrheal illnesses were among the top 10 causes of mortality globally, according to the WHO (Lugo & Rivera, 2023). While in LMICs, diseases were among the top ten primary causes of mortality (Mohan et al., 2023). In 2019, a study demonstrated that bacterial pathogens accounted for 55% of the 55.4 million deaths, occurred worldwide (Safiri et al., 2023). While Enterobacteriaceae family, primarily E. coli, E. aerogenes, E. cloacae, K. pneumoniae, and Providencia stuartii, are susceptible to drugresistance. K. pneumoniae causing life-threatening infections, and carbapenem antibiotic resistance, which is common across the world. Because of the reported colistin and vancomycin resistance of ESKAPE pathogens, new antimicrobial combinations are needed to combat the high prevalence of the MDR bacterial strains in hospital settings and ICUs (Yassin et al., 2022b). Antibiotic such as, Colistin and vancomycin are the only last resort drugs currently available for fatal diseases (Kharaba et al., 2024; Tartor et al., 2021), resulting in infections for which there is currently no effective antibiotic treatment (Paneri & Sevta, 2023). S. aureus is prevalent in natural skin flora and is also responsible for diseases in the community and healthcare facilities. Individuals infected with MRSA are 64% more likely to die than those infected with drug-sensitive pathogens (Faheem et al., 2021; Ugwu et al., 2016). A recent report suggests that 40 – 60% of S. aureus strains in United States (US) hospitals are drug

resistant (Gupta *et al.*, 2019). On the contrary, mortality in drug-resistant *P. aeruginosa* infections is growing, accounting for around 11% of hospital-acquired bacterial infections. Despite these challenges, antibiotic treatment remains a crucial aspect of managing infections (C Nwobodo *et al.*, 2020; Kharaba *et al.*, 2024). Research has shown that active botanicals and phytochemicals from African flora can effectively combat these bacteria. Traditional cutoff factors for categorizing antibacterial agents against Enterobacteria were identified from 179 crude plant extracts (Demgne *et al.*, 2021; Dzotam *et al.*, 2016; Ghisalberti *et al.*, 2005; Kuete, 2023; Mohan *et al.*, 2023; Seukep *et al.*, 2020). The prevalence of antibiotic resistance worldwide, suggests that effective antibiotics for treating common bacterial infections (such as HAIs, UTIs, sepsis, STIs, and diarrhoea) are running out (Ranjbar & Alam, 2023; Salehi *et al.*, 2022). Therefore, alternative therapeutic agents are urgently required to fight MDR bacteria and combat AMR pathogens.



CHAPTER 4: CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

4.1 Conclusion

Antimicrobial resistance (AMR) significantly remains a leading cause of death worldwide, with rates expected to rise by 2050. Conventional treatments for AMR infections are urgently needed due to their inefficiency, frequent dosages, and potential side effects. New, more effective therapeutic approaches are needed to address antibiotic-resistant bacteria and alleviate the need for alternative treatments. MDR strains and antibacterial drug use are increasing, with side effects being a significant concern. An alternative method is needed to effectively inhibit the growth of these microorganisms, as the use of antibacterial drugs is becoming more prevalent due to the side effects. The aim of this study was to investigate the antibacterial effects of biogenic silver nanoparticles (AgNPs) synthesized using *Eucomis autumnalis* and their potential as an effective antibacterial agent. Furthermore, this study successfully synthesized EABE-AgNPs through green synthesis using *E. autumnalis* bulb aqueous extract, followed by characterization and *in vitro* antibacterial agent.

Overall, the optimized biogenic synthesized EABE-AgNPs exhibited antibacterial activity against all multidrug-resistant tested. From these findings, all seven strains showed growth inhibitory and bactericidal activity, with gram-negative bacteria being more susceptible to the antibacterial action of the EABE-AgNPs compared to gram-positive bacteria. The antibacterial effect of EABE-AgNPs was consistent with the standard concentration (natural agent if MIC value $\leq 1000 \ \mu g/ml$) of an antibacterial agent, as it was able to inhibit bacteria growth in multiple wells (96 well plate). Although Ciprofloxacin outperformed EABE-AgNPs during this investigation, it is safe to say this biogenic AgNPs performed better than a clinal study that reported adverse effect of Ciprofloxacin after it was taken orally (Ball, 1986).

In conclusion, this study successfully synthesized, characterized, and evaluated the antibacterial activity of biogenic EABE-AgNPs, thereby achieving the main objectives. These findings have proven the hypothesis, that phytochemicals present in *E. autumnalis* bulb aqueous extract may act as reducing, stabilizing, and capping agents in the synthesis of AgNPs with antibacterial activities. Moreover, green synthesized EABE-AgNPs have shown potential

in preventing the spread of AMR infections, offering novel alternative treatment and the potential to eradicate the burden of multidrug-resistant bacterial infections.

4.2 **Recommendations and Future work**

Given that the findings of this study have shown that EABE-AgNPs has potential to be used as an antibacterial agent, the EABE-AgNPs can be utilized in other products with beneficial properties (i.e., medicinal). Numerous MNPs possess antimicrobial properties, their applications are not limited to biomedicine, but can also include water treatment, textiles, food packaging, cosmetics, agriculture, and self-cleaning coatings. Therefore, the various applications of EABE-AgNPs can be explored in these fields.

4.3 Study limitations

In order to interpret the results of the present study, it is important to consider various limitations. Some limitations include the handling and preparation of the EABE before synthesis of EABE-AgNPs. The handling of the EABE involved the continuous freezing and thawing of the EABE to preserve the EABE, however, these processes may have compromised the biochemical composition of the biomolecules found within the EABE. The EABE was not prepared using drying methods. The vast range of drying methods is used to prepare plant material and is expected to modify the particles of the material and facilitate the release of bioactive compounds. Therefore, the handling and preparation of the EABE may not have yielded the maximum quantity of bioactive compounds. This may have played a role in EABE-AgNPs being synthesized with biological activity that may have the potential to be enhanced.

REFERENCES

- Abalkhil, T. A., Alharbi, S. A., Salmen, S. H., & Wainwright, M. (2017). Bactericidal activity of biosynthesized silver nanoparticles against human pathogenic bacteria. *Biotechnology & Biotechnological Equipment*, 31(2), 411-417.
- Abbas, M., Yan, K., Li, J., Zafar, S., Hasnain, Z., Aslam, N., Iqbal, N., Hussain, S. S., Usman, M., & Abbas, M. (2022). Agri-nanotechnology and tree nanobionics: Augmentation in crop yield, biosafety, and biomass accumulation. *Frontiers in bioengineering and biotechnology*, 10, 853045.
- Abbaszadegan, A., Ghahramani, Y., Gholami, A., Hemmateenejad, B., Dorostkar, S., Nabavizadeh, M., & Sharghi, H. (2015). The effect of charge at the surface of silver nanoparticles on antimicrobial activity against gram-positive and gram-negative bacteria: a preliminary study. *Journal of Nanomaterials*, 16(1), 53-53.
- Abdelghany, T., Al-Rajhi, A. M., Al Abboud, M. A., Alawlaqi, M., Ganash Magdah, A., Helmy, E. A., & Mabrouk, A. S. (2018). Recent advances in green synthesis of silver nanoparticles and their applications: about future directions. A review. *BioNanoScience*, *8*, 5-16.
- Abdella, S., Kim, S., Afinjuomo, F., Song, Y., Upton, R., & Garg, S. (2023). Combining the potential of 3D printed buccal films and nanostructured lipid carriers for personalised cannabidiol delivery. *Drug Delivery and Translational Research*, 1-21.
- Abdellatif, A. O., & Mohammed, K. (2023). A review of the effects of excessive antibiotic prescription on public health. *Int. J. Res. Anal. Rev, 10,* 284-289.
- Abdullahi, A. A. (2011). Trends and challenges of traditional medicine in Africa. African journal of traditional, complementary and alternative medicines, 8(5S).
- Aboyewa, J. A., Sibuyi, N. R. S., Meyer, M., & Oguntibeju, O. O. (2021). Green Synthesis of Metallic Nanoparticles Using Some Selected Medicinal Plants from Southern Africa and Their Biological Applications. *Plants (Basel)*, 10(9). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/plants10091929</u>
- Abul Qais, F., Samreen, & Ahmad, I. (2018). Broad-spectrum inhibitory effect of green synthesised silver nanoparticles from Withania somnifera (L.) on microbial growth, biofilm and respiration: a putative mechanistic approach. *IET nanobiotechnology*, *12*(3), 325-335.
- Abushaheen, M. A., Fatani, A. J., Alosaimi, M., Mansy, W., George, M., Acharya, S., Rathod, S., Divakar, D. D., Jhugroo, C., & Vellappally, S. (2020). Antimicrobial resistance, mechanisms and its clinical significance. *Disease-a-Month*, 66(6), 100971.
- Adeleye, O. A., Bamiro, O. A., Bakre, L. G., Odeleye, F. O., Adebowale, M. N., Okunye, O. L., Sodeinde, M. A., Adebona, A. C., & Menaa, F. (2022). Medicinal plants with potential inhibitory bioactive compounds against coronaviruses. *Advanced Pharmaceutical Bulletin*, 12(1), 7.
- Adibkia, K., BARZEGAR, J. M., Nokhoudchi, A., Siahi, S. M., Omidi, Y., Javadzadeh, Y., & Mohammadi, G. (2010). A review on the methods of preparation of pharmaceutical nanoparticles.
- Agarwal, H., Nakara, A., & Shanmugam, V. K. (2019). Anti-inflammatory mechanism of various metal and metal oxide nanoparticles synthesized using plant extracts: A review. *Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy*, 109, 2561-2572.
- Agyepong, N., Govinden, U., Owusu-Ofori, A., & Essack, S. Y. (2018). Multidrug-resistant gramnegative bacterial infections in a teaching hospital in Ghana. *Antimicrobial Resistance & Infection Control*, 7(1), 1-8.
- Ahamed, M., Karns, M., Goodson, M., Rowe, J., Hussain, S. M., Schlager, J. J., & Hong, Y. (2008). DNA damage response to different surface chemistry of silver nanoparticles in mammalian cells. *Toxicology and applied pharmacology*, 233(3), 404-410.
- Ahmad, T., Bustam, M. A., Irfan, M., Moniruzzaman, M., Asghar, H. M. A., & Bhattacharjee, S. (2019). Mechanistic investigation of phytochemicals involved in green synthesis of gold nanoparticles

using aqueous Elaeis guineensis leaves extract: Role of phenolic compounds and flavonoids. *Biotechnology and applied biochemistry*, 66(4), 698-708.

- Ahmed, A.-A., Hamzah, H., & Maaroof, M. (2018). Analyzing formation of silver nanoparticles from the filamentous fungus Fusarium oxysporum and their antimicrobial activity. *Turkish Journal of Biology*, *42*(1), 54-62.
- Ahmed, O., Sibuyi, N. R. S., Fadaka, A. O., Madiehe, M. A., Maboza, E., Meyer, M., & Geerts, G. (2022). Plant extract-synthesized silver nanoparticles for application in dental therapy. *Pharmaceutics*, 14(2), 380.
- Ahmed, S., Ahmad, M., Swami, B. L., & Ikram, S. (2016). A review on plants extract mediated synthesis of silver nanoparticles for antimicrobial applications: a green expertise. *Journal of* advanced research, 7(1), 17-28.
- Ahmeda, A., Zangeneh, A., & Zangeneh, M. M. (2020). Green synthesis and chemical characterization of gold nanoparticle synthesized using Camellia sinensis leaf aqueous extract for the treatment of acute myeloid leukemia in comparison to daunorubicin in a leukemic mouse model. *Applied organometallic chemistry*, *34*(3), e5290.
- Aisida, S. O., Ugwu, K., Akpa, P. A., Nwanya, A. C., Nwankwo, U., Botha, S. S., Ejikeme, P. M., Ahmad, I., Maaza, M., & Ezema, F. I. (2019). Biosynthesis of silver nanoparticles using bitter leave (Veronica amygdalina) for antibacterial activities. *Surfaces and Interfaces*, 17, 100359.
- Ajaz, S., Ahmed, T., Shahid, M., Noman, M., Shah, A. A., Mehmood, M. A., Abbas, A., Cheema, A. I., Iqbal, M. Z., & Li, B. (2021). Bioinspired green synthesis of silver nanoparticles by using a native Bacillus sp. strain AW1-2: Characterization and antifungal activity against Collectorichum falcatum Went. *Enzyme and Microbial Technology*, 144, 109745.
- Akhtar, T., Naeem, M., Younus, M., Nisa, Q., Akram, Q., Ahmad, H., Ahmad, W., Aziz, S., & Ameer, T. (2023). Blunt antibiotic weapons against mastitis. One Health Triad, Unique Scientific Publishers, Faisalabad, Pakistan, 2, 66-72.
- Akhtar, T., Shahid, S., Asghar, A., Naeem, M., Aziz, S., & Ameer, T. (2023). Utilisation of herbal bullets against Newcastle disease in poultry sector of Asia and Africa (2012-2022). *International Journal of Agriculture and Biosciences*, 12(1), 56-65.
- Akintelu, S. A., Bo, Y., & Folorunso, A. S. (2020). A review on synthesis, optimization, mechanism, characterization, and antibacterial application of silver nanoparticles synthesized from plants. *Journal of Chemistry*, 2020, 1-12.
- Akintelu, S. A., Oyebamiji, A. K., Olugbeko, S. C., & Latona, D. F. (2021). Green chemistry approach towards the synthesis of copper nanoparticles and its potential applications as therapeutic agents and environmental control. *Current Research in Green and Sustainable Chemistry*, 4, 100176.
- Akoachere, J.-F. T. K., Yvonne, S., Akum, N. H., & Seraphine, E. N. (2012). Etiologic profile and antimicrobial susceptibility of community-acquired urinary tract infection in two Cameroonian towns. *BMC Research notes*, 5(1), 1-8.
- Al Jahdaly, B. A., Al-Radadi, N. S., Eldin, G. M., Almahri, A., Ahmed, M., Shoueir, K., & Janowska, I. (2021). Selenium nanoparticles synthesized using an eco-friendly method: dye decolorization from aqueous solutions, cell viability, antioxidant, and antibacterial effectiveness. *journal of materials research and technology*, 11, 85-97.
- Alabi, T., & Badmus, J. (2023). Antidiabetic Plant Products and Their Nanoparticle-Based Delivery. In Advances in Phytonanotechnology for Treatment of Various Diseases (pp. 141-159). CRC Press.
- Alam, M. M., Islam, M., Wahab, A., & Billah, M. (2019). Antimicrobial resistance crisis and combating approaches. *Journal of Medicine*, 20(1), 38.
- Alam, S., Sarker, M. M. R., Afrin, S., Richi, F. T., Zhao, C., Zhou, J.-R., & Mohamed, I. N. (2021). Traditional herbal medicines, bioactive metabolites, and plant products against COVID-19: update on clinical trials and mechanism of actions. *Frontiers in pharmacology*, 12, 671498.

- Alamier, W. M., Hasan, N., Ali, S. K., & Oteef, M. D. (2022). Biosynthesis of Ag nanoparticles using Caralluma acutangula extract and its catalytic functionality towards degradation of hazardous dye pollutants. *Crystals*, 12(8), 1069.
- Alaribe, F. N., Maepa, M. J., Mkhumbeni, N., & Motaung, S. C. (2018). Possible roles of Eucomis autumnalis in bone and cartilage regeneration: A review. *Tropical Journal of Pharmaceutical Research*, 17(4), 741-749.
- Alhumaid, N. K., Alajmi, A. M., Alosaimi, N. F., Alotaibi, M., Almangour, T. A., Nassar, M. S., Memish, Z. A., Binjomah, A. Z., Al-Jedai, A., & Almutairi, A. S. (2023). Reported Bacterial Infectious Diseases in Saudi Arabia: Overview and Recent Advances.
- Ali, S. G., Jalal, M., Ahmad, H., Sharma, D., Ahmad, A., Umar, K., & Khan, H. M. (2022). Green synthesis of silver nanoparticles from Camellia sinensis and its antimicrobial and antibiofilm effect against clinical isolates. *Materials*, 15(19), 6978.
- Allahverdiyev, A. M., Abamor, E. S., Bagirova, M., & Rafailovich, M. (2011). Antimicrobial effects of TiO2 and Ag2O nanoparticles against drug-resistant bacteria and leishmania parasites. *Future microbiology*, *6*(8), 933-940.
- Alqadi, M., Abo Noqtah, O., Alzoubi, F., Alzouby, J., & Aljarrah, K. (2014). pH effect on the aggregation of silver nanoparticles synthesized by chemical reduction. *Materials Science-Poland*, 32, 107-111.
- Alsaiari, N. S., Alzahrani, F. M., Amari, A., Osman, H., Harharah, H. N., Elboughdiri, N., & Tahoon, M. A. (2023). Plant and Microbial Approaches as Green Methods for the Synthesis of Nanomaterials: Synthesis, Applications, and Future Perspectives. *Molecules*, 28(1). https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules28010463
- Alshammari, B. H., Lashin, M. M., Mahmood, M. A., Al-Mubaddel, F. S., Ilyas, N., Rahman, N., Sohail, M., Khan, A., Abdullaev, S. S., & Khan, R. (2023). Organic and inorganic nanomaterials: fabrication, properties and applications. *RSC Advances*, 13(20), 13735-13785.
- Álvarez-Chimal, R., & Arenas-Alatorre, J. Á. (2023). Green synthesis of nanoparticles. A biological approach.
- Amendola, V., Bakr, O. M., & Stellacci, F. (2010). A study of the surface plasmon resonance of silver nanoparticles by the discrete dipole approximation method: effect of shape, size, structure, and assembly. *Plasmonics*, 5, 85-97.
- Ami, D., Mereghetti, P., & Doglia, S. M. (2013). Multivariate analysis for Fourier transform infrared spectra of complex biological systems and processes. *Multivariate analysis in management,* engineering and the sciences, 189-220.
- Anandalakshmi, K., Venugobal, J., & Ramasamy, V. (2016). Characterization of silver nanoparticles by green synthesis method using Pedalium murex leaf extract and their antibacterial activity. *Applied nanoscience*, *6*, 399-408.
- Anbusagar, N., Palanikumar, K., & Ponshanmugakumar, A. (2018). Preparation and properties of nanopolymer advanced composites: A review. *Polymer-based nanocomposites for energy and environmental applications*, 27-73.
- Anders, A. (2011). Chemistry, phase formation, and catalytic activity of thin palladium-containing oxide films synthesized by plasma-assisted physical vapor deposition.
- Anderson, M., Clift, C., Schulze, K., Sagan, A., Nahrgang, S., Ouakrim, D., & Mossialos, E. (2019). European Observatory Policy Briefs. *Copenhagen, Denmark: WHO*.
- Angiolella, L., Sacchetti, G., & Efferth, T. (2018). Antimicrobial and antioxidant activities of natural compounds. In (Vol. 2018): Hindawi.
- Anil Kumar, S., Abyaneh, M. K., Gosavi, S., Kulkarni, S. K., Pasricha, R., Ahmad, A., & Khan, M. (2007). Nitrate reductase-mediated synthesis of silver nanoparticles from AgNO 3. *Biotechnology letters*, 29, 439-445.
- Anju, S., & Sarada, J. (2016). Quorum sensing inhibiting activity of silver nanoparticles synthesized by Bacillus isolate. *Int J Pharm Biol Sci*, 6(1), 47-53.

- Annamalai, J., & Nallamuthu, T. (2016). Green synthesis of silver nanoparticles: characterization and determination of antibacterial potency. *Applied nanoscience*, *6*, 259-265.
- Antonarakis, E. S., & Emadi, A. (2010). Ruthenium-based chemotherapeutics: are they ready for prime time? Cancer chemotherapy and pharmacology, 66, 1-9.
- Antunes, L. C., Visca, P., & Towner, K. J. (2014). Acinetobacter baumannii: evolution of a global pathogen. *Pathogens and disease*, 71(3), 292-301.
- Årdal, C., Balasegaram, M., Laxminarayan, R., McAdams, D., Outterson, K., Rex, J. H., & Sumpradit, N. (2020). Antibiotic development—economic, regulatory and societal challenges. *Nature reviews microbiology*, 18(5), 267-274.
- Ardebili, A., Izanloo, A., & Rastegar, M. (2023). Polymyxin combination therapy for multidrugresistant, extensively-drug resistant, and difficult-to-treat drug-resistant gram-negative infections: is it superior to polymyxin monotherapy? *Expert Review of Anti-infective Therapy*, 21(4), 387-429.
- Arokiyaraj, S., Arasu, M. V., Vincent, S., Prakash, N. U., Choi, S. H., Oh, Y.-K., Choi, K. C., & Kim, K. H. (2014). Rapid green synthesis of silver nanoparticles from Chrysanthemum indicum L and its antibacterial and cytotoxic effects: an in vitro study. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, 379-388.
- Aromal, S. A., & Philip, D. (2012). Green synthesis of gold nanoparticles using Trigonella foenumgraecum and its size-dependent catalytic activity. *Spectrochimica acta Part A: molecular and biomolecular spectroscopy*, 97, 1-5.
- Arroyo, G. V., Madrid, A. T., Gavilanes, A. F., Naranjo, B., Debut, A., Arias, M. T., & Angulo, Y. (2020). Green synthesis of silver nanoparticles for application in cosmetics. *Journal of environmental science and health, part A*, 55(11), 1304-1320.
- Arunkumar, M., Mahesh, N., Balakumar, S., Sivakumar, R., & Priyadharshni, S. (2013). Antiquorum sensing and antibacterial activity of silver nanoparticles synthesized by mutant Klebsiella pneumoniae MTCC 3354. Asian Journal of Chemistry, 25(17), 9961.
- Arya, A., Tyagi, P. K., Kumar, S., & Husen, A. (2023). Nanomaterials and their application in microbiology disciplines. In *Advances in Smart Nanomaterials and their Applications* (pp. 175-206). Elsevier.
- Arya, G., Sharma, N., Mankamna, R., & Nimesh, S. (2019). Antimicrobial silver nanoparticles: future of nanomaterials. *Microbial Nanobionics: Volume 2, Basic Research and Applications*, 89-119.
- Asante, J., Hetsa, B. A., Amoako, D. G., Abia, A. L. K., Bester, L. A., & Essack, S. Y. (2021). Multidrug-resistant coagulase-negative staphylococci isolated from bloodstream in the uMgungundlovu District of KwaZulu-Natal Province in South Africa: Emerging pathogens. *Antibiotics*, 10(2), 198.
- Ashraf, J. M., Ansari, M. A., Khan, H. M., Alzohairy, M. A., & Choi, I. (2016). Green synthesis of silver nanoparticles and characterization of their inhibitory effects on AGEs formation using biophysical techniques. *Sci Rep*, 6, 20414. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/srep20414</u>
- Asimuddin, M., Shaik, M. R., Adil, S. F., Siddiqui, M. R. H., Alwarthan, A., Jamil, K., & Khan, M. (2020). Azadirachta indica based biosynthesis of silver nanoparticles and evaluation of their antibacterial and cytotoxic effects. *Journal of King Saud University-Science*, 32(1), 648-656.
- Atanasov, A. G., Waltenberger, B., Pferschy-Wenzig, E.-M., Linder, T., Wawrosch, C., Uhrin, P., Temml, V., Wang, L., Schwaiger, S., & Heiss, E. H. (2015). Discovery and resupply of pharmacologically active plant-derived natural products: A review. *Biotechnology advances*, 33(8), 1582-1614.
- Auinger, P., Lanphear, B. P., Kalkwarf, H. J., & Mansour, M. E. (2003). Trends in otitis media among children in the United States. *Pediatrics*, 112(3), 514-520.
- Ayobami, O., Brinkwirth, S., Eckmanns, T., & Markwart, R. (2022). Antibiotic resistance in hospitalacquired ESKAPE-E infections in low-and lower-middle-income countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Emerging microbes & infections*, 11(1), 443-451.

- Azam, M. W., & Khan, A. U. (2019). Updates on the pathogenicity status of Pseudomonas aeruginosa. *Drug discovery today*, 24(1), 350-359.
- Badru, R., Singh, Y., Singh, N., & Dubal, D. (2023). *Biogenic Nanomaterial for Health and Environment*. CRC Press.
- Bakis, C. E., Bank, L. C., Brown, V., Cosenza, E., Davalos, J., Lesko, J., Machida, A., Rizkalla, S., & Triantafillou, T. (2002). Fiber-reinforced polymer composites for construction—State-of-theart review. *Journal of composites for construction*, 6(2), 73-87.
- Balachandar, R., Gurumoorthy, P., Karmegam, N., Barabadi, H., Subbaiya, R., Anand, K., Boomi, P., & Saravanan, M. (2019). Plant-mediated synthesis, characterization and bactericidal potential of emerging silver nanoparticles using stem extract of Phyllanthus pinnatus: a recent advance in phytonanotechnology. *Journal of Cluster Science*, 30, 1481-1488.
- Balamurugan, M., Saravanan, S., & Soga, T. (2017). Coating of green-synthesized silver nanoparticles on cotton fabric. *Journal of Coatings Technology and Research*, *14*, 735-745.
- Balboa, S. J., & Hicks, L. M. (2022). Revealing AMP mechanisms of action through resistance evolution and quantitative proteomics. In *Methods in Enzymology* (Vol. 663, pp. 259-271). Elsevier.
- Bankalgi, S. C., Londonkar, R. L., Madire, U., & Tukappa, N. A. (2016). Biosynthesis, characterization and antibacterial effect of phenolics-coated silver nanoparticles using Cassia javanica L. *Journal of Cluster Science*, 27, 1485-1497.
- Baptista, A., Silva, F., Porteiro, J., Míguez, J., & Pinto, G. (2018). Sputtering physical vapour deposition (PVD) coatings: A critical review on process improvement and market trend demands. *Coatings*, 8(11), 402.
- Bar, H., Bhui, D. K., Sahoo, G. P., Sarkar, P., De, S. P., & Misra, A. (2009). Green synthesis of silver nanoparticles using latex of Jatropha curcas. *Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects*, 339(1-3), 134-139.
- Baraka, A., Dickson, S., Gobara, M., El-Sayyad, G. S., Zorainy, M., Awaad, M. I., Hatem, H., Kotb, M. M., & Tawfic, A. (2017). Synthesis of silver nanoparticles using natural pigments extracted from Alfalfa leaves and its use for antimicrobial activity. *Chemical Papers*, 71, 2271-2281.
- Barillo, D. J., & Marx, D. E. (2014). Silver in medicine: A brief history BC 335 to present. *Burns*, 40, S3-S8.
- Bartlett, J. G., Gilbert, D. N., & Spellberg, B. (2013). Seven ways to preserve the miracle of antibiotics. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 56(10), 1445-1450.
- Bayda, S., Adeel, M., Tuccinardi, T., Cordani, M., & Rizzolio, F. (2019). The history of nanoscience and nanotechnology: from chemical–physical applications to nanomedicine. *Molecules*, 25(1), 112.
- Baygar, T., Sarac, N., Ugur, A., & Karaca, I. R. (2019). Antimicrobial characteristics and biocompatibility of the surgical sutures coated with biosynthesized silver nanoparticles. *Bioorganic chemistry*, 86, 254-258.
- Bbosa, G. S., Mwebaza, N., Odda, J., Kyegombe, D. B., & Ntale, M. (2014). Antibiotics/antibacterial drug use, their marketing and promotion during the post-antibiotic golden age and their role in emergence of bacterial resistance. *Health*, 2014.
- Belete, M. A., Gedefie, A., Alemayehu, E., Debash, H., Mohammed, O., Gebretsadik, D., Ebrahim, H., & Tilahun, M. (2023). The prevalence of vancomycin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus in Ethiopia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Antimicrobial Resistance & Infection Control*, 12(1), 86.
- Bell, B. G., Schellevis, F., Stobberingh, E., Goossens, H., & Pringle, M. (2014). A systematic review and meta-analysis of the effects of antibiotic consumption on antibiotic resistance. *BMC Infectious Diseases*, 14(1), 1-25.
- Benelmekki, M. (2015). An introduction to nanoparticles and nanotechnology. In *Designing hybrid nanoparticles*. Morgan & Claypool Publishers.

- Bennani, H., Mateus, A., Mays, N., Eastmure, E., Stark, K. D. C., & Hasler, B. (2020). Overview of Evidence of Antimicrobial Use and Antimicrobial Resistance in the Food Chain. *Antibiotics* (*Basel*), 9(2). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/antibiotics9020049</u>
- Berlanga, M., Montero, M. T., Hernández-Borrell, J., & Viñas, M. (2004). Influence of the cell wall on ciprofloxacin susceptibility in selected wild-type Gram-negative and Gram-positive bacteria. *International journal of antimicrobial agents*, 23(6), 627-630.
- Bezza, F. A., Tichapondwa, S. M., & Chirwa, E. M. (2020). Fabrication of monodispersed copper oxide nanoparticles with potential application as antimicrobial agents. *Scientific Reports*, 10(1), 16680.
- Bhagyanathan, N. K., & Thoppil, J. E. (2018). Plant-mediated synthesis of Silver nanoparticles by two species of Cynanchum L.(Apocynaceae): A comparative approach on its physical characteristics. *International Journal of Nano Dimension*, 9(2), 104-111.
- Bhatia, P., Sharma, A., George, A. J., Anvitha, D., Kumar, P., Dwivedi, V. P., & Chandra, N. S. (2021). Antibacterial activity of medicinal plants against ESKAPE: An update. *Heliyon*, 7(2).
- Bhattarai, S., Sharma, B. K., Subedi, N., Ranabhat, S., & Baral, M. P. (2021). Burden of Serious Bacterial Infections and Multidrug-Resistant Organisms in an Adult Population of Nepal: A Comparative Analysis of Minimally Invasive Tissue Sampling Informed Mortality Surveillance of Community and Hospital Deaths. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 73(Supplement_5), S415-S421.
- Bhuyan, T., Mishra, K., Khanuja, M., Prasad, R., & Varma, A. (2015). Biosynthesis of zinc oxide nanoparticles from Azadirachta indica for antibacterial and photocatalytic applications. *Materials Science in Semiconductor Processing*, *32*, 55-61.
- Bisi-Johnson, M. A., Obi, C. L., Hattori, T., Oshima, Y., Li, S., Kambizi, L., Eloff, J. N., & Vasaikar, S. D. (2011). Evaluation of the antibacterial and anticancer activities of some South African medicinal plants. *BMC Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, 11(1), 1-5.
- Blair, J. M., Richmond, G. E., & Piddock, L. J. (2014). Multidrug efflux pumps in Gram-negative bacteria and their role in antibiotic resistance. *Future microbiology*, 9(10), 1165-1177.
- Boakye, M. K., Pietersen, D. W., Kotzé, A., Dalton, D.-L., & Jansen, R. (2015). Knowledge and uses of African pangolins as a source of traditional medicine in Ghana. *PLOS ONE*, 10(1), e0117199.
- Bone, K., & Mills, S. (2012). *Principles and practice of phytotherapy: modern herbal medicine*. Elsevier Health Sciences.
- Bonifacio, B. V., da Silva, P. B., Ramos, M. A. d. S., Negri, K. M. S., Bauab, T. M., & Chorilli, M. (2014). Nanotechnology-based drug delivery systems and herbal medicines: a review. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, 1-15.
- Bottcher, H. (1965). Miracle drugs. Zagreb: Zora, 23, 139.
- Bowler, P., Murphy, C., & Wolcott, R. (2020). Biofilm exacerbates antibiotic resistance: Is this a current oversight in antimicrobial stewardship? *Antimicrobial Resistance & Infection Control*, 9(1), 1-5.
- Broberg, C. A., & Orth, K. (2010). Tipping the balance by manipulating post-translational modifications. *Current opinion in microbiology*, 13(1), 34-40.
- Bruna, T., Maldonado-Bravo, F., Jara, P., & Caro, N. (2021). Silver Nanoparticles and Their Antibacterial Applications. *Int J Mol Sci*, 22(13). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms22137202</u>
- Busi, S., Rajkumari, J., Ranjan, B., & Karuganti, S. (2014). Green rapid biogenic synthesis of bioactive silver nanoparticles (AgNPs) using Pseudomonas aeruginosa. *IET nanobiotechnology*, 8(4), 267-274.
- Busia, K. (2016). Fundamentals of Herbal Medicine: History, Phytopharmacology and Phytotherapeutics (Vol. 1). Xlibris Corporation.
- Butola, B. (2018). Advanced textile engineering materials. John Wiley & Sons.
- Buzea, C., Pacheco, I. I., & Robbie, K. (2007). Nanomaterials and nanoparticles: sources and toxicity. *Biointerphases*, 2(4), MR17-MR71.

- C Nwobodo, D., P Ihekwereme, C., J Ikem, C., & BC Okoye, F. (2020). The anti-pseudomonal potentials of metabolites from some endophytic fungi isolated from Garcinia kola leaves. *Novel Research in Microbiology Journal*, 4(3), 845-855.
- Calvery, H. O., Lightbody, H. D., & Rones, B. (1941). Effects of some silver salts on the eye:(Silver nitrate, silver ammonium nitrate, silver ammonium sulfate, silver ammonium lactate and a mixture of silver ammonium nitrate and silver ammonium sulfate). Archives of Ophthalmology, 25(5), 839-847.
- Campos, J. C. d., Antunes, L. C., & Ferreira, R. B. (2020). Global priority pathogens: virulence, antimicrobial resistance and prospective treatment options. *Future microbiology*, *15*(8), 649-677.
- Carlet, J., Jarlier, V., Harbarth, S., Voss, A., Goossens, H., Pittet, D., & Forum, P. o. t. r. W. H.-A. I. (2012). Ready for a world without antibiotics? The pensières antibiotic resistance call to action. In (Vol. 1, pp. 1-13): Springer.
- Carson, C. F., & Riley, T. V. (2003). Non-antibiotic therapies for infectious diseases. *Communicable diseases intelligence quarterly report*, 27(2003).
- Castiglioni, A. (2019). A History of Medicine (Vol. 2). In: Routledge.
- Castillo-Henríquez, L., Alfaro-Aguilar, K., Ugalde-Álvarez, J., Vega-Fernández, L., Montes de Oca-Vásquez, G., & Vega-Baudrit, J. R. (2020). Green synthesis of gold and silver nanoparticles from plant extracts and their possible applications as antimicrobial agents in the agricultural area. *Nanomaterials*, 10(9), 1763.
- Castillo, L., Alfaro, K., Ugalde Álvarez, J., Vega Fernández, L., Montes de Oca-Vásquez, G., & Jose-Roberto, V.-B. (2020). Green Synthesis of Gold and Silver Nanoparticles from Plant Extracts and Their Possible Applications as Antimicrobial Agents in the Agricultural Area.
- Castro, L., Blázquez, M. L., Muñoz, J. A., González, F., & Ballester, A. (2013). Biological synthesis of metallic nanoparticles using algae. *IET nanobiotechnology*, 7(3), 109-116.
- Catalano, A., Iacopetta, D., Ceramella, J., Pellegrino, M., Giuzio, F., Marra, M., Rosano, C., Saturnino, C., Sinicropi, M. S., & Aquaro, S. (2023). Antibiotic-Resistant ESKAPE Pathogens and COVID-19: The Pandemic beyond the Pandemic. *Viruses*, 15(9). https://doi.org/10.3390/v15091843
- Cavassin, E. D., de Figueiredo, L. F. P., Otoch, J. P., Seckler, M. M., de Oliveira, R. A., Franco, F. F., Marangoni, V. S., Zucolotto, V., Levin, A. S. S., & Costa, S. F. (2015). Comparison of methods to detect the in vitro activity of silver nanoparticles (AgNP) against multidrug resistant bacteria. *Journal of Nanobiotechnology*, 13, 1-16.
- Chancey, S. T., Zähner, D., & Stephens, D. S. (2012). Acquired inducible antimicrobial resistance in Gram-positive bacteria. *Future microbiology*, 7(8), 959-978.
- Chandraker, S. K., Lal, M., Ghosh, M. K., Tiwari, V., Ghorai, T. K., & Shukla, R. (2020). Green synthesis of copper nanoparticles using leaf extract of Ageratum houstonianum Mill. and study of their photocatalytic and antibacterial activities. *Nano Express*, *1*(1), 010033.
- Chapman, J. S., & Georgopapadakou, N. H. (1988). Routes of quinolone permeation in Escherichia coli. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, *32*(4), 438-442.
- Chaw, P., Höpner, J., & Mikolajczyk, R. (2018). The knowledge, attitude and practice of health practitioners towards antibiotic prescribing and resistance in developing countries—A systematic review. *Journal of clinical pharmacy and therapeutics*, *43*(5), 606-613.
- Cheesman, M. J., Ilanko, A., Blonk, B., & Cock, I. E. (2017). Developing new antimicrobial therapies: are synergistic combinations of plant extracts/compounds with conventional antibiotics the solution? *Pharmacognosy reviews*, *11*(22), 57.
- Chellapandian, C., Ramkumar, B., Puja, P., Shanmuganathan, R., Pugazhendhi, A., & Kumar, P. (2019). Gold nanoparticles using red seaweed Gracilaria verrucosa: green synthesis, characterization and biocompatibility studies. *Process Biochemistry*, *80*, 58-63.

- Chiş, A. A., Rus, L. L., Morgovan, C., Arseniu, A. M., Frum, A., Vonica-Țincu, A. L., Gligor, F. G., Mureşan, M. L., & Dobrea, C. M. (2022). Microbial resistance to antibiotics and effective antibiotherapy. *Biomedicines*, 10(5), 1121.
- Cho, E. J., Holback, H., Liu, K. C., Abouelmagd, S. A., Park, J., & Yeo, Y. (2013). Nanoparticle characterization: state of the art, challenges, and emerging technologies. *Molecular pharmaceutics*, *10*(6), 2093-2110.
- Choi, J. S., Jung, H. C., Baek, Y. J., Kim, B. Y., Lee, M. W., Kim, H. D., & Kim, S. W. (2021). Antibacterial activity of green-synthesized silver nanoparticles using Areca catechu extract against antibiotic-resistant bacteria. *Nanomaterials*, 11(1), 205.
- Chopra, R., Alderborn, G., Podczeck, F., & Newton, J. M. (2002). The influence of pellet shape and surface properties on the drug release from uncoated and coated pellets. *International journal of pharmaceutics*, 239(1-2), 171-178.
- Chowdhury, N. K., Choudhury, R., Sonawane, G. A., Mavinamar, S., Lyu, X., Pandey, R. P., & Chang, C.-M. (2021). Nanoparticles as an effective drug delivery system in COVID-19. *Biomedicine* & *Pharmacotherapy*, 143, 112162.
- Christenhusz, M. J., & Byng, J. W. (2016). The number of known plants species in the world and its annual increase. *Phytotaxa*, 261(3), 201–217-201–217.
- Christian, P., Von der Kammer, F., Baalousha, M., & Hofmann, T. (2008). Nanoparticles: structure, properties, preparation and behaviour in environmental media. *Ecotoxicology*, *17*, 326-343.
- Clem, A. S. (2011). Fundamentals of vaccine immunology. *Journal of global infectious diseases*, *3*(1), 73.
- Coppola, N., Maraolo, A. E., Onorato, L., Scotto, R., Calò, F., Atripaldi, L., Borrelli, A., Corcione, A., De Cristofaro, M. G., & Durante-Mangoni, E. (2022). Epidemiology, Mechanisms of Resistance and Treatment Algorithm for Infections Due to Carbapenem-Resistant Gram-Negative Bacteria: An Expert Panel Opinion. Antibiotics, 11(9), 1263.
- Cotter, P. D., Ross, R. P., & Hill, C. (2013). Bacteriocins—a viable alternative to antibiotics? *Nature reviews microbiology*, *11*(2), 95-105.
- Dakal, T. C., Kumar, A., Majumdar, R. S., & Yadav, V. (2016). Mechanistic basis of antimicrobial actions of silver nanoparticles. *Frontiers in microbiology*, 7, 1831.
- Danaei, M., Dehghankhold, M., Ataei, S., Hasanzadeh Davarani, F., Javanmard, R., Dokhani, A., Khorasani, S., & Mozafari, M. (2018). Impact of particle size and polydispersity index on the clinical applications of lipidic nanocarrier systems. *Pharmaceutics*, 10(2), 57.
- Das, R. K., Pachapur, V. L., Lonappan, L., Naghdi, M., Pulicharla, R., Maiti, S., Cledon, M., Dalila, L. M. A., Sarma, S. J., & Brar, S. K. (2017). Biological synthesis of metallic nanoparticles: plants, animals and microbial aspects. *Nanotechnology for Environmental Engineering*, 2, 1-21.
- Davies, S. C., Fowler, T., Watson, J., Livermore, D. M., & Walker, D. (2013). Annual Report of the Chief Medical Officer: infection and the rise of antimicrobial resistance. *The lancet*, 381(9878), 1606-1609.
- Dawoud, T. M., Yassin, M. A., El-Samawaty, A. R. M., & Elgorban, A. M. (2021). Silver nanoparticles synthesized by Nigrospora oryzae showed antifungal activity. *Saudi Journal of Biological Sciences*, 28(3), 1847-1852.
- Demgne, O. M. F., Damen, F., Fankam, A. G., Guefack, M.-G. F., Wamba, B. E., Nayim, P., Mbaveng, A. T., Bitchagno, G. T., Tapondjou, L. A., & Penlap, V. B. (2021). Botanicals and phytochemicals from the bark of Hypericum roeperianum (Hypericaceae) had strong antibacterial activity and showed synergistic effects with antibiotics against multidrug-resistant bacteria expressing active efflux pumps. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 277, 114257.
- Deshmukh, S. P., Patil, S., Mullani, S., & Delekar, S. (2019). Silver nanoparticles as an effective disinfectant: A review. *Materials Science and Engineering: C*, 97, 954-965.
- Deusenbery, C., Wang, Y., & Shukla, A. (2021). Recent innovations in bacterial infection detection and treatment. *ACS infectious diseases*, 7(4), 695-720.

- Devi, T. A., Ananthi, N., & Amaladhas, T. P. (2016). Photobiological synthesis of noble metal nanoparticles using Hydrocotyle asiatica and application as catalyst for the photodegradation of cationic dyes. *Journal of Nanostructure in Chemistry*, *6*, 75-92.
- Dhaka, Chand Mali, S., Sharma, S., & Trivedi, R. (2023). A review on biological synthesis of silver nanoparticles and their potential applications. *Results in Chemistry*, *6*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rechem.2023.101108</u>
- Dhaka, A., Mali, S. C., Sharma, S., & Trivedi, R. (2023). A review on biological synthesis of Silver nanoparticles and their potential applications. *Results in Chemistry*, 101108.
- Dhand, C., Dwivedi, N., Loh, X. J., Ying, A. N. J., Verma, N. K., Beuerman, R. W., Lakshminarayanan, R., & Ramakrishna, S. (2015). Methods and strategies for the synthesis of diverse nanoparticles and their applications: a comprehensive overview. *RSC Advances*, 5(127), 105003-105037.
- Dhanjal, D. S., Mehra, P., Bhardwaj, S., Singh, R., Sharma, P., Nepovimova, E., Chopra, C., & Kuca, K. (2022). Mycology-nanotechnology interface: applications in medicine and cosmetology. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, 2505-2533.
- Dhir, S., Dutt, R., Singh, R. P., Chauhan, M., Virmani, T., Kumar, G., Alhalmi, A., Aleissa, M. S., Rudayni, H. A., & Al-Zahrani, M. (2023). Amomum Subulatum Fruit Extract Mediated Green Synthesis of Silver and Copper Oxide Nanoparticles: Synthesis, Characterization, Antibacterial and Anticancer Activities. *Processes*, 11(9), 2698.
- Dias, M. C., Pinto, D. C., & Silva, A. M. (2021). Plant flavonoids: Chemical Characteristics and Biological activity. *Molecules*, 26(17), 5377.
- Díaz-Núñez, P., González-Izquierdo, J., González-Rubio, G., Guerrero-Martínez, A., Rivera, A., Perlado, J. M., Bañares, L., & Peña-Rodríguez, O. (2017). Effect of organic stabilizers on silver nanoparticles fabricated by femtosecond pulsed laser ablation. *Applied Sciences*, 7(8), 793.
- Diaz, R. R., Picciafuoco, S., Paraje, M. G., Villegas, N. A., Miranda, J. A., Albesa, I., Cremonezzi, D., Commisso, R., & Paglini-Oliva, P. (2011). Relevance of biofilms in pediatric tonsillar disease. *European journal of clinical microbiology & infectious diseases*, 30, 1503-1509.
- Diederichs, N. (2012). Commercialising Medicinal Plants: a Southern African Guide. AFRICAN SUN MeDIA.
- Dikshit, P., Kumar, J., Das, A., Sadhu, S., Sharma, S., Singh, S., Gupta, P., & Kim, B. (2021). Green Synthesis of Metallic Nanoparticles: Applications and Limitations. *Catalysts*, 11(8). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/catal11080902</u>
- Dikshit, P. K., Kumar, J., Das, A. K., Sadhu, S., Sharma, S., Singh, S., Gupta, P. K., & Kim, B. S. (2021). Green synthesis of metallic nanoparticles: Applications and limitations. *Catalysts*, 11(8), 902.
- Dong, X., Ji, X., Wu, H., Zhao, L., Li, J., & Yang, W. (2009). Shape control of silver nanoparticles by stepwise citrate reduction. *The Journal of Physical Chemistry C*, 113(16), 6573-6576.
- Dube, P., Meyer, S., Madiehe, A., & Meyer, M. (2020). Antibacterial activity of biogenic silver and gold nanoparticles synthesized from Salvia africana-lutea and Sutherlandia frutescens. *Nanotechnology*, 31(50), 505607. <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1361-6528/abb6a8</u>
- Duffin, J. (2021). History of medicine: a scandalously short introduction. University of Toronto Press.
- Dwivedi, A. D., & Gopal, K. (2010). Biosynthesis of silver and gold nanoparticles using Chenopodium album leaf extract. *Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects*, 369(1-3), 27-33.
- Dyary, H., Faraj, G., & Saeed, N. (2023). History, Current Situation, and Future Perspectives on Antibiotics and Antibiotic Resistance. *One Health Triad, Unique Scientific Publishers, Faisalabad, Pakistan, 2,* 109-118.
- Dzotam, J. K., Touani, F. K., & Kuete, V. (2016). Antibacterial activities of the methanol extracts of Canarium schweinfurthii and four other Cameroonian dietary plants against multi-drug resistant Gram-negative bacteria. *Saudi Journal of Biological Sciences*, *23*(5), 565-570.

- Ealia, S. A. M., & Saravanakumar, M. P. (2017). A review on the classification, characterisation, synthesis of nanoparticles and their application. IOP conference series: materials science and engineering,
- Eaton, P., Quaresma, P., Soares, C., Neves, C., De Almeida, M., Pereira, E., & West, P. (2017). A direct comparison of experimental methods to measure dimensions of synthetic nanoparticles. *Ultramicroscopy*, 182, 179-190.
- Egorov, A., Ulyashova, M., & Rubtsova, M. Y. (2018). Bacterial enzymes and antibiotic resistance. Acta Naturae (англоязычная версия), 10(4 (39)), 33-48.
- El-Sherbiny, I. M., Hefnawy, A., & Salih, E. (2016). New core-shell hyperbranched chitosan-based nanoparticles as optical sensor for ammonia detection. *International Journal of Biological macromolecules*, 86, 782-788.
- Elakraa, A. A., Salem, S. S., El-Sayyad, G. S., & Attia, M. S. (2022). Cefotaxime incorporated bimetallic silver-selenium nanoparticles: promising antimicrobial synergism, antibiofilm activity, and bacterial membrane leakage reaction mechanism. *RSC Advances*, *12*(41), 26603-26619.
- Elavazhagan, T., & Arunachalam, K. D. (2011). Memecylon edule leaf extract mediated green synthesis of silver and gold nanoparticles. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, 1265-1278.
- Elbagory, A. M., Cupido, C. N., Meyer, M., & Hussein, A. A. (2016). Large scale screening of southern African plant extracts for the green synthesis of gold nanoparticles using microtitre-plate method. *Molecules*, 21(11), 1498.
- Elsaesser, A., & Howard, C. V. (2012). Toxicology of nanoparticles. *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews*, 64(2), 129-137.
- Elshikh, M., Ahmed, S., Funston, S., Dunlop, P., McGaw, M., Marchant, R., & Banat, I. M. (2016). Resazurin-based 96-well plate microdilution method for the determination of minimum inhibitory concentration of biosurfactants. *Biotechnology Letters*, 38, 1015-1019.
- Esmaeili, A., & Ghobadianpour, S. (2016). Antibacterial activity of Carum copticum extract loaded MnFe2O4 nanoparticles coated with PEGylated chitosan. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 91, 44-48.
- Essghaier, B., Ben Khedher, G., Hannachi, H., Dridi, R., Zid, M. F., & Chaffei, C. (2022). Green synthesis of silver nanoparticles using mixed leaves aqueous extract of wild olive and pistachio: characterization, antioxidant, antimicrobial and effect on virulence factors of Candida. *Archives of Microbiology*, 204(4), 203.
- Essghaier, B., Toukabri, N., Dridi, R., Hannachi, H., Limam, I., Mottola, F., Mokni, M., Zid, M. F., Rocco, L., & Abdelkarim, M. (2022). First report of the biosynthesis and characterization of silver nanoparticles using scabiosa atropurpurea subsp. maritima fruit extracts and their antioxidant, antimicrobial and cytotoxic properties. *Nanomaterials*, 12(9), 1585.
- EUCAST. (1998). Methods for the determination of susceptibility of bacteria to antimicrobial agents. Terminology. *Clin Microbiol Infect*, *4*, 291-296.
- Fadaka, A. O., Sibuyi, N. R. S., Madiehe, A. M., & Meyer, M. (2021). Nanotechnology-based delivery systems for antimicrobial peptides. *Pharmaceutics*, *13*(11), 1795.
- Faheem, S. M., Gohar, U. F., & Riaz, S. (2021). 1. Recent developments in methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) management and potential antimicrobial alternatives to combat the antibiotic resistance challenge: A review. *Pure and Applied Biology (PAB)*, 11(2), 353-385.
- Falzon, C. C., & Balabanova, A. (2017). Phytotherapy: an introduction to herbal medicine. *Primary Care: Clinics in Office Practice*, 44(2), 217-227.
- Farahat, E. M., Hassuna, N. A., Hammad, A. M., Fattah, M. A., & Khairalla, A. S. (2021). Distribution of integrons and phylogenetic groups among Escherichia coli causing community-acquired urinary tract infection in Upper Egypt. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology*, 67(6), 451-463.
- Farfán-García, E. D., Kilic, A., García-Machorro, J., Cuevas-Galindo, M. E., Rubio-Velazquez, B. A., García-Coronel, I. H., Estevez-Fregoso, E., Trujillo-Ferrara, J. G., & Soriano-Ursúa, M. A.

(2023). Antimicrobial (viral, bacterial, fungal, and parasitic) mechanisms of action of boroncontaining compounds. In *Viral, Parasitic, Bacterial, and Fungal Infections* (pp. 733-754). Elsevier.

- Fatima, H., Hamdani, S. D. A., Ahmed, M., Rajput, T. A., Gul, A., Amir, R., Munir, F., Malik, S. Z., & Babar, M. M. (2023). Anti-MRSA potential of biogenic silver nanoparticles synthesized from hydroponically grown Foeniculum vulgare. *Phytomedicine Plus*, 3(1), 100415.
- Feng, Q. L., Wu, J., Chen, G. Q., Cui, F., Kim, T., & Kim, J. (2000). A mechanistic study of the antibacterial effect of silver ions on Escherichia coli and Staphylococcus aureus. *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research*, 52(4), 662-668.
- Fernandez, G. (2022). Turning the juggernaut. In (Vol. 6, pp. E75-E75): ELSEVIER SCI LTD THE BOULEVARD, LANGFORD LANE, KIDLINGTON, OXFORD OX5 1GB
- Ferri, M., Ranucci, E., Romagnoli, P., & Giaccone, V. (2017). Antimicrobial resistance: A global emerging threat to public health systems. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 57(13), 2857-2876.
- Fisher, M. C., Hawkins, N. J., Sanglard, D., & Gurr, S. J. (2018). Worldwide emergence of resistance to antifungal drugs challenges human health and food security. *Science*, *360*(6390), 739-742.
- Flemming, H.-C., & Wingender, J. (2010). The biofilm matrix. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 8(9), 623-633.
- Flores-Mireles, A. L., Walker, J. N., Caparon, M., & Hultgren, S. J. (2015). Urinary tract infections: epidemiology, mechanisms of infection and treatment options. *Nature reviews microbiology*, 13(5), 269-284.
- Fomda, B., Thokar, M., Khan, A., Bhat, J., Zahoor, D., Bashir, G., Majid, A., & Ray, P. (2014). Nasal carriage of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus among healthy population of Kashmir, India. *Indian journal of medical microbiology*, 32(1), 39-43.
- Friday, A., Otalu, O., Ukwubile, C. A., Onoruoyiza, O. V., & Edisha, G. D. (2020). Use of Medicinal Plants as Antimicrobial Agents: A Review of the Successes Story. *International Journal of Medicinal Plants and Natural Products (IJMPNP)*, 6(3), 28-33.
- Gao, S. S., Zhao, I. S., Duffin, S., Duangthip, D., Lo, E. C. M., & Chu, C. H. (2018). Revitalising silver nitrate for caries management. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 15(1), 80.
- Garcia-Gutierrez, E., Mayer, M. J., Cotter, P. D., & Narbad, A. (2019). Gut microbiota as a source of novel antimicrobials. *Gut microbes*, *10*(1), 1-21.
- Garcia-Vello, P., Brobbey, F., Gonzalez-Zorn, B., & Saba, C. K. S. (2020). A cross-sectional study on antibiotic prescription in a teaching hospital in Ghana. *The Pan African Medical Journal*, 35.
- Garcia, E., Ly, N., Diep, J. K., & Rao, G. G. (2021). Moving from point-based analysis to systemsbased modeling: integration of knowledge to address antimicrobial resistance against MDR bacteria. *Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics*, 110(5), 1196-1206.
- Garner, M. J., Carson, C., Lingohr, E. J., Fazil, A., Edge, V. L., & Trumble Waddell, J. (2015). An assessment of antimicrobial resistant disease threats in Canada. *PLOS ONE*, *10*(4), e0125155.
- Garza-Cervantes, J. A., Mendiola-Garza, G., de Melo, E. M., Dugmore, T. I., Matharu, A. S., & Morones-Ramirez, J. R. (2020). Antimicrobial activity of a silver-microfibrillated cellulose biocomposite against susceptible and resistant bacteria. *Scientific Reports*, *10*(1), 7281.
- Gebreyohannes, G., Nyerere, A., Bii, C., & Sbhatu, D. B. (2019). Challenges of intervention, treatment, and antibiotic resistance of biofilm-forming microorganisms. *Heliyon*, 5(8).
- Geetha, N., Geetha, T., Manonmani, P., & Thiyagarajan, M. (2014). Green synthesis of silver nanoparticles using Cymbopogan Citratus (Dc) Stapf. Extract and its antibacterial activity. *Aus Journal Basic Applied Science*, 8(3), 324-331.
- Gericke, M., & Pinches, A. (2006). Microbial production of gold nanoparticles. *Gold bulletin*, *39*, 22-28.

Getahun, H. (2023). Antimicrobial Resistance. In Global Health Essentials (pp. 143-147). Springer.

- Getahun, H., Smith, I., Trivedi, K., Paulin, S., & Balkhy, H. H. (2020). Tackling antimicrobial resistance in the COVID-19 pandemic. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 98(7), 442.
- Gherasim, O., Puiu, R. A., Birca, A. C., Burdusel, A. C., & Grumezescu, A. M. (2020). An Updated Review on Silver Nanoparticles in Biomedicine. *Nanomaterials (Basel)*, 10(11). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/nano10112318</u>
- Ghisalberti, D., Masi, M., Pagès, J.-M., & Chevalier, J. (2005). Chloramphenicol and expression of multidrug efflux pump in Enterobacter aerogenes. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 328(4), 1113-1118.
- Ghosh, C., Sarkar, P., Issa, R., & Haldar, J. (2019). Alternatives to conventional antibiotics in the era of antimicrobial resistance. *Trends in Microbiology*, 27(4), 323-338.
- Ghosh, M. K., Sahu, S., Gupta, I., & Ghorai, T. K. (2020). Green synthesis of copper nanoparticles from an extract of Jatropha curcas leaves: Characterization, optical properties, CT-DNA binding and photocatalytic activity. *RSC Advances*, 10(37), 22027-22035.
- Ghosh, S., Jagtap, S., More, P., Shete, U. J., Maheshwari, N. O., Rao, S. J., Kitture, R., Kale, S., Bellare, J., & Patil, S. (2015). Dioscorea bulbifera mediated synthesis of novel AucoreAgshell nanoparticles with potent antibiofilm and antileishmanial activity. *Journal of Nanomaterials*, 16(1), 161-161.
- Giráldez-Pérez, R. M., Grueso, E. M., Jiménez-Aguayo, R., Carbonero, A., González-Bravo, M., Kuliszewska, E., & Prado-Gotor, R. (2022). Use of Nanoparticles to Prevent Resistance to Antibiotics—Synthesis and Characterization of Gold Nanosystems Based on Tetracycline. *Pharmaceutics*, 14(9), 1941.
- Glusker, J. P., Katz, A. K., & Bock, C. W. (1999). METAL IONS IN BIOLOGICAL SYSTEMS.
- Godman, B., Egwuenu, A., Haque, M., Malande, O. O., Schellack, N., Kumar, S., Saleem, Z., Sneddon, J., Hoxha, I., & Islam, S. (2021). Strategies to improve antimicrobial utilization with a special focus on developing countries. *Life*, 11(6), 528.
- Gomaa, E. Z. (2017). Antimicrobial, antioxidant and antitumor activities of silver nanoparticles synthesized by Allium cepa extract: a green approach. *Journal of Genetic Engineering and Biotechnology*, 15(1), 49-57.
- Gonfa, Y., Tadesse, G., Kumar, S., Terfasa, T. T., & Tesfaye, M. Green Synthesis of Silver Nanoparticles Using Vernonia Amygdalina Plant Extract: Effect of Different Parameters on Synthesis and its Antimicrobial Activities. *Available at SSRN 4415265*.
- Gontijo, L. A. P., Raphael, E., Ferrari, D. P. S., Ferrari, J. L., Lyon, J. P., & Schiavon, M. A. (2020). pH effect on the synthesis of different size silver nanoparticles evaluated by DLS and their sizedependent antimicrobial activity. *Matéria (Rio de Janeiro)*, 25.
- Gorlenko, C. L., Kiselev, H. Y., Budanova, E. V., Zamyatnin Jr, A. A., & Ikryannikova, L. N. (2020). Plant secondary metabolites in the battle of drugs and drug-resistant bacteria: new heroes or worse clones of antibiotics? *Antibiotics*, 9(4), 170.
- Goyal, K., Agarwal, A. K., & Agarwal, A. (2019). The Biosynthesis of Silver Nano-Particles-A Review. *Journal of Applicable Chemistry*, 8(1), 1-11.
- Grace, O., Prendergast, H., Jäger, A., Van Staden, J., & Van Wyk, A. (2003). Bark medicines used in traditional healthcare in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa: An inventory. *South African Journal of Botany*, 69(3), 301-363.
- Guh, A. Y., & Kutty, P. K. (2018). Clostridioides difficile infection (Japanese version). Annals of internal medicine, 169(7), JITC49-JITC64.
- Guiton, P. S., Hung, C. S., Hancock, L. E., Caparon, M. G., & Hultgren, S. J. (2010). Enterococcal biofilm formation and virulence in an optimized murine model of foreign body-associated urinary tract infections. *Infection and Immunity*, 78(10), 4166-4175.
- Gupta, A., Mumtaz, S., Li, C.-H., Hussain, I., & Rotello, V. M. (2019). Combatting antibiotic-resistant bacteria using nanomaterials. *Chemical Society Reviews*, 48(2), 415-427.
- Gupta, D., Thakur, A., & Gupta, T. K. (2023). Green and sustainable synthesis of nanomaterials: Recent advancements and limitations. *Environmental Research*, 116316.

- Gurunathan, S., Han, J., Park, J. H., & Kim, J.-H. (2014). A green chemistry approach for synthesizing biocompatible gold nanoparticles. *Nanoscale Research Letters*, *9*, 1-11.
- Gurunathan, S., Kalishwaralal, K., Vaidyanathan, R., Venkataraman, D., Pandian, S. R. K., Muniyandi, J., Hariharan, N., & Eom, S. H. (2009). Biosynthesis, purification and characterization of silver nanoparticles using Escherichia coli. *Colloids and surfaces B: Biointerfaces*, 74(1), 328-335.
 Guthrie, D. (1958). A history of medicine. Nelson London.
- Guillie, D. (1938). A history of medicine. Netson London.
- Hadrup, N., Sharma, A. K., Loeschner, K., & Jacobsen, N. R. (2020). Pulmonary toxicity of silver vapours, nanoparticles and fine dusts: A review. *Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology*, 115, 104690.
- Haghniaz, R., Rabbani, A., Vajhadin, F., Khan, T., Kousar, R., Khan, A. R., Montazerian, H., Iqbal, J., Libanori, A., & Kim, H.-J. (2021). Anti-bacterial and wound healing-promoting effects of zinc ferrite nanoparticles. *Journal of Nanobiotechnology*, 19, 1-15.
- Hamburger, M., & Hostettmann, K. (1991). 7. Bioactivity in plants: the link between phytochemistry and medicine. *Phytochemistry*, *30*(12), 3864-3874.
- Hampton, T. (2013). Report reveals scope of US antibiotic resistance threat. Jama, 310(16), 1661-1663.
- Han, K., Yin, Y., Wu, S., Wu, C., Su, W., Du, Y., Lian, F., Wu, H., Zhang, X., & Yang, W. (2023). Edited by: Xiaocong Pang, Peking University First Hospital, China Reviewed by. *Interaction between traditional chinese medicine and gut microbiota*, 171.
- Hancock, R. E. (1997). The bacterial outer membrane as a drug barrier. *Trends in microbiology*, 5(1), 37-42.
- Haque, M., Sartelli, M., McKimm, J., & Abu Bakar, M. (2018). Health care-associated infections an overview. *Infect Drug Resist*, 11, 2321-2333. <u>https://doi.org/10.2147/IDR.S177247</u>
- Harris, G., Stickland, C. A., Lim, M., & Goldberg Oppenheimer, P. (2023). Raman Spectroscopy Spectral Fingerprints of Biomarkers of Traumatic Brain Injury. *Cells*, 12(22), 2589.
- Harvey, R. A. (2007). Microbiology. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- Hasan, R., Acharjee, M., & Noor, R. (2016). Prevalence of vancomycin resistant Staphylococcus aureus (VRSA) in methicillin resistant S. aureus (MRSA) strains isolated from burn wound infections. *Tzu Chi Medical Journal*, 28(2), 49-53.
- Hauser, A. R., Mecsas, J., & Moir, D. T. (2016). Beyond antibiotics: new therapeutic approaches for bacterial infections. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 63(1), 89-95.
- Hegemann, J. D., Birkelbach, J., Walesch, S., & Müller, R. (2023). Current developments in antibiotic discovery: Global microbial diversity as a source for evolutionary optimized anti-bacterials. *EMBO reports*, 24(1), e56184.
- Høiby, N., Ciofu, O., & Bjarnsholt, T. (2010). Pseudomonas aeruginosa biofilms in cystic fibrosis. *Future microbiology*, *5*(11), 1663-1674.
- Holmes, A. H., Moore, L. S., Sundsfjord, A., Steinbakk, M., Regmi, S., Karkey, A., Guerin, P. J., & Piddock, L. J. (2016). Understanding the mechanisms and drivers of antimicrobial resistance. *The Lancet*, 387(10014), 176-187.
- Hong, N. H. (2019). Introduction to nanomaterials: basic properties, synthesis, and characterization. In *Nano-sized Multifunctional Materials* (pp. 1-19). Elsevier.
- Hooper, B., Szöke, É., Kéry, Á., Lemberkovics, É., Bognár, J., & Gergely, Á. (2023). From Herbs to Healing: Pharmacognosy-Phytochemistry-Phytotherapy-Biotechnology. Springer Nature.
- Horwat, D., Zakharov, D., Endrino, J., Soldera, F., Anders, A., Migot, S., Karoum, R., Vernoux, P., & Pierson, J. (2011). Chemistry, phase formation, and catalytic activity of thin palladiumcontaining oxide films synthesized by plasma-assisted physical vapor deposition. *Surface and Coatings Technology*, 205, S171-S177.
- Hoseinzadeh, E., Alikhani, M.-Y., Samarghandi, M.-R., & Shirzad-Siboni, M. (2014). Antimicrobial potential of synthesized zinc oxide nanoparticles against gram positive and gram negative bacteria. *Desalination and Water Treatment*, *52*(25-27), 4969-4976.

- Hossain, F., Follett, P., Vu, K. D., Harich, M., Salmieri, S., & Lacroix, M. (2016). Evidence for synergistic activity of plant-derived essential oils against fungal pathogens of food. *Food Microbiology*, 53, 24-30.
- Hosseini Bafghi, M., Safdari, H., Nazari, R., Darroudi, M., Sabouri, Z., Zargar, M., & Zarrinfar, H. (2021). Evaluation and comparison of the effects of biosynthesized selenium and silver nanoparticles using plant extracts with antifungal drugs on the growth of Aspergillus and Candida species. *Rendiconti Lincei. Scienze Fisiche e Naturali*, *32*, 791-803.
- Hulkoti, N. I., & Taranath, T. (2014). Biosynthesis of nanoparticles using microbes—a review. *Colloids* and surfaces B: Biointerfaces, 121, 474-483.
- Huq, M. A. (2020). Green synthesis of silver nanoparticles using Pseudoduganella eburnea MAHUQ-39 and their antimicrobial mechanisms investigation against drug resistant human pathogens. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 21(4), 1510.
- Hussein, R. A., & El-Anssary, A. A. (2019). Plants secondary metabolites: the key drivers of the pharmacological actions of medicinal plants. *Herbal medicine*, 1(3).
- Hutchings, A. (1989). A survey and analysis of traditional medicinal plants as used by the Zulu; Xhosa and Sotho. *Bothalia*, 19(1), 112-123.
- Hutchings, A. (1996). Zulu medicinal plants: An inventory. University of Natal press.
- Hutchings, M. I., Truman, A. W., & Wilkinson, B. (2019). Antibiotics: past, present and future. *Current Opinion in Microbiology*, *51*, 72-80.
- Hyun, J.-S., Lee, B. S., Ryu, H. Y., Sung, J. H., Chung, K. H., & Yu, I. J. (2008). Effects of repeated silver nanoparticles exposure on the histological structure and mucins of nasal respiratory mucosa in rats. *Toxicology letters*, 182(1-3), 24-28.
- Ibrahim, N., & Kebede, A. (2020). In vitro antibacterial activities of methanol and aqueous leave extracts of selected medicinal plants against human pathogenic bacteria. Saudi Journal of Biological Sciences, 27(9), 2261-2268.
- Idris, & Nadzir. (2023). Multi-drug resistant ESKAPE pathogens and the uses of plants as their antimicrobial agents. Archives of Microbiology, 205(4), 115.
- Idris, F. N., & Nadzir, M. M. (2023). Multi-drug resistant ESKAPE pathogens and the uses of plants as their antimicrobial agents. *Archives of Microbiology*, 205(4), 115.
- Ijaz, I., Gilani, E., Nazir, A., & Bukhari, A. (2020). Detail review on chemical, physical and green synthesis, classification, characterizations and applications of nanoparticles. *Green Chemistry Letters and Reviews*, 13(3), 223-245. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17518253.2020.1802517</u>
- Ikuta, K. S., Swetschinski, L. R., Aguilar, G. R., Sharara, F., Mestrovic, T., Gray, A. P., Weaver, N. D., Wool, E. E., Han, C., & Hayoon, A. G. (2022). Global mortality associated with 33 bacterial pathogens in 2019: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. *The Lancet*, 400(10369), 2221-2248.
- Ionkova, I., Shkondrov, A., Zarev, Y., Kozuharova, E., & Krasteva, I. (2022). Anticancer Secondary Metabolites: From Ethnopharmacology and Identification in Native Complexes to Biotechnological Studies in Species of Genus Astragalus L. and Gloriosa L. Current Issues in Molecular Biology, 44(9), 3884-3904.
- Iqbal, P., Preece, J. A., & Mendes, P. M. (2012). Nanotechnology: the "top-down" and "bottom-up" approaches. *Supramolecular chemistry: from molecules to nanomaterials*.
- Iskandar, K., Murugaiyan, J., Hammoudi Halat, D., Hage, S. E., Chibabhai, V., Adukkadukkam, S., Roques, C., Molinier, L., Salameh, P., & Van Dongen, M. (2022). Antibiotic discovery and resistance: the chase and the race. *Antibiotics*, *11*(2), 182.
- Islam, M. A., Jacob, M. V., & Antunes, E. (2021). A critical review on silver nanoparticles: From synthesis and applications to its mitigation through low-cost adsorption by biochar. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 281, 111918.
- Ivanišová, E., Kačániová, M., Savitskaya, T. A., & Grinshpan, D. D. (2021). Medicinal herbs: Important source of bioactive compounds for food industry. *Herbs and Spices—New Processing Technologies*.

Iwu, M. M. (2014). Handbook of African medicinal plants.

- Jain, P., Bepari, A. K., Sen, P. K., Rafe, T., Imtiaz, R., Hossain, M., & Reza, H. M. (2021). High prevalence of multiple antibiotic resistance in clinical E. coli isolates from Bangladesh and prediction of molecular resistance determinants using WGS of an XDR isolate. *Scientific Reports*, 11(1), 22859.
- Jamal, M., Ahmad, W., Andleeb, S., Jalil, F., Imran, M., Nawaz, M. A., Hussain, T., Ali, M., Rafiq, M., & Kamil, M. A. (2018). Bacterial biofilm and associated infections. *Journal of the Chinese Medical Association*, 81(1), 7-11.
- Jana, S., & Pal, T. (2007). Synthesis, characterization and catalytic application of silver nanoshell coated functionalized polystyrene beads. *Journal of Nanoscience and Nanotechnology*, 7(6), 2151-2156.
- Jassim, A. M. N., Farhan, S. A., & Dadoosh, R. M. (2016). Green synthesis of silver nanoparticles using seed aqueous extract of Abelmoschus esculentus and study of their properties. Advances in Environmental Biology, 10(4), 51-67.
- Jayapriya, M., Dhanasekaran, D., Arulmozhi, M., Nandhakumar, E., Senthilkumar, N., & Sureshkumar, K. (2019). Green synthesis of silver nanoparticles using Piper longum catkin extract irradiated by sunlight: antibacterial and catalytic activity. *Research on Chemical Intermediates*, 45, 3617-3631.
- Jayaseelan, C., Ramkumar, R., Rahuman, A. A., & Perumal, P. (2013). Green synthesis of gold nanoparticles using seed aqueous extract of Abelmoschus esculentus and its antifungal activity. *Industrial crops and products*, 45, 423-429.
- Jebasingh, B. E., & Arasu, A. V. (2020). A comprehensive review on latent heat and thermal conductivity of nanoparticle dispersed phase change material for low-temperature applications. *Energy Storage Materials*, 24, 52-74.
- Jernigan, J. A., Hatfield, K. M., Wolford, H., Nelson, R. E., Olubajo, B., Reddy, S. C., McCarthy, N., Paul, P., McDonald, L. C., & Kallen, A. (2020). Multidrug-resistant bacterial infections in US hospitalized patients, 2012–2017. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 382(14), 1309-1319.
- Ji, H., Zhou, S., Fu, Y., Wang, Y., Mi, J., Lu, T., Wang, X., & Lü, C. (2020). Size-controllable preparation and antibacterial mechanism of thermo-responsive copolymer-stabilized silver nanoparticles with high antimicrobial activity. *Materials Science and Engineering: C*, 110, 110735.
- Jiang, K., & Pinchuk, A. O. (2015). Noble metal nanomaterials: synthetic routes, fundamental properties, and promising applications. In *Solid State Physics* (Vol. 66, pp. 131-211). Elsevier.
- Jiang, L., Lin, J., Taggart, C. C., Bengoechea, J. A., & Scott, C. J. (2018). Nanodelivery strategies for the treatment of multidrug-resistant bacterial infections. *Journal of Interdisciplinary* nanomedicine, 3(3), 111-121.
- Joffe, P. (2012). Creative gardening with indigenous plants: A South African guide. (No Title).
- Jonas, O. B., Irwin, A., Berthe, F. C. J., Le Gall, F. G., & Marquez, P. V. (2017). Drug-resistant infections: a threat to our economic future (Vol. 2): final report. *HNP/Agriculture Global Antimicrobial Resistance Initiative*.
- Joudeh, N., & Linke, D. (2022). Nanoparticle classification, physicochemical properties, characterization, and applications: a comprehensive review for biologists. *Journal of Nanobiotechnology*, 20(1), 262.
- Kadu, M., Salve, R., Gajbhiye, K. R., Choudhary, R. K., & Gajbhiye, V. (2023). Historical Perspectives and Advances in Phytonanotechnology. Advances in Phytonanotechnology for Treatment of Various Diseases, 1-20.
- Kang, M. S., Lee, S. Y., Kim, K. S., & Han, D.-W. (2020). State of the art biocompatible gold nanoparticles for cancer theragnosis. *Pharmaceutics*, 12(8), 701.
- Karbelkar, A. A., & Furst, A. L. (2020). Electrochemical diagnostics for bacterial infectious diseases. ACS infectious diseases, 6(7), 1567-1571.

- Kariuki, J. W., Jacobs, J., Ngogang, M. P., & Howland, O. (2023). Antibiotic use by poultry farmers in Kiambu County, Kenya: exploring practices and drivers of potential overuse. *Antimicrobial Resistance & Infection Control*, 12(1), 3.
- Kassinger, S. J., & Van Hoek, M. L. (2021). Genetic determinants of antibiotic resistance in Francisella. *Frontiers in microbiology*, *12*, 644855.
- Katas, H., Lim, C. S., Azlan, A. Y. H. N., Buang, F., & Busra, M. F. M. (2019). Antibacterial activity of biosynthesized gold nanoparticles using biomolecules from Lignosus rhinocerotis and chitosan. *Saudi Pharmaceutical Journal*, *27*(2), 283-292.
- Kaur, R., Avti, P., Kumar, V., & Kumar, R. (2021). Effect of various synthesis parameters on the stability of size controlled green synthesis of silver nanoparticles. *Nano Express*, 2(2), 020005.
- Kavya, I., Kochhar, N., Ghosh, A., Shrivastava, S., Rawat, V. S., Ghorai, S. M., Sodhi, K. K., James, A., & Kumar, M. Total Environment Research Themes.
- Kavya, I., Kochhar, N., Ghosh, A., Shrivastava, S., Rawat, V. S., Ghorai, S. M., Sodhi, K. K., James, A., & Kumar, M. (2023). Perspectives on systematic generation of antibiotic resistance with special emphasis on modern antibiotics. *Total Environment Research Themes*, 8, 100068.
- Kayode, A., Okunrounmu, P., Olagbende, A., Adedokun, O., Hassan, A.-W., & Atilola, G. (2020). High prevalence of multiple drug resistant enteric bacteria: Evidence from a teaching hospital in Southwest Nigeria. *Journal of Infection and Public Health*, 13(4), 651-656.
- Kelly, K. (2009). The history of medicine. New York: Facts On File. In: Inc.
- Keshari, A. K., Srivastava, R., Singh, P., Yadav, V. B., & Nath, G. (2020). Antioxidant and antibacterial activity of silver nanoparticles synthesized by Cestrum nocturnum. *Journal of Ayurveda and Integrative Medicine*, 11(1), 37-44.
- Kesharwani, P., & Gajbhiye, V. (2023). Advances in Phytonanotechnology for Treatment of Various Diseases. CRC Press.
- Khalil, M. M., Ismail, E. H., El-Baghdady, K. Z., & Mohamed, D. (2014). Green synthesis of silver nanoparticles using olive leaf extract and its antibacterial activity. *Arabian Journal of Chemistry*, 7(6), 1131-1139.
- Khameneh, B., Diab, R., Ghazvini, K., & Bazzaz, B. S. F. (2016). Breakthroughs in bacterial resistance mechanisms and the potential ways to combat them. *Microbial pathogenesis*, 95, 32-42.
- Khan, I., Saeed, K., & Khan, I. (2019). Nanoparticles: Properties, applications and toxicities. *Arabian journal of chemistry*, *12*(7), 908-931.
- Khan, N. A., Niaz, A., Zaman, M. I., Khan, F. A., & Tariq, M. (2018). Sensitive and selective colorimetric detection of Pb2+ by silver nanoparticles synthesized from Aconitum violaceum plant leaf extract. *Materials Research Bulletin*, *102*, 330-336.
- Kharaba, Z., Al-Azzam, S., Altawalbeh, S. M., Alkwarit, A., Salmeh, N. A., Alfoteih, Y., Araydah, M., Karasneh, R., & Aldeyab, M. A. (2024). Health literacy, knowledge, household disposal, and misuse practices of antibiotics among UAE residents: a nationwide cross-sectional study. *Expert Review of Anti-infective Therapy*(just-accepted).
- Kharga, K., Kumar, L., & Patel, S. K. S. (2023). Recent advances in monoclonal antibody-based approaches in the management of bacterial sepsis. *Biomedicines*, 11(3), 765.
- Kharissova, O. V., Dias, H. R., Kharisov, B. I., Pérez, B. O., & Pérez, V. M. J. (2013). The greener synthesis of nanoparticles. *Trends in Biotechnology*, *31*(4), 240-248.
- Khatami, M., Pourseyedi, S., Khatami, M., Hamidi, H., Zaeifi, M., & Soltani, L. (2015). Synthesis of silver nanoparticles using seed exudates of Sinapis arvensis as a novel bioresource, and evaluation of their antifungal activity. *Bioresources and Bioprocessing*, *2*, 1-7.
- Khatiwara, B., Singh, S., Sarangi, S., Das, A., Dhakal, J., & Chakraborty, P. (2023). Application of Plant Extracts for the Synthesis of Nanoparticles in Green Chemistry: A Concise Update. *Current Nanomaterials*, 8(3), 224-232.
- Khorsandi, K., Keyvani-Ghamsari, S., Khatibi Shahidi, F., Hosseinzadeh, R., & Kanwal, S. (2021). A mechanistic perspective on targeting bacterial drug resistance with nanoparticles. *Journal of Drug Targeting*, 29(9), 941-959.

- Kim, J. S., Kuk, E., Yu, K. N., Kim, J.-H., Park, S. J., Lee, H. J., Kim, S. H., Park, Y. K., Park, Y. H., & Hwang, C.-Y. (2007). Antimicrobial effects of silver nanoparticles. *Nanomedicine: Nanotechnology, Biology and Medicine*, 3(1), 95-101.
- Kim, Y.-H., & Lee, S. Y. (2012). Comparison of LIVE/DEAD \$^{(R)} \$ BacLight \$^{TM} \$ Bacterial Viability Test and alamarBlue \$^{(R)} \$ Method for Enumeration of Live and Dead Bacteria for Oral Bacterial Species. *International Journal of Oral Biology*, *37*(4), 197-201.
- Kirubaharan, C. J., Kalpana, D., Lee, Y. S., Kim, A., Yoo, D. J., Nahm, K. S., & Kumar, G. G. (2012). Biomediated silver nanoparticles for the highly selective copper (II) ion sensor applications. *Industrial & engineering chemistry research*, 51(21), 7441-7446.
- Klasen, H. (2000a). Historical review of the use of silver in the treatment of burns. I. Early uses. *Burns*, 26(2), 117-130.
- Klasen, H. (2000b). A historical review of the use of silver in the treatment of burns. II. Renewed interest for silver. *Burns*, 26(2), 131-138.
- Klaus, T., Joerger, R., Olsson, E., & Granqvist, C.-G. (1999). Silver-based crystalline nanoparticles, microbially fabricated. *Proceedings of the National Academy of sciences*, *96*(24), 13611-13614.
- Kok, M., Maton, L., van der Peet, M., Hankemeier, T., & van Hasselt, J. C. (2022). Unraveling antimicrobial resistance using metabolomics. *Drug discovery today*, 27(6), 1774-1783.
- Konop, M., Damps, T., Misicka, A., & Rudnicka, L. (2016). Certain aspects of silver and silver nanoparticles in wound care: a minireview. *Journal of Nanomaterials*, 2016, 47-47.
- Konwar, A. N., Hazarika, S. N., Bharadwaj, P., & Thakur, D. (2022). Emerging Non-Traditional Approaches to Combat Antibiotic Resistance. *Current microbiology*, 79(11), 330.
- Koorbanally, C., Crouch, N. R., & Mulholland, D. A. (2006). The phytochemistry and ethnobotany of the southern African genus Eucomis (Hyacinthaceae: Hyacinthoideae). *Phytochemistry: Advances in Research*, 69-85.
- Koulenti, D., Song, A., Ellingboe, A., Abdul-Aziz, M. H., Harris, P., Gavey, E., & Lipman, J. (2019). Infections by multidrug-resistant Gram-negative Bacteria: What's new in our arsenal and what's in the pipeline? *International journal of antimicrobial agents*, 53(3), 211-224.
- Kreft, S., & Kreft, M. (2009). Quantification of dichromatism: a characteristic of color in transparent materials. *JOSA A*, 26(7), 1576-1581.
- Krishnamurthy, V., Saha, A., Renushri, B. V., & Nagaraj, E. R. (2014). Methicillin resistant Staphylococcus aureus carriage, antibiotic resistance and molecular pathogenicity among healthy individuals exposed and not exposed to hospital environment. *Journal of clinical and diagnostic research: JCDR*, 8(7), DC04.
- Krishnanand, S., & Sekhar, J. C. (2018). Biological synthesis of silver nanoparticles and their antimicrobial properties: a review. *Int. J. Curr. Microbiol. Appl. Sci*, 7, 2896-2911.
- Krychowiak, M., Grinholc, M., Banasiuk, R., Krauze-Baranowska, M., Głód, D., Kawiak, A., & Królicka, A. (2014). Combination of silver nanoparticles and Drosera binata extract as a possible alternative for antibiotic treatment of burn wound infections caused by resistant Staphylococcus aureus. *PLOS ONE*, 9(12), e115727.
- Kuete, V. (2023). Potential of African medicinal plants against Enterobacteria: Classification of plants antibacterial agents. In *Advances in Botanical Research* (Vol. 106, pp. 151-335). Elsevier.
- Kukushkina, E. A., Hossain, S. I., Sportelli, M. C., Ditaranto, N., Picca, R. A., & Cioffi, N. (2021). Ag-Based Synergistic Antimicrobial Composites. A Critical Review. *Nanomaterials (Basel)*, 11(7). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/nano11071687</u>
- Kukushkina, E. A., Hossain, S. I., Sportelli, M. C., Ditaranto, N., Picca, R. A., & Cioffi, N. (2021). Agbased synergistic antimicrobial composites. A critical review. *Nanomaterials*, 11(7), 1687.
- Kumar, H., Venkatesh, N., Bhowmik, H., & Kuila, A. (2018). Metallic nanoparticle: a review. *Biomedicine Journal Science Technolgy Research* 4(2), 3765-3775.
- Kumar, H. A. K., Mandal, B. K., Kumar, K. M., babu Maddinedi, S., Kumar, T. S., Madhiyazhagan, P., & Ghosh, A. R. (2014). Antimicrobial and antioxidant activities of Mimusops elengi seed
extract mediated isotropic silver nanoparticles. Spectrochimica acta Part A: Molecular and Biomolecular Spectroscopy, 130, 13-18.

- Kumar, M., Sarma, D. K., Shubham, S., Kumawat, M., Verma, V., Nina, P. B., Jp, D., Kumar, S., Singh, B., & Tiwari, R. R. (2021). Futuristic non-antibiotic therapies to combat antibiotic resistance: A review. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 12, 609459.
- Kumar, R., Kumar, M., & Luthra, G. (2023). Fundamental approaches and applications of nanotechnology: A mini review. *Materials Today: Proceedings*.
- Kumar, V., & Yadav, S. K. (2009). Plant-mediated synthesis of silver and gold nanoparticles and their applications. *Journal of Chemical Technology and Biotechnology*, 84, 151-157.
- Kurhekar, J. V. (2021). Ancient and modern practices in phytomedicine. In *Preparation of Phytopharmaceuticals for the Management of Disorders* (pp. 55-75). Elsevier.
- Kusumoputro, S., Tseng, S., Tse, J., Au, C., Lau, C., Wang, X., & Xia, T. (2020). Potential nanoparticle applications for prevention, diagnosis, and treatment of COVID-19. *View*, *1*(4), 20200105.
- Lahlou, M. (2013). The success of natural products in drug discovery. *Pharmacology & Pharmacy*, 4(03), 17-31.
- Lambert, P. A. (2005). Bacterial resistance to antibiotics: modified target sites. *Advanced Drug Delivery reviews*, *57*(10), 1471-1485.
- Lanks, C. W., Musani, A. I., & Hsia, D. W. (2019). Community-acquired pneumonia and hospitalacquired pneumonia. *Medical Clinics*, 103(3), 487-501.
- Laxminarayan, R., Van Boeckel, T., Frost, I., Kariuki, S., Khan, E. A., Limmathurotsakul, D., Larsson, D. J., Levy-Hara, G., Mendelson, M., & Outterson, K. (2020). The Lancet Infectious Diseases Commission on antimicrobial resistance: 6 years later. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases*, 20(4), e51-e60.
- Le Ouay, B., & Stellacci, F. (2015). Antibacterial activity of silver nanoparticles: A surface science insight. *Nano today*, 10(3), 339-354.
- Lediga, M., Malatjie, T., Olivier, D., Ndinteh, D., & Van Vuuren, S. (2018). Biosynthesis and characterisation of antimicrobial silver nanoparticles from a selection of fever-reducing medicinal plants of South Africa. South African Journal of Botany, 119, 172-180.
- Lee, J.-H. (2019). Perspectives towards antibiotic resistance: from molecules to population. In (Vol. 57, pp. 181-184): Springer.
- Lee, S. H., & Jun, B.-H. (2019). Silver nanoparticles: synthesis and application for nanomedicine. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 20(4), 865.
- Lessa, F. C., Mu, Y., Ray, S. M., Dumyati, G., Bulens, S., Gorwitz, R. J., Fosheim, G., DeVries, A. S., Schaffner, W., & Nadle, J. (2012). Impact of USA300 methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus on clinical outcomes of patients with pneumonia or central line–associated bloodstream infections. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 55(2), 232-241.
- Li, J., Ma, Q., Shao, H., Zhou, X., Xia, H., & Xie, J. (2017). Biosynthesis, characterization, and antibacterial activity of silver nanoparticles produced from rice straw biomass. *BioResources*, 12(3), 4897-4911.
- Li, Q., Li, Z., Zeng, W., Ge, S., Lu, H., Wu, C., Ge, L., Liang, D., & Xu, Y. (2014). Proniosome-derived niosomes for tacrolimus topical ocular delivery: in vitro cornea permeation, ocular irritation, and in vivo anti-allograft rejection. *European journal of pharmaceutical sciences*, 62, 115-123.
- Li, S., Jiang, S., Jia, W., Guo, T., Wang, F., Li, J., & Yao, Z. (2023). Natural antimicrobials from plants: Recent advances and future prospects. *Food Chemistry*, 137231.
- Liaqat, N., Jahan, N., Anwar, T., & Qureshi, H. (2022). Green synthesized silver nanoparticles: Optimization, characterization, antimicrobial activity, and cytotoxicity study by hemolysis assay. *Frontiers in Chemistry*, *10*, 952006.
- Liberal, Â., Fernandes, Â., Polyzos, N., Petropoulos, S. A., Dias, M. I., Pinela, J., Petrović, J., Soković, M., Ferreira, I. C., & Barros, L. (2020). Bioactive properties and phenolic compound profiles of turnip-rooted, plain-leafed and curly-leafed parsley cultivars. *Molecules*, 25(23), 5606.

- Lin, L., Pho, H. Q., Zong, L., Li, S., Pourali, N., Rebrov, E., Tran, N. N., Ostrikov, K. K., & Hessel, V. (2021). Microfluidic plasmas: Novel technique for chemistry and chemical engineering. *Chemical Engineering Journal*, 417, 129355.
- Linkov, P., Artemyev, M., Efimov, A. E., & Nabiev, I. (2013). Comparative advantages and limitations of the basic metrology methods applied to the characterization of nanomaterials. *Nanoscale*, *5*(19), 8781-8798.
- Liu, J.-Y., & Dickter, J. K. (2020). Nosocomial infections: a history of hospital-acquired infections. *Gastrointestinal Endoscopy Clinics*, 30(4), 637-652.
- Liu, W., Wu, Y., Wang, C., Li, H. C., Wang, T., Liao, C. Y., Cui, L., Zhou, Q. F., Yan, B., & Jiang, G.
 B. (2010). Impact of silver nanoparticles on human cells: effect of particle size. *Nanotoxicology*, 4(3), 319-330.
- Liu, X. (2021). IR spectrum and characteristic absorption bands. Organic Chemistry I; Kwantlen Polytechnic University: Surrey, BC, Canada.
- Loo, Y. Y., Rukayadi, Y., Nor-Khaizura, M. A., Kuan, C. H., Chieng, B. W., Nishibuchi, M., & Radu, S. (2018). In Vitro Antimicrobial Activity of Green Synthesized Silver Nanoparticles Against Selected Gram-negative Foodborne Pathogens. *Front Microbiol*, 9, 1555. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.01555</u>
- Loyola-Cruz, M. Á., Gonzalez-Avila, L. U., Martínez-Trejo, A., Saldaña-Padilla, A., Hernández-Cortez, C., Bello-López, J. M., & Castro-Escarpulli, G. (2023). ESKAPE and Beyond: The Burden of Coinfections in the COVID-19 Pandemic. *Pathogens*, 12(5), 743.
- Luceri, A., Francese, R., Lembo, D., Ferraris, M., & Balagna, C. (2023). Silver nanoparticles: review of antiviral properties, mechanism of action and applications. *Microorganisms*, 11(3), 629.
- Lugo, O., & Rivera, R. (2023). A CLOSER LOOK AT INDIRECT CAUSES OF DEATH AFTER HURRICANE MARIA USING A SEMIPARAMETRIC MODEL. *medRxiv*, 2023.2001. 2003.23284158.
- Luther, E. M., Koehler, Y., Diendorf, J., Epple, M., & Dringen, R. (2011). Accumulation of silver nanoparticles by cultured primary brain astrocytes. *Nanotechnology*, 22(37), 375101.
- Maddox, M. (2022). The Use of the Centers for Disease Control (CDC) Outpatient Antibiotic Stewardship Program to Reduce Unnecessary Antibiotic Prescriptions Written for Sinusitis in a Rural Urgent Care Clinic Setting.
- Madkour, L. H. (2017). Ecofriendly green biosynthesized of metallic nanoparticles: bio-reduction mechanism, characterization and pharmaceutical applications in biotechnology industry. *Drugs Ther*, *3*, 1-11.
- Maillard, J.-Y., & Centeleghe, I. (2023). How biofilm changes our understanding of cleaning and disinfection. *Antimicrobial Resistance & Infection Control*, 12(1), 95.
- Major, R. H. (1954). A history of medicine. In A History of Medicine (pp. 563-563).
- Majoumouo, M. S., Sibuyi, N. R. S., Tincho, M. B., Mbekou, M., Boyom, F. F., & Meyer, M. (2019). Enhanced anti-bacterial activity of biogenic silver nanoparticles synthesized from Terminalia mantaly extracts. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, 9031-9046.
- Makvandi, P., Song, H., Yiu, C. K. Y., Sartorius, R., Zare, E. N., Rabiee, N., Wu, W. X., Paiva-Santos, A. C., Wang, X. D., Yu, C. Z., & Tay, F. R. (2023). Bioengineered materials with selective antimicrobial toxicity in biomedicine. *Mil Med Res*, 10(1), 8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40779-023-00443-1</u>
- Mali, S. C., Dhaka, A., Githala, C. K., & Trivedi, R. (2020). Green synthesis of copper nanoparticles using Celastrus paniculatus Willd. leaf extract and their photocatalytic and antifungal properties. *Biotechnology Reports*, 27, e00518.
- Manikandan, A., & Sathiyabama, M. (2015). Green synthesis of copper-chitosan nanoparticles and study of its antibacterial activity. *Journal of Nanomedicine & Nanotechnology*, 6(1), 1.
- Manosalva, N., Tortella, G., Cristina Diez, M., Schalchli, H., Seabra, A. B., Durán, N., & Rubilar, O. (2019). Green synthesis of silver nanoparticles: effect of synthesis reaction parameters on antimicrobial activity. *World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 35, 1-9.

- Marchiol, L. (2012). Synthesis of metal nanoparticles in living plants. *Italian Journal of Agronomy*, 7(3), e37-e37.
- Markwart, R., Saito, H., Harder, T., Tomczyk, S., Cassini, A., Fleischmann-Struzek, C., Reichert, F., Eckmanns, T., & Allegranzi, B. (2020). Epidemiology and burden of sepsis acquired in hospitals and intensive care units: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Intensive Care Medicine*, 46, 1536-1551.
- Maroyi, A. (2017). Diversity of use and local knowledge of wild and cultivated plants in the Eastern Cape province, South Africa. *Journal of Ethnobiology and Ethnomedicine*, *13*, 1-16.
- Marshall, A., & Piddock, L. (1994). Interaction of divalent cations, quinolones and bacteria. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, 34(4), 465-483.
- Martinelli, C., Pucci, C., & Ciofani, G. (2019). Nanostructured carriers as innovative tools for cancer diagnosis and therapy. *APL bioengineering*, *3*(1).
- Martínez Espinosa, J. C., Carrera Cerritos, R., Ramírez Morales, M. A., Sánchez Guerrero, K. P., Silva Contreras, R. A., & Macías, J. H. (2020). Characterization of silver nanoparticles obtained by a green route and their evaluation in the bacterium of Pseudomonas aeruginosa. *Crystals*, *10*(5), 395.
- Masondo, N. A., Aremu, A. O., Finnie, J. F., & Van Staden, J. (2015). Growth and phytochemical levels in micropropagated Eucomis autumnalis subspecies autumnalis using different gelling agents, explant source, and plant growth regulators. *In Vitro Cellular & Developmental Biology-Plant*, 51, 102-110.
- Masondo, N. A., Finnie, J. F., & Van Staden, J. (2014). Pharmacological potential and conservation prospect of the genus Eucomis (Hyacinthaceae) endemic to southern Africa. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 151(1), 44-53.
- Masurkar, S. A., Chaudhari, P. R., Shidore, V. B., & Kamble, S. P. (2011). Rapid biosynthesis of silver nanoparticles using Cymbopogan citratus (lemongrass) and its antimicrobial activity. *Nano-Micro Letters*, 3, 189-194.
- Mat Yusuf, S. N. A., Che Mood, C. N. A., Ahmad, N. H., Sandai, D., Lee, C. K., & Lim, V. (2020). Optimization of biogenic synthesis of silver nanoparticles from flavonoid-rich Clinacanthus nutans leaf and stem aqueous extracts. *Royal Society open science*, 7(7), 200065.
- Mathur, P., Jha, S., Ramteke, S., & Jain, N. (2018). Pharmaceutical aspects of silver nanoparticles. *Artificial cells, nanomedicine, and biotechnology*, 46(sup1), 115-126.
- Matlin, S. A., Mehta, G., Hopf, H., & Krief, A. (2015). The role of chemistry in inventing a sustainable future. *Nature Chemistry*, 7(12), 941-943.
- McGaw, L. J., Steenkamp, V., & Eloff, J. N. (2007). Evaluation of Athrixia bush tea for cytotoxicity, antioxidant activity, caffeine content and presence of pyrrolizidine alkaloids. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 110(1), 16-22.
- McMaster, C. (2007). African potato, a disappearing traditional remedy: wildflower conservation. *Farmer's weekly, national library of South Africa*, 193, 26.
- Medici, S., Peana, M., Nurchi, V. M., & Zoroddu, M. A. (2019). Medical uses of silver: history, myths, and scientific evidence. *Journal of medicinal chemistry*, 62(13), 5923-5943.
- Meeker, D. G., Jenkins, S. V., Miller, E. K., Beenken, K. E., Loughran, A. J., Powless, A., Muldoon, T. J., Galanzha, E. I., Zharov, V. P., & Smeltzer, M. S. (2016). Synergistic photothermal and antibiotic killing of biofilm-associated Staphylococcus aureus using targeted antibiotic-loaded gold nanoconstructs. ACS infectious diseases, 2(4), 241-250.
- Mei, Y., Li, L., Fan, L., Fan, W., Liu, L., Zhang, F., Hu, Z., Wang, K., Yang, L., & Wang, Z. (2023). The history, stereochemistry, ethnopharmacology and quality assessment of borneol. *Journal* of Ethnopharmacology, 300, 115697.
- Menichetti, A., Mavridi-Printezi, A., Mordini, D., & Montalti, M. (2023). Effect of Size, Shape and Surface Functionalization on the Antibacterial Activity of Silver Nanoparticles. *Journal of Functional Biomaterials*, 14(5), 244.

- Mihai, M. M., Dima, M. B., Dima, B., & Holban, A. M. (2019). Nanomaterials for wound healing and infection control. *Materials*, *12*(13), 2176.
- Mirghani, R., Saba, T., Khaliq, H., Mitchell, J., Do, L., Chambi, L., Diaz, K., Kennedy, T., Alkassab, K., & Huynh, T. (2022). Biofilms: Formation, drug resistance and alternatives to conventional approaches. *AIMS microbiology*, 8(3), 239.
- Mirhosseini, M., & Firouzabadi, F. B. (2015). Reduction of Listeria monocytogenes and Bacillus cereus in milk by zinc oxide nanoparticles. *Iranian Journal of Pathology*, *10*(2), 97.
- Miri, V. H., Tyagi, A. K., Ebrahimi, S. H., & Mohini, M. (2013). Effect of cumin (Cuminum cyminum) seed extract on milk fatty acid profile and methane emission in lactating goat. *Small Ruminant Research*, *113*(1), 66-72.
- Mishra, S., Gupta, A., Upadhye, V., Singh, S. C., Sinha, R. P., & Häder, D.-P. (2023). Therapeutic strategies against biofilm infections. *Life*, 13(1), 172.
- Mistry, H., Thakor, R., Patil, C., Trivedi, J., & Bariya, H. (2021). Biogenically proficient synthesis and characterization of silver nanoparticles employing marine procured fungi Aspergillus brunneoviolaceus along with their antibacterial and antioxidative potency. *Biotechnology letters*, *43*, 307-316.
- Mittal, A. K., Chisti, Y., & Banerjee, U. C. (2013). Synthesis of metallic nanoparticles using plant extracts. *Biotechnology advances*, *31*(2), 346-356.
- Modak, M., Dixit, P., Londhe, J., Ghaskadbi, S., & Devasagayam, T. P. A. (2007). Indian herbs and herbal drugs used for the treatment of diabetes. *Journal of clinical biochemistry and nutrition*, 40(3), 163-173.
- Mody, V. V., Nounou, M. I., & Bikram, M. (2009). Novel nanomedicine-based MRI contrast agents for gynecological malignancies. *Advanced drug delivery reviews*, *61*(10), 795-807.
- Mogasale, V. V., Saldanha, P., Pai, V., Rekha, P., & Mogasale, V. (2021). A descriptive analysis of antimicrobial resistance patterns of WHO priority pathogens isolated in children from a tertiary care hospital in India. *Scientific Reports*, 11(1), 5116.
- Mohan, S., Ajay Krishna, M., Chandramouli, M., Keri, R. S., Patil, S. A., Ningaiah, S., & Somappa, S. B. (2023). Antibacterial natural products from microbial and fungal sources: A decade of advances. *Molecular Diversity*, 27(1), 517-541.
- Mohanpuria, P., Rana, N. K., & Yadav, S. K. (2008). Biosynthesis of nanoparticles: technological concepts and future applications. *Journal of nanoparticle research*, *10*, 507-517.
- Mohanta, Y. K., & Behera, S. K. (2014). Biosynthesis, characterization and antimicrobial activity of silver nanoparticles by Streptomyces sp. SS2. *Bioprocess and Biosystems Engineering*, 37, 2263-2269.
- Mohsen, S., Dickinson, J. A., & Somayaji, R. (2020). Update on the adverse effects of antimicrobial therapies in community practice. *Canadian Family Physician*, 66(9), 651-659.
- Moiketsi, B. N., Makale, K. P., Rantong, G., Rahube, T. O., & Makhzoum, A. (2023). Potential of Selected African Medicinal Plants as Alternative Therapeutics against Multi-Drug-Resistant Bacteria. *Biomedicines*, 11(10), 2605.
- Mondal, A. H., Yadav, D., Mitra, S., & Mukhopadhyay, K. (2020). Biosynthesis of silver nanoparticles using culture supernatant of shewanella sp. Ary1 and their antibacterial activity. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, 8295-8310.
- Moond, M., Singh, S., Sangwan, S., Devi, P., Beniwal, A., Rani, J., Kumari, A., & Rani, S. (2023). Biosynthesis of silver nanoparticles utilizing leaf extract of Trigonella foenum-graecum L. for catalytic dyes degradation and colorimetric sensing of Fe3+/Hg2+. *Molecules*, 28(3), 951.
- Moond, M., Singh, S., Sangwan, S., Devi, R., Rani, J., Beniwal, A., & Beniwal, R. (2023). Synthesis, optimization and characterization of Silver nanoparticles using aqueous seed extract of Trigonella foenum-graceum L. for catalytic reduction of p-nitrophenol. *ChemistrySelect*, 8(29), e202301006.

- Moradi, F., Ghaedi, A., Fooladfar, Z., & Bazrgar, A. (2023a). Recent advance on nanoparticles or nanomaterials with anti-multidrug resistant bacteria and anti-bacterial biofilm properties: A systematic review. *Heliyon*, 9(11). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2023.e22105
- Moradi, F., Ghaedi, A., Fooladfar, Z., & Bazrgar, A. (2023b). Recent advance on nanoparticles or nanomaterials with anti-Multidrug resistant Bacteria and anti-bacterial biofilm properties; A systematic review. *Heliyon*.
- Moradi, F., Sedaghat, S., Moradi, O., & Arab Salmanabadi, S. (2021). Review on green nanobiosynthesis of silver nanoparticles and their biological activities: With an emphasis on medicinal plants. *Inorganic and Nano-Metal Chemistry*, *51*(1), 133-142.
- Mordeniz, C. (2019). Traditional and Complementary Medicine. BoD–Books on Demand.
- More, P. R., Pandit, S., Filippis, A., Franci, G., Mijakovic, I., & Galdiero, M. (2023). Silver Nanoparticles: Bactericidal and Mechanistic Approach against Drug Resistant Pathogens. *Microorganisms*, 11(2). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms11020369</u>
- More, P. R., Pandit, S., Filippis, A. D., Franci, G., Mijakovic, I., & Galdiero, M. (2023). Silver nanoparticles: bactericidal and mechanistic approach against drug resistant pathogens. *Microorganisms*, *11*(2), 369.
- Moreno-Vega, A.-I., Gomez-Quintero, T., Nunez-Anita, R.-E., Acosta-Torres, L.-S., & Castaño, V. (2012). Polymeric and ceramic nanoparticles in biomedical applications. *Journal of Nanotechnology*, 2012.
- Morrison, L., & Zembower, T. R. (2020). Antimicrobial resistance. *Gastrointestinal Endoscopy Clinics*, 30(4), 619-635.
- Moses, T., Pollier, J., Thevelein, J. M., & Goossens, A. (2013). Bioengineering of plant (tri) terpenoids: from metabolic engineering of plants to synthetic biology in vivo and in vitro. *New Phytologist*, 200(1), 27-43.
- Mostafa, A. A., Sayed, S. R., Solkamy, E. N., Khan, M., Shaik, M. R., Al-Warthan, A., & Adil, S. F. (2015). Evaluation of biological activities of chemically synthesized silver nanoparticles. *Journal of Nanomaterials*, 16(1), 443-443.
- Moteriya, P., & Chanda, S. (2018). Biosynthesis of silver nanoparticles formation from Caesalpinia pulcherrima stem metabolites and their broad spectrum biological activities. *Journal of Genetic Engineering and Biotechnology*, *16*(1), 105-113.
- Mothibe, M. E., & Sibanda, M. (2019). African traditional medicine: South African perspective. *Traditional and Complementary Medicine*, 2019, 1-27.
- Mühlen, S., & Dersch, P. (2016). Anti-virulence strategies to target bacterial infections. *How to Overcome the Antibiotic Crisis: Facts, Challenges, Technologies and Future Perspectives*, 147-183.
- Mukherjee, P., Ahmad, A., Mandal, D., Senapati, S., Sainkar, S. R., Khan, M. I., Ramani, R., Parischa, R., Ajayakumar, P., & Alam, M. (2001). Bioreduction of AuCl4– ions by the fungus, Verticillium sp. and surface trapping of the gold nanoparticles formed. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition*, 40(19), 3585-3588.
- Mulholland, D. A., Schwikkard, S. L., & Crouch, N. R. (2013). The chemistry and biological activity of the Hyacinthaceae. *Natural product reports*, *30*(9), 1165-1210.
- Mulvaney, P. (1996). Surface plasmon spectroscopy of nanosized metal particles. *Langmuir*, 12(3), 788-800.
- Murray, C. J., Abbafati, C., Abbas, K. M., Abbasi, M., Abbasi-Kangevari, M., Abd-Allah, F., Abdollahi, M., Abedi, P., Abedi, A., & Abolhassani, H. (2020). Five insights from the global burden of disease study 2019. *The lancet*, 396(10258), 1135-1159.
- Murray, C. J., Ikuta, K. S., Sharara, F., Swetschinski, L., Aguilar, G. R., Gray, A., Han, C., Bisignano, C., Rao, P., & Wool, E. (2022). Global burden of bacterial antimicrobial resistance in 2019: a systematic analysis. *The lancet*, 399(10325), 629-655.

- Murugan, K., Senthilkumar, B., Senbagam, D., & Al-Sohaibani, S. (2014). Biosynthesis of silver nanoparticles using Acacia leucophloea extract and their antibacterial activity. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, 2431-2438.
- Muthukumar, H., Palanirajan, S. K., Shanmugam, M. K., & Gummadi, S. N. (2020). Plant extract mediated synthesis enhanced the functional properties of silver ferrite nanoparticles over chemical mediated synthesis. *Biotechnology Reports*, 26, e00469.
- Nam, G., Purushothaman, B., Rangasamy, S., & Song, J. M. (2016). Investigating the versatility of multifunctional silver nanoparticles: preparation and inspection of their potential as wound treatment agents. *International Nano Letters*, 6, 51-63.
- Nampoothiri, M., Gurram, P. C., Bojja, S. L., & Satarker, S. (2023). Phytochemical Nanoformulations for Neurological Disorders. In Advances in Phytonanotechnology for Treatment of Various Diseases (pp. 179-197). CRC Press.
- Nandhini, S. N., Sisubalan, N., Vijayan, A., Karthikeyan, C., Gnanaraj, M., Gideon, D. A. M., Jebastin, T., Varaprasad, K., & Sadiku, R. (2023). Recent advances in green synthesized nanoparticles for bactericidal and wound healing applications. *Heliyon*.
- Narayanan, K. B., & Sakthivel, N. (2010). Phytosynthesis of gold nanoparticles using leaf extract of Coleus amboinicus Lour. *Materials Characterization*, 61(11), 1232-1238.
- Narayanan, K. B., & Sakthivel, N. (2011). Extracellular synthesis of silver nanoparticles using the leaf extract of Coleus amboinicus Lour. *Materials Research Bulletin*, 46(10), 1708-1713.
- Naseem, K., Zia Ur Rehman, M., Ahmad, A., Dubal, D., & AlGarni, T. S. (2020). Plant extract induced biogenic preparation of silver nanoparticles and their potential as catalyst for degradation of toxic dyes. *Coatings*, 10(12), 1235.
- Naseer, M., Aslam, U., Khalid, B., & Chen, B. (2020). Green route to synthesize Zinc Oxide Nanoparticles using leaf extracts of Cassia fistula and Melia azadarach and their antibacterial potential. *Scientific Reports*, 10(1), 9055.
- Naskar, A., & Kim, K.-s. (2019). Nanomaterials as delivery vehicles and components of new strategies to combat bacterial infections: Advantages and limitations. *Microorganisms*, 7(9), 356.
- Ndikau, M., Noah, N. M., Andala, D. M., & Masika, E. (2017). Green synthesis and characterization of silver nanoparticles using Citrullus lanatus fruit rind extract. *International Journal of Analytical Chemistry*, 2017.
- Ngouana, T. K., Mbouna, C. D. J., Kuipou, R. M. T., Tchuenmogne, M. A. T., Zeuko'o, E. M., Ngouana, V., Mallié, M., Bertout, S., & Boyom, F. F. (2015). Potent and synergistic extract combinations from Terminalia catappa, Terminalia mantaly and Monodora tenuifolia against pathogenic yeasts. *Medicines*, 2(3), 220-235.
- Nisar, P., Ali, N., Rahman, L., Ali, M., & Shinwari, Z. K. (2019). Antimicrobial activities of biologically synthesized metal nanoparticles: an insight into the mechanism of action. J Biol Inorg Chem, 24(7), 929-941. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00775-019-01717-7</u>
- Niveditha, S., Pramodhini, S., Umadevi, S., Kumar, S., & Stephen, S. (2012). The isolation and the biofilm formation of uropathogens in the patients with catheter associated urinary tract infections (UTIs). *Journal of clinical and diagnostic research: JCDR*, 6(9), 1478.
- Nordmann, P., Dortet, L., & Poirel, L. (2012). Carbapenem resistance in Enterobacteriaceae: here is the storm! *Trends in Molecular Medicine*, *18*(5), 263-272.
- Norouzi, M., Yasamineh, S., Montazeri, M., Dadashpour, M., Sheervalilou, R., Abasi, M., & Pilehvar-Soltanahmadi, Y. (2019). Recent advances on nanomaterials-based fluorimetric approaches for microRNAs detection. *Materials Science and Engineering: C*, 104, 110007.
- Nowak, P., & Paluchowska, P. (2016). Acinetobacter baumannii: biology and drug resistance—role of carbapenemases. *Folia histochemica et cytobiologica*, 54(2), 61-74.
- Nqakala, Z. B., Sibuyi, N. R., Fadaka, A. O., Meyer, M., Onani, M. O., & Madiehe, A. M. (2021). Advances in nanotechnology towards development of silver nanoparticle-based wound-healing agents. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 22(20), 11272.

- O'Neill, J. (2016). Review on antimicrobial resistance: tackling drug-resistant infections globally: final report and recommendations. In (pp. 80 pp.). London: Wellcome Trust.
- O'Neill, J. (2014). Review on antimicrobial resistance. Antimicrobial resistance: Tackling A Crisis For The Health and Wealth of Nations, 2014(4).
- Odoi, H., Boamah, V. E., Duah Boakye, Y., Dodoo, C. C., & Agyare, C. (2022). Sensitivity patterns, plasmid profiles and clonal relatedness of multi-drug resistant Pseudomonas aeruginosa isolated from the Ashanti region, Ghana. *Environmental Health Insights*, *16*, 11786302221078117.
- Oliveira, M., Simoes, M., & Sassi, C. (2006). Fitoterapia no sistema de saúde pública (SUS) no estado de São Paulo, Brasil. *Revista Brasileira de Plantas Medicinais*, 39-41.
- Olson, P. D., & Hunstad, D. A. (2016). Subversion of host innate immunity by uropathogenic Escherichia coli. *Pathogens*, 5(1), 2.
- Oluwasanu, A. A., Oluwaseun, F., Teslim, J. A., Isaiah, T. T., Olalekan, I. A., & Chris, O. A. (2019). Scientific applications and prospects of nanomaterials: A multidisciplinary review. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, 18(30), 946-961.
- Ottoni, C. A., Simões, M. F., Fernandes, S., Dos Santos, J. G., Da Silva, E. S., de Souza, R. F. B., & Maiorano, A. E. (2017). Screening of filamentous fungi for antimicrobial silver nanoparticles synthesis. *Amb Express*, 7(1), 1-10.
- Pabbati, R., Kondakindi, V. R., & Shaik, F. (2021). Applications of Nanomaterials in Biomedical Engineering. *Nanotechnology for Advances in Medical Microbiology*, 51-86.
- Page, B., PAGE, M., & NOEL, C. (1993). A new fluorometric assay for cytotoxicity measurements invitro. *International journal of oncology*, 3(3), 473-476.
- Pancu, D. F., Scurtu, A., Macasoi, I. G., Marti, D., Mioc, M., Soica, C., Coricovac, D., Horhat, D., Poenaru, M., & Dehelean, C. (2021). Antibiotics: conventional therapy and natural compounds with antibacterial activity—a pharmaco-toxicological screening. *Antibiotics*, 10(4), 401.
- Panda, S. K., Van Puyvelde, L., Mukazayire, M. J., & Gazim, Z. C. (2022). Ethnopharmacology of the lamiaceae: Opportunities and challenges for developing new medicines. *Frontiers in pharmacology*, 13, 961486.
- Pandit, C., Roy, A., Ghotekar, S., Khusro, A., Islam, M. N., Emran, T. B., Lam, S. E., Khandaker, M. U., & Bradley, D. A. (2022). Biological agents for synthesis of nanoparticles and their applications. *Journal of King Saud University-Science*, 34(3), 101869.
- Paneri, M., & Sevta, P. (2023). Overview of Antimicrobial Resistance: An Emerging Silent Pandemic. Global Journal of Medical, Pharmaceutical, and Biomedical Update, 18.
- Pangli, H., Vatanpour, S., Hortamani, S., Jalili, R., & Ghahary, A. (2021). Incorporation of silver nanoparticles in hydrogel matrices for controlling wound infection. *Journal of Burn Care & Research*, 42(4), 785-793.
- Pankey, G. A., & Sabath, L. (2004). Clinical relevance of bacteriostatic versus bactericidal mechanisms of action in the treatment of Gram-positive bacterial infections. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 38(6), 864-870.
- Parak, W. J., Gerion, D., Pellegrino, T., Zanchet, D., Micheel, C., Williams, S. C., Boudreau, R., Le Gros, M. A., Larabell, C. A., & Alivisatos, A. P. (2003). Biological applications of colloidal nanocrystals. *Nanotechnology*, 14(7), R15.
- Parmanik, A., Das, S., Kar, B., Bose, A., Dwivedi, G. R., & Pandey, M. M. (2022). Current treatment strategies against multidrug-resistant bacteria: a review. *Current microbiology*, 79(12), 388.
- Parmar, S., Kaur, H., Singh, J., Matharu, A. S., Ramakrishna, S., & Bechelany, M. (2022). Recent advances in green synthesis of Ag NPs for extenuating antimicrobial resistance. *Nanomaterials*, 12(7), 1115.
- Parveen, K., Banse, V., & Ledwani, L. (2016). Green synthesis of nanoparticles: Their advantages and disadvantages. AIP conference proceedings,
- Patel, R., Vinchurkar, M., Patkar, R., Naik, T., Adami, A., Giacomozzi, F., Ramesh, R., Pramanick, B., Lorenzelli, L., & Baghini, M. S. (2023). Green synthesized silver nanoparticles functionalized

interdigitated electrodes for bacterial sensing using non-faradaic electrochemical impedance spectroscopy. *Micro and Nano Engineering*, 100231.

- Patil, S. P., & Burungale, V. V. (2020). Physical and chemical properties of nanomaterials. In *Nanomedicines for breast cancer theranostics* (pp. 17-31). Elsevier.
- Pawlik, V., Zhou, S., Zhou, S., Qin, D., & Xia, Y. (2023). Silver Nanocubes: From Serendipity to Mechanistic Understanding, Rational Synthesis, and Niche Applications. *Chemistry of Materials*, 35(9), 3427-3449.
- Peleg, A. Y., Seifert, H., & Paterson, D. L. (2008). Acinetobacter baumannii: emergence of a successful pathogen. *Clinical microbiology reviews*, 21(3), 538-582.
- Pendleton, J. N., Gorman, S. P., & Gilmore, B. F. (2013). Clinical relevance of the ESKAPE pathogens. *Expert Review of Anti-infective Therapy*, 11(3), 297-308.
- Penesyan, A., Nagy, S. S., Kjelleberg, S., Gillings, M. R., & Paulsen, I. T. (2019). Rapid microevolution of biofilm cells in response to antibiotics. *NPJ biofilms and Microbiomes*, 5(1), 34.
- Petrovska, B. B. (2012). Historical review of medicinal plants' usage. *Pharmacognosy reviews*, 6(11), 1.
- Philip, D. (2009). Biosynthesis of Au, Ag and Au–Ag nanoparticles using edible mushroom extract. *Spectrochimica acta Part A: molecular and biomolecular spectroscopy*, 73(2), 374-381.
- Phillips, I., Acar, J., Bergan, T., Degener, J., Baquero, F., Forsgren, A., Schito, G., & Wiedemann, B. (1998). Methods for the determination of susceptibility of bacteria to antimicrobial agents. Terminology, EUCAST Definitive Document. *Clinical Microbiological Infection*, 4, 291-296.
- Polte, J. r., Ahner, T. T., Delissen, F., Sokolov, S., Emmerling, F., Thünemann, A. F., & Kraehnert, R. (2010). Mechanism of gold nanoparticle formation in the classical citrate synthesis method derived from coupled in situ XANES and SAXS evaluation. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 132(4), 1296-1301.
- Prabhakar, P. K., & Doble, M. (2011). Effect of natural products on commercial oral antidiabetic drugs in enhancing 2-deoxyglucose uptake by 3T3-L1 adipocytes. *Therapeutic Advances in Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 2(3), 103-114.
- Prabhu, S., & Poulose, E. K. (2012). Silver nanoparticles: mechanism of antimicrobial action, synthesis, medical applications, and toxicity effects. *International Nano Letters*, 2, 1-10.
- Prasher, P., Singh, M., & Mudila, H. (2018). Silver nanoparticles as antimicrobial therapeutics: current perspectives and future challenges. *3 Biotech*, *8*, 1-23.
- Praveen, A., Biswas, V., Goswami, S., Marisetti, A. L., Tiwari, A., Tiwari, V., Savita, N., Kumar, V., Gupta, M., & Bhatia, S. (2023). Usefulness of Medicinal Plants in Treating Various Diseases. In Advances in Phytonanotechnology for Treatment of Various Diseases (pp. 21-65). CRC Press.
- Pullon, H. W., Gommans, J., Thomas, M. G., Metcalf, S., Grainger, R., & Wild, H. (2016). Antimicrobial resistance in New Zealand: the evidence and a call for action. *New Zealand Medical Journal*, 129(1444), 103-110.
- Qais, F. A., Shafiq, A., Ahmad, I., Husain, F. M., Khan, R. A., & Hassan, I. (2020). Green synthesis of silver nanoparticles using Carum copticum: Assessment of its quorum sensing and biofilm inhibitory potential against gram negative bacterial pathogens. *Microbial pathogenesis*, 144, 104172.
- Qamer, S., Romli, M. H., Che-Hamzah, F., Misni, N., Joseph, N. M., Al-Haj, N. A., & Amin-Nordin, S. (2021). Systematic review on biosynthesis of silver nanoparticles and antibacterial activities: Application and theoretical perspectives. *Molecules*, 26(16), 5057.
- Qidwai, A., Pandey, A., Kumar, R., Shukla, S., & Dikshit, A. (2018). Advances in biogenic nanoparticles and the mechanisms of antimicrobial effects. *Indian Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 80(4).
- Qin, Y., Ji, X., Jing, J., Liu, H., Wu, H., & Yang, W. (2010). Size control over spherical silver nanoparticles by ascorbic acid reduction. *Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects*, 372(1-3), 172-176.

- Quraini, M. A., Jabri, Z. A., Sami, H., Mahindroo, J., Taneja, N., Muharrmi, Z. A., Busaidi, I. A., & Rizvi, M. (2023). Exploring Synergistic Combinations in Extended and Pan-Drug Resistant (XDR and PDR) Whole Genome Sequenced Acinetobacter baumannii. *Microorganisms*, *11*(6), 1409.
- Rabiee, N., Bagherzadeh, M., Kiani, M., & Ghadiri, A. M. (2020). Rosmarinus officinalis directed palladium nanoparticle synthesis: investigation of potential anti-bacterial, anti-fungal and Mizoroki-Heck catalytic activities. *Advanced Powder Technology*, *31*(4), 1402-1411.
- Rafique, M., Rafique, M. S., Butt, S. H., Afzal, A., & Kalsoom, U. (2019). Laser nature dependence on enhancement of optical and thermal properties of copper oxide nanofluids. *Applied Surface Science*, 483, 187-193.
- Raghunandan, D., Borgaonkar, P. A., Bendegumble, B., Bedre, M. D., Bhagawanraju, M., Yalagatti, M. S., & Abbaraju, V. (2011). Microwave-assisted rapid extracellular biosynthesis of silver nanoparticles using carom seed (Trachyspermum copticum) extract and in vitro studies. *American Journal of Analytical Chemistry*, 2(04), 475.
- Raj, S., Trivedi, R., & Soni, V. (2021). Biogenic synthesis of silver nanoparticles, characterization and their applications—a review. *Surfaces*, *5*(1), 67-90.
- Ramanathan, S., Gopinath, S. C., Arshad, M. M., Poopalan, P., & Perumal, V. (2021). Nanoparticle synthetic methods: Strength and limitations. In *Nanoparticles in Analytical and Medical Devices* (pp. 31-43). Elsevier.
- Ramrakhiani, L., & Ghosh, S. (2018). Metallic nanoparticle synthesised by biological route: safer candidate for diverse applications. *IET nanobiotechnology*, *12*(4), 392-404.
- Ranjbar, R., & Alam, M. (2023). Antimicrobial Resistance Collaborators (2022). Global burden of bacterial antimicrobial resistance in 2019: a systematic analysis. *Evidence-Based Nursing*.
- Rao, J. P., & Geckeler, K. E. (2011). Polymer nanoparticles: Preparation techniques and size-control parameters. *Progress in Polymer Science*, 36(7), 887-913.
- Rao, N., Ziran, B. H., & Lipsky, B. A. (2011). Treating osteomyelitis: antibiotics and surgery. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery*, 127, 177S-187S.
- Rasheed, T., Bilal, M., Li, C., Nabeel, F., Khalid, M., & Iqbal, H. M. (2018). Catalytic potential of biosynthesized silver nanoparticles using Convolvulus arvensis extract for the degradation of environmental pollutants. *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology B: Biology*, 181, 44-52.
- Raskin, I. (1996). Plant genetic engineering may help with environmental cleanup. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 93(8), 3164-3166.
- Ravindran, D., Ramanathan, S., Arunachalam, K., Jeyaraj, G., Shunmugiah, K., & Arumugam, V. (2018). Phytosynthesized silver nanoparticles as antiquorum sensing and antibiofilm agent against the nosocomial pathogen Serratia marcescens: an in vitro study. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 124(6), 1425-1440.
- Rawson, T. M., Moore, L. S., Zhu, N., Ranganathan, N., Skolimowska, K., Gilchrist, M., Satta, G., Cooke, G., & Holmes, A. (2020). Bacterial and fungal coinfection in individuals with coronavirus: a rapid review to support COVID-19 antimicrobial prescribing. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 71(9), 2459-2468.
- Reddy, J. M., Anitha, R., Rajeshkumar, S., & Lakshmi, T. (2019). Characterisation of cumin oil mediated silver nanoparticles using UV-visible spectrophotometer and TEM. *Research Journal* of Pharmacy and Technology, 12(10), 4931-4933.
- Rehman, S. (2023). ReviewA parallel and silent emerging pandemic: Antimicrobial resistance (AMR) amid COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal of Infection and Public Health*.
- Rengasamy, M., Anbalagan, K., Kodhaiyolii, S., & Pugalenthi, V. (2016). Castor leaf mediated synthesis of iron nanoparticles for evaluating catalytic effects in transesterification of castor oil. *RSC Advances*, 6(11), 9261-9269.
- Reygaert, W. C. (2018). An overview of the antimicrobial resistance mechanisms of bacteria. *AIMS Microbiology*, 4(3), 482.

- Rhee, C., Aol, G., Ouma, A., Audi, A., Muema, S., Auko, J., Omore, R., Odongo, G., Wiegand, R. E., & Montgomery, J. M. (2019). Inappropriate use of antibiotics for childhood diarrhea case management—Kenya, 2009–2016. *BMC Public Health*, 19, 1-12.
- Riaz, M., Mutreja, V., Sareen, S., Ahmad, B., Faheem, M., Zahid, N., Jabbour, G., & Park, J. (2021). Exceptional antibacterial and cytotoxic potency of monodisperse greener AgNPs prepared under optimized pH and temperature. *Scientific Reports*, 11(1), 2866.
- Riss, T. L., Moravec, R. A., Niles, A. L., Duellman, S., Benink, H. A., Worzella, T. J., & Minor, L. (2016). Cell viability assays. *Assay Guidance Manual [Internet]*.
- Rödenbeck, M., Ayobami, O., Eckmanns, T., Pletz, M. W., Bleidorn, J., & Markwart, R. (2023). Clinical epidemiology and case fatality due to antimicrobial resistance in Germany: a systematic review and meta-analysis, 1 January 2010 to 31 December 2021. *Eurosurveillance*, 28(20), 2200672.
- Rónavári, A., Igaz, N., Adamecz, D. I., Szerencsés, B., Molnar, C., Kónya, Z., Pfeiffer, I., & Kiricsi, M. (2021). Green silver and gold nanoparticles: Biological synthesis approaches and potentials for biomedical applications. *Molecules*, 26(4), 844.
- Rosman, N. S. R., Harun, N. A., Idris, I., & Wan Ismail, W. I. (2021). Nanobiotechnology: Natureinspired silver nanoparticles towards green synthesis. *Energy & Environment*, 32(7), 1183-1206.
- Roy, S., & Das, T. K. (2015). A review on biosynthesis of silver nanoparticles using Aspergillus species. Advanced Science, Engineering and Medicine, 7(9), 729-738.
- Rozhin, A., Batasheva, S., Kruychkova, M., Cherednichenko, Y., Rozhina, E., & Fakhrullin, R. (2021). Biogenic silver nanoparticles: Synthesis and application as antibacterial and antifungal agents. *Micromachines*, 12(12), 1480.
- Rudd, K. E., Johnson, S. C., Agesa, K. M., Shackelford, K. A., Tsoi, D., Kievlan, D. R., Colombara, D. V., Ikuta, K. S., Kissoon, N., & Finfer, S. (2020). Global, regional, and national sepsis incidence and mortality, 1990–2017: analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study. *The Lancet*, 395(10219), 200-211.
- Safain, K. S., Bhuyan, G. S., Tasnim, S., Hasib, S. H., Sultana, R., Islam, M. S., Mahmud-Un-Nabi, M. A., Sarker, S. K., Noor, F. A., & Rahat, A. (2020). Situation of antibiotic resistance in Bangladesh and its association with resistance genes for horizontal transfer. *BioRxiv*, 2020.2004. 2006.027391.
- Safiri, S., Mahmoodpoor, A., Kolahi, A.-A., Nejadghaderi, S. A., Sullman, M. J., Mansournia, M. A., Ansarin, K., Collins, G. S., Kaufman, J. S., & Abdollahi, M. (2023). Global burden of lower respiratory infections during the last three decades. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 10, 1028525.
- Sahoo, C. R., Maharana, S., Mandhata, C. P., Bishoyi, A. K., Paidesetty, S. K., & Padhy, R. N. (2020). Biogenic silver nanoparticle synthesis with cyanobacterium Chroococcus minutus isolated from Baliharachandi sea-mouth, Odisha, and in vitro antibacterial activity. *Saudi Journal of Biological Sciences*, 27(6), 1580-1586.
- Salabat, A., & Mirhoseini, F. (2018). Photo-Induced Hydrophilicity Study of Poly (methyl methacrylate)/TiO 2 Nanocomposite Prepared in Ionic Liquid Based Microemulsion System. *Curr. Appl. Polym. Sci*, 2, 112-120.
- Salabat, A., & Mirhoseini, F. (2022). Polymer-based nanocomposites fabricated by microemulsion method. *Polymer Composites*, 43(3), 1282-1294.
- Salachna, P., & Zawadzińska, A. (2015). Comparison of morphological traits and mineral content in Eucomis autumnalis (Mill.) Chitt. plants obtained from bulbs treated with fungicides and coated with natural polysaccharides. *Journal of Ecological Engineering*, *16*(2).
- Salam, M. A., Al-Amin, M. Y., Salam, M. T., Pawar, J. S., Akhter, N., Rabaan, A. A., & Alqumber, M. A. (2023). Antimicrobial resistance: A growing serious threat for global public health. Healthcare,

- Salazar-Bryam, A. M., Yoshimura, I., Santos, L. P., Moura, C. C., Santos, C. C., Silva, V. L., Lovaglio, R. B., Marques, R. F. C., Junior, M. J., & Contiero, J. (2021). Silver nanoparticles stabilized by ramnolipids: Effect of pH. *Colloids and surfaces B: Biointerfaces*, 205, 111883.
- Salehi, B., Abu-Darwish, M., Tarawneh, A., Cabral, C., Gadetskaya, A., Salgueiro, L., Hosseinabadi, T., Rajabi, S., Chanda, W., & Sharifi-Rad, M. (2022). Antimicrobial resistance collaborators global burden of bacterial antimicrobial resistance in 2019: a systematic analysis. *Lancet*, 399, 629-655.
- Salem, S. S., & Fouda, A. (2021). Green synthesis of metallic nanoparticles and their prospective biotechnological applications: an overview. *Biological Trace Element Research*, 199, 344-370.
- Samrot, A. V., Shobana, N., Krithika, S. S., Rajalakshmi, D., Sathiyasree, M., & Sanjay, P. R. (2023). Nanocarrier Systems for Delivering Plant-Based Anticancer Agents. In Advances in Phytonanotechnology for Treatment of Various Diseases (pp. 127-139). CRC Press.
- Sánchez-López, E., Gomes, D., Esteruelas, G., Bonilla, L., Lopez-Machado, A. L., Galindo, R., Cano, A., Espina, M., Ettcheto, M., & Camins, A. (2020). Metal-based nanoparticles as antimicrobial agents: an overview. *Nanomaterials*, 10(2), 292.
- Sankar, R., Maheswari, R., Karthik, S., Shivashangari, K. S., & Ravikumar, V. (2014). Anticancer activity of Ficus religiosa engineered copper oxide nanoparticles. *Materials Science and Engineering: C*, 44, 234-239.
- Saravanan, M., Amelash, T., Negash, L., Gebreyesus, A., Selvaraj, A., Rayar, V., & Deekonda, K. (2013). Extracellular biosynthesis and biomedical application of silver nanoparticles synthesized from baker's yeast. *Int J Res Pharm Biomed Sci*, *4*, 822-828.
- Sastry, M., Mayya, K., & Bandyopadhyay, K. (1997). pH Dependent changes in the optical properties of carboxylic acid derivatized silver colloidal particles. *Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects*, *127*(1-3), 221-228.
- Sathishkumar, M., Sneha, K., & Yun, Y.-S. (2010). Immobilization of silver nanoparticles synthesized using Curcuma longa tuber powder and extract on cotton cloth for bactericidal activity. *Bioresource technology*, *101*(20), 7958-7965.
- Saunders, B. I. (2020). Inappropriate Antibiotic Use: A Survey of Provider Prescribing Behaviors.
- Schultz, F., Anywar, G., Tang, H., Chassagne, F., Lyles, J. T., Garbe, L.-A., & Quave, C. L. (2020). Targeting ESKAPE pathogens with anti-infective medicinal plants from the Greater Mpigi region in Uganda. *Scientific Reports*, 10(1), 11935.
- Selvaraj, V., Sagadevan, S., Muthukrishnan, L., Johan, M. R., & Podder, J. (2019). Eco-friendly approach in synthesis of silver nanoparticles and evaluation of optical, surface morphological and antimicrobial properties. *Journal of Nanostructure in Chemistry*, 9, 153-162.
- Şen Karaman, D., Ercan, U. K., Bakay, E., Topaloğlu, N., & Rosenholm, J. M. (2020). Evolving technologies and strategies for combating antibacterial resistance in the advent of the postantibiotic era. Advanced Functional Materials, 30(15), 1908783.
- Sen, S., Chakraborty, R., & De, B. (2011). Challenges and opportunities in the advancement of herbal medicine: India's position and role in a global context. *Journal of Herbal medicine*, 1(3-4), 67-75.
- Serwecińska, L. (2020). Antimicrobials and antibiotic-resistant bacteria: a risk to the environment and to public health. *Water*, *12*(12), 3313.
- Seukep, A. J., Kuete, V., Nahar, L., Sarker, S. D., & Guo, M. (2020). Plant-derived secondary metabolites as the main source of efflux pump inhibitors and methods for identification. *Journal of pharmaceutical analysis*, *10*(4), 277-290.
- Shahryari, F., Rabiei, Z., & Sadighian, S. (2020). Antibacterial activity of synthesized silver nanoparticles by sumac aqueous extract and silver-chitosan nanocomposite against Pseudomonas syringae pv. syringae. *Journal of Plant Pathology*, *102*, 469-475.
- Shaik, M. R., Albalawi, G. H., Khan, S. T., Khan, M., Adil, S. F., Kuniyil, M., Al-Warthan, A., Siddiqui, M. R. H., Alkhathlan, H. Z., & Khan, M. (2016). "Miswak" based green synthesis of silver

nanoparticles: evaluation and comparison of their microbicidal activities with the chemical synthesis. *Molecules*, 21(11), 1478.

- Shaik, M. R., Khan, M., Kuniyil, M., Al-Warthan, A., Alkhathlan, H. Z., Siddiqui, M. R. H., Shaik, J. P., Ahamed, A., Mahmood, A., & Khan, M. (2018). Plant-extract-assisted green synthesis of silver nanoparticles using Origanum vulgare L. extract and their microbicidal activities. *Sustainability*, 10(4), 913.
- Shankar, P. D., Shobana, S., Karuppusamy, I., Pugazhendhi, A., Ramkumar, V. S., Arvindnarayan, S., & Kumar, G. (2016). A review on the biosynthesis of metallic nanoparticles (gold and silver) using bio-components of microalgae: Formation mechanism and applications. *Enzyme and Microbial Technology*, 95, 28-44.
- Shankar, P. R., & Balasubramanium, R. (2014). Antimicrobial resistance: global report on surveillance 2014. *Australasian Medical Journal (Online)*, 7(5), 237.
- Shareef, H., Sial, A. A., Zafar, F., & Ali, H. (2016). Mini Review: Herbal Medicinal Products Regulation in Pakistan. *MADINAT AL-HIKMAH*, 59(1), 60.
- Sharifi-Rad, M., Pohl, P., Epifano, F., & Álvarez-Suarez, J. M. (2020). Green synthesis of silver nanoparticles using Astragalus tribuloides delile. root extract: Characterization, antioxidant, antibacterial, and anti-inflammatory activities. *Nanomaterials*, 10(12), 2383.
- Sharma, B. K., Saha, A., Rahaman, L., Bhattacharjee, S., & Tribedi, P. (2015). Silver inhibits the biofilm formation of Pseudomonas aeruginosa. *Advances in Microbiology*, 5(10), 677.
- Sharma, G., Kumar, A., Sharma, S., Naushad, M., Dwivedi, R. P., ALOthman, Z. A., & Mola, G. T. (2019). Novel development of nanoparticles to bimetallic nanoparticles and their composites: A review. *Journal of King Saud University-Science*, 31(2), 257-269.
- Sharma, V. K., Yngard, R. A., & Lin, Y. (2009). Silver nanoparticles: green synthesis and their antimicrobial activities. Advances in colloid and interface science, 145(1-2), 83-96.
- Shi, Q., Li, L., Huo, C., Zhang, M., & Wang, Y. (2010). Study on natural medicinal chemistry and new drug development. *Zhongcaoyao= Chinese Traditional and Herbal Drugs*, 41(10), 1583-1589.
- Shukla, A. K., & Iravani, S. (2018). Green synthesis, characterization and applications of nanoparticles. Elsevier.
- Shuttleworth, A., & Johnson, S. (2009). A key role for floral scent in a wasp-pollination system in Eucomis (Hyacinthaceae). *Annals of Botany*, *103*(5), 715-725.
- Sibuyi, N. R. S., Meyer, M., Aboyewa, J., & Oguntibeju, O. (2021). Green synthesis of metallic nanoparticles using some selected medicinal plants from southern africa and their biological applications.
- Sidhu, A. K., Verma, N., & Kaushal, P. (2022). Role of biogenic capping agents in the synthesis of metallic nanoparticles and evaluation of their therapeutic potential. *Frontiers in Nanotechnology*, *3*, 801620.
- Sigerist, H. E. (1987). A history of medicine (Vol. 2). Oxford University Press.
- Silva, L. P., Pereira, T. M., & Bonatto, C. C. (2019). Frontiers and perspectives in the green synthesis of silver nanoparticles. In *Green synthesis, characterization and applications of nanoparticles* (pp. 137-164). Elsevier.
- Silva Santos, K., Barbosa, A. M., Pereira da Costa, L., Pinheiro, M. S., Oliveira, M. B. P. P., & Ferreira Padilha, F. (2016). Silver nanocomposite biosynthesis: Antibacterial activity against multidrugresistant strains of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and Acinetobacter baumannii. *Molecules*, 21(9), 1255.
- Simon, S., Sibuyi, N. R. S., Fadaka, A. O., Meyer, S., Josephs, J., Onani, M. O., Meyer, M., & Madiehe, A. M. (2022). Biomedical applications of plant extract-synthesized silver nanoparticles. *Biomedicines*, 10(11), 2792.
- Singh, J., Dutta, T., Kim, K. H., Rawat, M., Samddar, P., & Kumar, P. (2018). 'Green' synthesis of metals and their oxide nanoparticles: applications for environmental remediation. J Nanobiotechnology, 16(1), 84. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12951-018-0408-4</u>

- Singh, P., Kim, Y.-J., Zhang, D., & Yang, D.-C. (2016). Biological synthesis of nanoparticles from plants and microorganisms. *Trends in biotechnology*, *34*(7), 588-599.
- Singh, P. A., Dash, S., Choudhury, A., & Bajwa, N. (2023). Factors affecting long-term availability of medicinal plants in India. *Journal of Crop Science and Biotechnology*, 1-29.
- Singh, R., Sagar, N. A., & Kumar, N. (2022). Bio-inspired green fabrication of silver nanoparticles (AgNPs) using aqueous leaves extract of Ipomoea carnea Jacq. To tackle multiple drug resistance MTCC bacterial strains. *European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry Reports*, 6, 100066.
- Singh, R., Wagh, P., Wadhwani, S., Gaidhani, S., Kumbhar, A., Bellare, J., & Chopade, B. A. (2013). Synthesis, optimization, and characterization of silver nanoparticles from Acinetobacter calcoaceticus and their enhanced antibacterial activity when combined with antibiotics. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, 4277-4290.
- Singhai, M., Malik, A., Shahid, M., Malik, M. A., & Goyal, R. (2012). A study on device-related infections with special reference to biofilm production and antibiotic resistance. *Journal of* global infectious diseases, 4(4), 193.
- Smith, R. A., M'ikanatha, N. M., & Read, A. F. (2015). Antibiotic resistance: a primer and call to action. *Health Communication*, *30*(3), 309-314.
- Soltani, M., Shirvani, H., Veisi, H., Hemmati, S., Mohammadi, P., & Jafard, O. (2023). Antimicrobial effect of green nano-silver synthesized using aqueous extract of Teucrium Parvifolium seed and investigation of structural and morphological characteristics. *Inorganic Chemistry Communications*, 111847.
- Sondi, I., & Salopek-Sondi, B. (2004). Silver nanoparticles as antimicrobial agent: a case study on E. coli as a model for Gram-negative bacteria. *Journal of Colloid and Interface Science*, 275(1), 177-182.
- Soni, V., Raizada, P., Singh, P., Cuong, H. N., Rangabhashiyam, S., Saini, A., Saini, R. V., Van Le, Q., Nadda, A. K., & Le, T.-T. (2021). Sustainable and green trends in using plant extracts for the synthesis of biogenic metal nanoparticles toward environmental and pharmaceutical advances: A review. *Environmental Research*, 202, 111622.
- Sotiriou, G. A., & Pratsinis, S. E. (2011). Engineering nanosilver as an antibacterial, biosensor and bioimaging material. *Current opinion in chemical engineering*, 1(1), 3-10.
- Souza, T. G., Ciminelli, V. S., & Mohallem, N. D. S. (2016). A comparison of TEM and DLS methods to characterize size distribution of ceramic nanoparticles. Journal of Physics: Conference Series,
- Srikar, S. K., Giri, D. D., Pal, D. B., Mishra, P. K., & Upadhyay, S. N. (2016). Green synthesis of silver nanoparticles: a review. *Green and Sustainable Chemistry*, 6(1), 34-56.
- Srinivasan, D., Nathan, S., Suresh, T., & Perumalsamy, P. L. (2001). Antimicrobial activity of certain Indian medicinal plants used in folkloric medicine. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 74(3), 217-220.
- Srinivasan, R., Vigneshwari, L., Rajavel, T., Durgadevi, R., Kannappan, A., Balamurugan, K., Pandima Devi, K., & Veera Ravi, A. (2018). Biogenic synthesis of silver nanoparticles using Piper betle aqueous extract and evaluation of its anti-quorum sensing and antibiofilm potential against uropathogens with cytotoxic effects: an in vitro and in vivo approach. *Environmental Science* and Pollution Research, 25, 10538-10554.
- Sriramulu, M., Shanmugam, S., & Ponnusamy, V. K. (2020). Agaricus bisporus mediated biosynthesis of copper nanoparticles and its biological effects: An in-vitro study. *Colloid and Interface Science Communications*, 35, 100254.
- Stoehr, L. C., Gonzalez, E., Stampfl, A., Casals, E., Duschl, A., Puntes, V., & Oostingh, G. J. (2011). Shape matters: effects of silver nanospheres and wires on human alveolar epithelial cells. *Particle and fibre toxicology*, 8, 1-15.
- Street, R. (2012). Heavy metals in medicinal plant products—An African perspective. South African Journal of Botany, 82, 67-74.

- Subhankari, I., & Nayak, P. (2013). Synthesis of copper nanoparticles using Syzygium aromaticum (Cloves) aqueous extract by using green chemistry. *World Journal Nano Science Technology*, 2(1), 14-17.
- Subramanian, K. S., Manikandan, A., Thirunavukkarasu, M., & Rahale, C. S. (2015). Nano-fertilizers for balanced crop nutrition. *Nanotechnologies in Food and Agriculture*, 69-80.
- Sudarman, F., Shiddiq, M., Armynah, B., & Tahir, D. (2023). Silver nanoparticles (AgNPs) synthesis methods as heavy-metal sensors: A review. *International Journal of Environmental Science* and Technology, 1-18.
- Sukprasert, J., Thumanu, K., Phung-On, I., Jirarungsatean, C., Erickson, L. E., Tuitemwong, P., & Tuitemwong, K. (2020). Synchrotron FTIR Light Reveals Signal Changes of Biofunctionalized Magnetic Nanoparticle Attachment on Salmonella sp. *Journal of Nanomaterials*, 2020, 1-12.
- Sulis, G., Sayood, S., & Gandra, S. (2022). Antimicrobial resistance in low-and middle-income countries: current status and future directions. *Expert Review of Anti-infective Therapy*, 20(2), 147-160.
- Sultan, M. T., Buttxs, M. S., Qayyum, M. M. N., & Suleria, H. A. R. (2014). Immunity: plants as effective mediators. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 54(10), 1298-1308.
- Szabó, S., Feier, B., Capatina, D., Tertis, M., Cristea, C., & Popa, A. (2022). An overview of healthcare associated infections and their detection methods caused by pathogen bacteria in Romania and Europe. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, *11*(11), 3204.
- Szczyglewska, P., Feliczak-Guzik, A., & Nowak, I. (2023). Nanotechnology–General Aspects: A Chemical Reduction Approach to the Synthesis of Nanoparticles. *Molecules*, 28(13), 4932.
- Tacconelli, E. (2017). Global Priority List of Antibiotic-Resistant Bacteria to Guide Research, Discovery, and Development.
- Tagoe, D. N., & Desbordes, K. K. (2012). Investigating potential sources of transmission of healthcareassociated infections in a regional hospital, Ghana. *International Journal of Applied and Basic Medical Research*, 2(1), 20.
- Tahan, M., Zeraatkar, S., Neshani, A., Marouzi, P., Behmadi, M., Alavi, S. J., Hashemi Shahri, S. H., & Hosseini Bafghi, M. (2023). Antibacterial Potential of Biosynthesized Silver Nanoparticles Using Berberine Extract Against Multidrug-resistant Acinetobacter baumannii and Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Indian Journal of Microbiology, 1-8.
- Talapko, J., Matijević, T., Juzbašić, M., Antolović-Požgain, A., & Škrlec, I. (2020). Antibacterial activity of silver and its application in dentistry, cardiology and dermatology. *Microorganisms*, 8(9), 1400.
- Talapko, J., Škrlec, I., Alebić, T., Bekić, S., & Včev, A. (2018). From Bacteriophage to Antibiotics and Back. Collegium antropologicum, 42(2), 131-138.
- Tamma, P. D., Avdic, E., Li, D. X., Dzintars, K., & Cosgrove, S. E. (2017). Association of adverse events with antibiotic use in hospitalized patients. *JAMA internal medicine*, *177*(9), 1308-1315.
- Tancharoen, L., Pairattanakorn, P., Thamlikitkul, V., & Angkasekwinai, N. (2022). Epidemiology and Burden of Sepsis at Thailand's Largest University-Based National Tertiary Referral Center during 2019. Antibiotics, 11(7), 899.
- Tang, K. W. K., Millar, B. C., & Moore, J. E. (2023). Antimicrobial resistance (AMR). *British Journal* of Biomedical Science, 80, 11387.
- Tarannum, N., Divya, & Gautam, Y. K. (2019). Facile green synthesis and applications of silver nanoparticles: a state-of-the-art review. *RSC Adv*, 9(60), 34926-34948. <u>https://doi.org/10.1039/c9ra04164h</u>
- Tariq, M., Mohammad, K. N., Ahmed, B., Siddiqui, M. A., & Lee, J. (2022). Biological synthesis of silver nanoparticles and prospects in plant disease management. *Molecules*, 27(15), 4754.
- Tartor, Y. H., El-Aziz, A., Norhan, K., Gharieb, R., El Damaty, H. M., Enany, S., Soliman, E. A., Abdellatif, S. S., Attia, A. S., & Bahnass, M. M. (2021). Whole-genome sequencing of gramnegative bacteria isolated from bovine mastitis and raw milk: the first emergence of colistin

mcr-10 and fosfomycin fosA5 resistance genes in *Klebsiella pneumoniae* in middle east. *Frontiers in microbiology*, *12*, 770813.

- Taylor, J., Van Staden, J., & Jäger, A. (2002). COX-1 and COX-2 inhibitory activity in extracts prepared from Eucomis species, with further reference to extracts from E. autumnalis autumnalis. *South African Journal of Botany*, 68(1), 80-85.
- Taylor, P., Schoenknecht, F., Sherris, J., & Linner, E. (1983). Determination of minimum bactericidal concentrations of oxacillin for Staphylococcus aureus: influence and significance of technical factors. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy, 23(1), 142-150.
- Tchuenmogne, T., Kammalac, N., & Gohlke, S. (2017). Compounds from Terminalia mantaly L. stem bark exhibit potent inhibition against some pathogenic yeasts and enzymes of metabolic significance. *Medicines*, 4, 6.
- Teja, P. K., Mithiya, J., Kate, A. S., Bairwa, K., & Chauthe, S. K. (2022). Herbal nanomedicines: Recent advancements, challenges, opportunities and regulatory overview. *Phytomedicine*, *96*, 153890.
- Tenover, F. C. (2006). Mechanisms of antimicrobial resistance in bacteria. *The American Journal of Medicine*, *119*(6), S3-S10.
- Teoh, E. S., & Teoh, E. S. (2016). Secondary metabolites of plants. *Medicinal orchids of Asia*, 59-73.
- Tesfaye, M., Gonfa, Y., Tadesse, G., Temesgen, T., & Periyasamy, S. (2023). Green synthesis of silver nanoparticles using Vernonia amygdalina plant extract and its antimicrobial activities. *Heliyon*.
- Testing, E. C. o. A. S. (1998). Methods for the determination of susceptibility of bacteria to antimicrobial agents. *Terminology Eucast Definitive Document*, 4, 291-296.
- Theuretzbacher, U., & Piddock, L. J. (2019). Non-traditional antibacterial therapeutic options and challenges. *Cell Host & Microbe*, 26(1), 61-72.
- Tiwari, H., Rai, N., Singh, S., Gupta, P., Verma, A., Singh, A. K., Kajal, Salvi, P., Singh, S. K., & Gautam, V. (2023). Recent advances in nanomaterials-based targeted drug delivery for preclinical cancer diagnosis and therapeutics. *Bioengineering*, 10(7), 760.
- Tjong, S. C. (2006). Structural and mechanical properties of polymer nanocomposites. *Materials Science and Engineering: R: Reports*, 53(3-4), 73-197.
- Trickler, W. J., Lantz, S. M., Murdock, R. C., Schrand, A. M., Robinson, B. L., Newport, G. D., Schlager, J. J., Oldenburg, S. J., Paule, M. G., & Slikker Jr, W. (2010). Silver nanoparticle induced blood-brain barrier inflammation and increased permeability in primary rat brain microvessel endothelial cells. *Toxicological Sciences*, 118(1), 160-170.
- Tripathy, S., Rodrigues, J., & Shimpi, N. G. (2023). Top-down and Bottom-up Approaches for Synthesis of Nanoparticles. Nanobiomaterials: Perspectives for Medical Applications in the Diagnosis and Treatment of Diseases, 145, 92-130.
- Truchado, P., Gimenez-Bastida, J.-A., Larrosa, M., Castro-Ibáñez, I., Espín, J. C., Tomas-Barberan, F. A., García-Conesa, M. T., & Allende, A. (2012). Inhibition of quorum sensing (QS) in Yersinia enterocolitica by an orange extract rich in glycosylated flavanones. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry*, 60(36), 8885-8894.
- Tsai, M.-D., Wang, Y.-C., Chen, Y.-L., Chen, Y.-H., Shen, C.-H., & Kung, C.-W. (2022). Selectively Confined Poly (3, 4-Ethylenedioxythiophene) in the Nanopores of a Metal–Organic Framework for Electrochemical Nitrite Detection with Reduced Limit of Detection. ACS Applied Nano Materials, 5(9), 12980-12990.
- Tuson, H. H., & Weibel, D. B. (2013). Bacteria-surface interactions. Soft Matter, 9(17), 4368-4380.
- Ugwu, M., Anie, C., Ibezim, E., & Esimone, C. (2016). Antimicrobial evaluation of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus nasal carriage amongst healthy students in Agbor, Delta State, Nigeria. *Arch Clin Microbiol*, 7(2), 1-4.
- Uruén, C., Chopo-Escuin, G., Tommassen, J., Mainar-Jaime, R. C., & Arenas, J. (2020). Biofilms as promoters of bacterial antibiotic resistance and tolerance. *Antibiotics*, *10*(1), 3.
- Van Boeckel, T. P., Brower, C., Gilbert, M., Grenfell, B. T., Levin, S. A., Robinson, T. P., Teillant, A., & Laxminarayan, R. (2015). Global trends in antimicrobial use in food animals. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of sciences, 112(18), 5649-5654.

Van Wyk, B.-E., Oudtshoorn, B. v., & Gericke, N. (1997). Medicinal Plants of South Africa. Briza.

- Vanaja, M., Rajeshkumar, S., Paulkumar, K., Gnanajobitha, G., Malarkodi, C., & Annadurai, G. (2013). Kinetic study on green synthesis of silver nanoparticles using Coleus aromaticus leaf extract. Adv. Appl. Sci. Res, 4(3), 50-55.
- Vanlalveni, C., Lallianrawna, S., Biswas, A., Selvaraj, M., Changmai, B., & Rokhum, S. L. (2021). Green synthesis of silver nanoparticles using plant extracts and their antimicrobial activities: A review of recent literature. *RSC Advances*, 11(5), 2804-2837.
- Varela, M. F., Stephen, J., Lekshmi, M., Ojha, M., Wenzel, N., Sanford, L. M., Hernandez, A. J., Parvathi, A., & Kumar, S. H. (2021). Bacterial resistance to antimicrobial agents. *Antibiotics*, 10(5), 593.
- Velgosova, O., & Veselovský, L. (2019). Synthesis of Ag nanoparticle using R. officinalis, U. dioica and V. vitis-idaea extracts. *Materials Letters*, 248, 150-152.
- Venkateswaran, P., Vasudevan, S., David, H., Shaktivel, A., Shanmugam, K., Neelakantan, P., & Solomon, A. P. (2023). Revisiting ESKAPE Pathogens: virulence, resistance, and combating strategies focusing on quorum sensing. *Front Cell Infect Microbiol*, 13, 1159798. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2023.1159798</u>
- Venkatpurwar, V., & Pokharkar, V. (2011). Green synthesis of silver nanoparticles using marine polysaccharide: study of in-vitro antibacterial activity. *Materials Letters*, 65(6), 999-1002.
- Verma, A., & Mehata, M. S. (2016). Controllable synthesis of silver nanoparticles using Neem leaves and their antimicrobial activity. *Journal of Radiation Research and Applied Sciences*, 9(1), 109-115.
- Verma, V., Al-Dossari, M., Singh, J., Rawat, M., Kordy, M. G., & Shaban, M. (2022). A review on green synthesis of TiO2 NPs: photocatalysis and antimicrobial applications. *Polymers*, 14(7), 1444.
- Vij, R., Lin, Z., Chiang, N., Vernes, J.-M., Storek, K. M., Park, S., Chan, J., Meng, Y. G., Comps-Agrar, L., & Luan, P. (2018). A targeted boost-and-sort immunization strategy using Escherichia coli BamA identifies rare growth inhibitory antibodies. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), 7136.
- Vijayan, R., Joseph, S., & Mathew, B. (2018). Green synthesis of silver nanoparticles using Nervalia zeylanica leaf extract and evaluation of their antioxidant, catalytic, and antimicrobial potentials. *Particulate Science and Technology*.
- Vijayaram, S., Razafindralambo, H., Sun, Y.-Z., Vasantharaj, S., Ghafarifarsani, H., Hoseinifar, S. H., & Raeeszadeh, M. (2023). Applications of Green Synthesized Metal Nanoparticles—A Review. *Biological Trace Element Research*, 1-27.
- Vijayaram, S., Razafindralambo, H., Sun, Y. Z., Vasantharaj, S., Ghafarifarsani, H., Hoseinifar, S. H., & Raeeszadeh, M. (2023). Applications of Green Synthesized Metal Nanoparticles - a Review. *Biol Trace Elem Res*, 1-27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12011-023-03645-9</u>
- Vikesland, P., Garner, E., Gupta, S., Kang, S., Maile-Moskowitz, A., & Zhu, N. (2019). Differential drivers of antimicrobial resistance across the world. *Accounts of chemical research*, *52*(4), 916-924.
- Vos, T., Abajobir, A. A., Abate, K. H., Abbafati, C., Abbas, K. M., Abd-Allah, F., Abdulkader, R. S., Abdulle, A. M., Abebo, T. A., & Abera, S. F. (2017). Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 328 diseases and injuries for 195 countries, 1990– 2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. *The lancet*, *390*(10100), 1211-1259.
- Vos, T., Allen, C., Arora, M., Barber, R. M., Bhutta, Z. A., Brown, A., Carter, A., Casey, D. C., Charlson, F. J., & Chen, A. Z. (2016). Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 310 diseases and injuries, 1990–2015: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2015. *The lancet*, 388(10053), 1545-1602.
- Vos, T., Barber, R. M., Bell, B., Bertozzi-Villa, A., Biryukov, S., Bolliger, I., Charlson, F., Davis, A., Degenhardt, L., & Dicker, D. (2015). Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 301 acute and chronic diseases and injuries in 188 countries,

1990–2013: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. *The lancet*, 386(9995), 743-800.

- Vos, T., Lim, S. S., Abbafati, C., Abbas, K. M., Abbasi, M., Abbasifard, M., Abbasi-Kangevari, M., Abbastabar, H., Abd-Allah, F., & Abdelalim, A. (2020). Global burden of 369 diseases and injuries in 204 countries and territories, 1990–2019: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. *The lancet*, 396(10258), 1204-1222.
- Vu, M. N., Kelly, H. G., Kent, S. J., & Wheatley, A. K. (2021). Current and future nanoparticle vaccines for COVID-19. *EBioMedicine*, 74.
- Walsh, C., & Wencewicz, T. (2020). Antibiotics: Challenges, Mechanisms, Opportunities. John Wiley & Sons.
- Wang, H., Li, Y., Yang, H., Lin, K.-A., Shao, T., & Hope, J. (2023). Biofilms controlling in industrial cooling water systems: A mini-review of strategies and best practices. ACS Applied Bio Materials, 6(8), 3213-3220.
- Wang, L., Hu, C., & Shao, L. (2017). The antimicrobial activity of nanoparticles: present situation and prospects for the future. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, 1227-1249.
- Wang, T., Cornel, E. J., Li, C., & Du, J. (2023). Drug delivery approaches for enhanced antibiofilm therapy. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 353, 350-365.
- WHO. (2000). General guidelines for methodologies on research and evaluation of traditional medicine. World Health Organization. Retrieved 15 November 2023 from
- WHO. (2015). Global action plan on antimicrobial resistance
- WHO. (2017). Guidelines for the prevention and control of carbapenem-resistant Enterobacteriaceae, Acinetobacter baumannii and Pseudomonas aeruginosa in health care facilities. World Health Organization.
- WHO. (2019a). Global report on traditional and complementary medicine 2019
- WHO. (2019b). *Global Report on Traditional and Complementary Medicine 2019*. World Health Organization.
- WHO. (2020). Strengthening Romania's health system to address antimicrobial resistance.
- WHO. (2022). Comprehensive review of the WHO global action plan on antimicrobial resistance: Evaluation brief–September 2021.
- Wiart, C. (2007). *Ethnopharmacology of medicinal plants: Asia and the Pacific*. Springer Science & Business Media.
- Wu, G., Lu, J., Liu, D., & He, Y. (2023). Characteristics and risk factors of secondary bacterial infections in COVID-19 patients. Antimicrobial Stewardship & Healthcare Epidemiology, 3(1), e156.
- Wypij, M., Jędrzejewski, T., Trzcińska-Wencel, J., Ostrowski, M., Rai, M., & Golińska, P. (2021). Green synthesized silver nanoparticles: Antibacterial and anticancer activities, biocompatibility, and analyses of surface-attached proteins. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 12, 632505.
- Xu, L., Wang, Y. Y., Huang, J., Chen, C. Y., Wang, Z. X., & Xie, H. (2020). Silver nanoparticles: Synthesis, medical applications and biosafety. *Theranostics*, 10(20), 8996-9031. <u>https://doi.org/10.7150/thno.45413</u>
- Yadav, A., Kon, K., Kratosova, G., Duran, N., Ingle, A. P., & Rai, M. (2015). Fungi as an efficient mycosystem for the synthesis of metal nanoparticles: progress and key aspects of research. *Biotechnology Letters*, 37, 2099-2120.
- Yadav, R., & Agarwala, M. (2011). Phytochemical analysis of some medicinal plants. *Journal of Phytology*, 3(12).
- Yamada, K. (1998). The two phases of the formation of ancient medicine. *The Origins of Acupuncture* and Moxibustion, The Origins of Decoction; International Research Center for Japanese Studies: Kyoto, Japan, 154.
- Yang, J., & Yang, H. (2019). Non-antibiotic therapy for Clostridioides difficile infection: a review. Critical Reviews in Clinical Laboratory Sciences, 56(7), 493-509.

- Yang, N., Wei, X.-F., & Li, W.-H. (2015). Sunlight irradiation induced green synthesis of silver nanoparticles using peach gum polysaccharide and colorimetric sensing of H2O2. *Materials Letters*, *154*, 21-24.
- Yasamineh, S., Yasamineh, P., Kalajahi, H. G., Gholizadeh, O., Yekanipour, Z., Afkhami, H., Eslami, M., Kheirkhah, A. H., Taghizadeh, M., & Yazdani, Y. (2022). A state-of-the-art review on the recent advances of niosomes as a targeted drug delivery system. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 624, 121878.
- Yassin, M. T., Mostafa, A. A.-F., Al-Askar, A. A., & Al-Otibi, F. O. (2022a). Facile green synthesis of silver nanoparticles using aqueous leaf extract of Origanum majorana with potential bioactivity against multidrug resistant bacterial strains. *Crystals*, 12(5), 603.
- Yassin, M. T., Mostafa, A. A.-F., Al-Askar, A. A., & Al-Otibi, F. O. (2022b). Synergistic antibacterial activity of green synthesized silver nanomaterials with colistin antibiotic against multidrugresistant bacterial pathogens. *Crystals*, 12(8), 1057.
- Ye, L., Cao, Z., Liu, X., Cui, Z., Li, Z., Liang, Y., Zhu, S., & Wu, S. (2022). Noble metal-based nanomaterials as antibacterial agents. *Journal of Alloys and Compounds*, 904, 164091.
- Ye, X., Wang, Y., Zou, Y., Tu, J., Tang, W., Yu, R., Yang, S., & Huang, P. (2023). Associations of socioeconomic status with infectious diseases mediated by lifestyle, environmental pollution and chronic comorbidities: a comprehensive evaluation based on UK Biobank. *Infectious Diseases of Poverty*, 12(01), 1-23.
- Yener, I., Yilmaz, M. A., Olmez, O. T., Akdeniz, M., Tekin, F., Hasimi, N., Alkan, M. H., Ozturk, M., & Ertas, A. (2020). A detailed biological and chemical investigation of sixteen Achillea species' essential oils via chemometric approach. *Chemistry & biodiversity*, 17(3), e1900484.
- Yi, S. H., Reddy, S. C., Kazakova, S. V., Hatfield, K. M., Baggs, J., Guh, A. Y., Kutty, P. K., Hicks, L. A., Srinivasan, A., & McDonald, L. C. (2018). 519. Longer length of antibiotic therapy for community-acquired pneumonia and risk of clostridium difficile infection. Open Forum Infectious Diseases,
- Yin, I. X., Zhang, J., Zhao, I. S., Mei, M. L., Li, Q., & Chu, C. H. (2020). The antibacterial mechanism of silver nanoparticles and its application in dentistry. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, 2555-2562.
- Yuan, H., Ma, Q., Ye, L., & Piao, G. (2016). The traditional medicine and modern medicine from natural products. *Molecules*, 21(5), 559.
- Yuan, Y.-G., Peng, Q.-L., & Gurunathan, S. (2017). Effects of silver nanoparticles on multiple drugresistant strains of Staphylococcus aureus and Pseudomonas aeruginosa from mastitis-infected goats: an alternative approach for antimicrobial therapy. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 18(3), 569.
- Yuan, Y. G., Peng, Q. L., & Gurunathan, S. (2017). Effects of Silver Nanoparticles on Multiple Drug-Resistant Strains of Staphylococcus aureus and Pseudomonas aeruginosa from Mastitis-Infected Goats: An Alternative Approach for Antimicrobial Therapy. *International Journal Molecular Science*, 18(3). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms18030569</u>
- Zachariah, O. H., Lizzy, M. A., Rose, K., & Angela, M. M. (2021). Multiple drug resistance of Campylobacter jejuni and Shigella isolated from diarrhoeic children at Kapsabet County referral hospital, Kenya. *BMC Infectious Diseases*, 21(1), 1-8.
- Zaman, S. B., Hussain, M. A., Nye, R., Mehta, V., Mamun, K. T., & Hossain, N. (2017). A review on antibiotic resistance: alarm bells are ringing. *Cureus*, 9(6).
- Zamare, D., Vutukuru, S., & Babu, R. (2016). Biosynthesis of nanoparticles from agro-waste: a sustainable approach. *Int J Eng Appl Sci Technol*, 1(12), 85-92.
- Zhang, D., Ma, X.-l., Gu, Y., Huang, H., & Zhang, G.-w. (2020). Green synthesis of metallic nanoparticles and their potential applications to treat cancer. *Frontiers in Chemistry*, 8.
- Zhang, F., & Cheng, W. (2022). The mechanism of bacterial resistance and potential bacteriostatic strategies. *Antibiotics*, 11(9), 1215.

- Zhang, T., Wang, L., Chen, Q., & Chen, C. (2014). Cytotoxic potential of silver nanoparticles. *Yonsei Medical Journal*, 55(2), 283-291.
- Zhang, X., Qu, Y., Shen, W., Wang, J., Li, H., Zhang, Z., Li, S., & Zhou, J. (2016). Biogenic synthesis of gold nanoparticles by yeast Magnusiomyces ingens LH-F1 for catalytic reduction of nitrophenols. *Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects*, 497, 280-285.
- Zhou, G., Shi, Q.-S., Huang, X.-M., & Xie, X.-B. (2015). The three bacterial lines of defense against antimicrobial agents. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, *16*(9), 21711-21733.
- Zimmerli, W., & Sendi, P. (2017). Orthopaedic biofilm infections. Apmis, 125(4), 353-364.
- Zoroddu, M. A., Medici, S., Ledda, A., Nurchi, V. M., Lachowicz, J. I., & Peana, M. (2014). Toxicity of nanoparticles. *Current Medical Chemistry*, 21(33), 3837-3853.
- Zuber, A., Purdey, M., Schartner, E., Forbes, C., Van der Hoek, B., Giles, D., Abell, A., Monro, T., & Ebendorff-Heidepriem, H. (2016). Detection of gold nanoparticles with different sizes using absorption and fluorescence based method. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, 227, 117-127.
- Żyro, D., Sikora, J., Szynkowska-Jóźwik, M. I., & Ochocki, J. (2023). Silver, Its Salts and Application in Medicine and Pharmacy. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 24(21), 15723.



https://etd.uwc.ac.za/